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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, which are statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or
our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as
“may,” “will,” “shall,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “target,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,”
“predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our expectations, strategy,
plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• our future financial performance, including our revenue, cost of revenue and operating expenses and our ability to achieve and maintain
future profitability;

• the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and capital resources to meet our liquidity needs;

• our ability to effectively manage or sustain our growth and to effectively expand our operations;

• our strategies, plans, objectives and goals, including our expectations regarding future infrastructure investments;

• our ability to attract and retain buyers and sellers and the continued impact of network effects as we scale our platform;

• our ability to continue to generate revenue from new Resale-as-a-Service (“RaaS”) offerings that are our future sources of revenue;

• trends in our key financial and operating metrics;

• our estimated market opportunity;

• economic and industry trends, projected growth or trend analysis;

• our ability to comply with laws and regulations;

• the effect of uncertainties related to the global COVID-19 pandemic, including as a result of the recent Omicron variant and any new
strains or variants of the virus, and recovery therefrom on United States and global economies, our business, results of operations,
financial condition, demand for secondhand and resale items, sales cycles and buyer and seller retention;

• our ability to remediate our material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting;

• our ability to successfully integrate and realize the benefits of our past or future strategic acquisitions or investments; and

• the increased expenses associated with being a public company.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The outcome of the events described in these forward-
looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties
that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results, events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could
differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.
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The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are
made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except
as required by law.

***

Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this document to “thredUP”, “the Company”, “we”,
“us”, “our”, or similar references are to ThredUp Inc.

thredUP is one of the world’s largest online resale platforms for women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories, based primarily on
items processed, items sold and the capacity of our distribution centers.

The “estimated retail price” of an item is based on the estimated original retail price of a comparable item of the same quality, construction
and material offered elsewhere in new condition. Our estimated original retail prices are set by our team of merchants who periodically monitor
market prices for the brands and styles that we offer on our marketplace.

Part 1

Item 1.   Business.

thredUP is one of the world’s largest online resale platforms for women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories. Our mission is to inspire
a new generation of consumers to think secondhand first. We believe in a sustainable fashion future and we are proud that our business model
creates a positive impact to the benefit of our buyers, sellers, clients, employees, investors and the environment. Our custom-built operating
platform consists of distributed processing infrastructure, proprietary software and systems and data science expertise. This platform is
powering the rapidly emerging resale economy, one of the fastest growing sectors in retail, according to a GlobalData market survey conducted
in April 2021.

thredUP’s proprietary operating platform is the foundation for our managed marketplace, where we have bridged online and offline
technology to make the buying and selling of tens of millions of unique items easy and fun. The marketplace we have built enables buyers to
browse and purchase resale items for primarily women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories across a wide range of price points. Buyers
love shopping value, premium and luxury brands all in one place, at up to 90% off estimated retail price. Sellers love thredUP because we make
it easy to clean out their closets and unlock value for themselves or for the charity of their choice while doing good for the planet. thredUP’s
sellers order a Clean Out Kit, fill it and return it to us using our prepaid label. We take it from there and do the work to make those items
available for resale.

In 2018, based on our success with consumers directly, we extended our platform to enable brands and retailers to participate in the resale
economy. A number of the world’s leading brands and retailers are already taking advantage of our Resale-as-a-Service (“RaaS”) offering,
which allows them to conveniently offer a scalable closet clean out service and/or resale shop to their customers. We believe RaaS will
accelerate the growth of this emerging category and form the backbone of the modern resale experience domestically and internationally.

In October 2021, we closed the acquisition of Remix Global AD (“Remix”), a fashion resale company headquartered in Sofia, Bulgaria,
which further expands our reach to the European customer. With this acquisition, we added a complementary operational infrastructure and an
experienced management team to enable our expansion into Europe. In addition, Remix’s product assortment extends our resale offering to
include men’s items and items sourced from a variety of supply channels, such as wholesale supply.

We have built a differentiated and defensible operating platform to enable resale at scale, combining:
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• Distributed Processing Infrastructure. Our infrastructure is purpose-built for “single SKU” logistics, meaning that every item
processed is unique, came from or belongs to an individual seller and is individually tracked using its own stock keeping unit (“SKU”).
We believe logistics and infrastructure have never been executed at our scale in the online resale market. As of December 31, 2021,
we operated distribution centers that could collectively hold more than 7.3 million items in locations across the United States and
Europe. Our operations are highly scalable, and we have the ability to process more than 100,000 unique SKUs per day across our
existing distribution footprint. We drive continuous operational efficiency through proprietary technology and ongoing automation of our
infrastructure. Our existing United States based distribution centers are located in Arizona, Georgia and Pennsylvania. In 2022, we
anticipate opening another distribution center in Texas and have opened two smaller processing centers in Texas and Tennessee. By
locating our facilities in strategic locations across the country we can be closer to our buyers and sellers, which allows us to reduce
shipping times in transit, and lower our inbound and outbound shipping costs. Our European-based distribution center, which services
nine countries in Central and Eastern Europe, is located in Sofia, Bulgaria.

• Proprietary Software and Systems. Our facilities run on a suite of our custom-built applications designed for “single SKU” operations.
Our engineering team has implemented large-scale, innovative and patented automation for put-away, storage, picking and packing at
scale. This automation results in reduced labor and fixed costs while increasing storage density and throughput capacity. Our
proprietary software, systems and processes enable efficient quality assurance, item-attribution, sizing and photography.

• Data Science Expertise. We harness our robust, structured data set across our business to optimize economic decisions, such as
pricing, seller payouts, item acceptance, merchandising and sell-through. We also leverage data to power efficient customer acquisition
and lifetime engagement, and to provide a personalized shopping experience.

We generate revenue primarily from items that are sold to buyers on our websites and mobile app and from integration and service fees
charged in connection with our RaaS offerings.

In 2019, we shifted to primarily consignment sales. With consignment sales, we recognize revenue net of seller payouts, and cost of
revenue includes outbound shipping, outbound labor and packaging costs. With direct product sales, we recognize revenue on a gross basis,
and cost of revenue mainly includes inventory cost, inbound shipping and inventory write-downs, as well as outbound shipping, outbound labor
and packaging costs. Our buyers generally pay us upfront when they purchase an item.

We recognize revenue from our Remix platform primarily through direct product sales. We anticipate that over time revenue from the Remix
platform will migrate to become primarily consignment sales as we introduce and expand the Clean Out Kit model that we pioneered in the
United States market.

In mid-2021, we began structuring our RaaS offerings as sources of revenue. RaaS clients typically pay an upfront integration fee as well as
ongoing service fees which are then recorded to consignment revenue. With RaaS, brands and retailers are leveraging our operating platform
to deliver resale experiences to their customers across three main service modules: our Clean Out service, our cashout marketplace, and our
full-service resale shops. This suite of offerings is called “Resale 360” and enables our RaaS clients to drive incremental revenue and access
new customers while promoting a circular business model. As of December 31, 2021, we worked with 28 RaaS clients, including Adidas, Crocs,
GAP, Madewell, Reformation and Walmart.

We have methodically scaled operating capacity and revenue, while increasing gross profit and improving our operating performance.

• As of December 31, 2021, we had 1.69 million Active Buyers, up 36% over December 31, 2020.
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•  In the year ended December 31, 2021, our buyers placed 5.3 million Orders, up 34% over December 31, 2020.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2021, we had 2,894 employees and professional contractors, including 2,496 distribution center employees. To our
knowledge, none of our employees is represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We have not experienced
any work stoppages and we consider our relations with our employees to be good. We supplement our workforce with contractors and
consultants in the United States and internationally, including Ukrainian information technology, or IT, specialists. These Ukrainian IT specialists,
who provide services on our behalf, are registered as “private entrepreneurs” with the tax authorities of Ukraine and operate as independent
contractors. While we do not anticipate a reduction in force due to conflict in Ukraine, we anticipate that at least some of our Ukrainian IT
specialists may be unable to work while the conflict is unresolved.

Our human capital resources objective is to cultivate a high-performing team by recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our
existing and new employees and professional contractors. Our culture is underpinned by our core values, including an unwavering commitment
to learning, development, inclusion, diversity, equity and belonging. The core objective of our compensation program is to provide a package
that will attract, motivate and reward exceptional employees who must operate in a highly competitive and technologically challenging
environment.

Our Competitors

Although we have built a scaled and highly differentiated platform and managed marketplace, we face intense competition. Our competitors
include other apparel retailers, particularly retailers at an off-price or fast-fashion price point, vendors of new and secondhand items, including
branded goods stores, local, national and global department stores, traditional brick-and-mortar consignment and thrift stores, specialty
retailers, direct-to-consumer retailers, discount chains, independent retail stores, the online offerings of these traditional retail competitors,
resale players focused on niche or single categories, as well as technology-enabled marketplaces that may offer the same or similar goods and
services that we offer. Competitors offering the same or similar goods or services include:

• secondhand marketplaces, such as eBay Inc., Mercari, Inc., Poshmark, Inc., The RealReal, Inc., Vinted and Vestiaire Collective;

• large online retailers, such as Amazon.com, Inc., Target Corporation, Kohl’s Corporation and Walmart Inc.; and

• off-price retailers, such as Burlington Stores, Inc., Ross Stores, Inc. and The TJX Companies, Inc.

Additionally, we experience competition for consumer discretionary spending from other product and experiential categories. See the
section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Relating To Our Business and Industry—The market in which we participate is competitive and rapidly
changing, and if we do not compete effectively with established companies as well as new market entrants our business, results of operations
and financial condition could be harmed.”

We compete primarily on the basis of buyer and seller experience, product quality and assortment, breadth of brand offering, convenience
and price. We believe that we are able to compete effectively because we offer buyers a vast selection of high-quality, secondhand and resale
items at compelling prices with a fun and easy to use interface. For sellers, we offer an easy, convenient, reliable and fast way to recycle and
monetize or donate their secondhand items.

Intellectual Property
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We believe that our intellectual property rights are valuable and important to our business. We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks,
copyrights, trade secrets, license agreements, confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure agreements, employee disclosure and invention
assignment agreements, as well as other legal and contractual rights, to establish and protect our proprietary rights.

As of December 31, 2021, we had six issued patents in the United States, four of which expire in 2035 and two of which expire in 2037.
These patents are intended to protect our proprietary inventions relevant to our business. We continually review our development efforts to
assess the existence and patentability of new intellectual property. We intend to pursue additional patent protection to the extent we believe it
would be beneficial and cost effective. In addition, our proprietary algorithm technologies, other than those incorporated into a patent
application, are protected by trade secret laws.

As of December 31, 2021, we have a total of 19 registered trademarks in the United States and six registered trademarks in non-United
States jurisdictions. “THREDUP” and “Think Secondhand First” are our registered trademarks in the United States. We have additional
registered trademarks in the United States and “THREDUP” is registered in certain other non-United States jurisdictions. We will pursue
additional trademark registrations to the extent we believe they would be beneficial and cost-effective. Other trademarks and trade names
referred to in this annual report are the property of their respective owners.

We also have registered domain names for websites that we use in our business, such as www.thredup.com and other variations.

Government Regulation

We are subject to a variety of United States federal and state laws that affect companies conducting business on the Internet and in the
retail industry, many of which are still evolving and could be interpreted in ways that could harm our business. These laws and regulations
include laws governing the processing of payments, consumer protection and other laws regarding unfair and deceptive trade practices. These
laws and regulations could make internet advertising more expensive, require burdensome disclosure to consumers or visitors to our website
and restrict our ability to use consumer information to improve targeted advertisements. Further, these laws and regulations are often complex,
sometimes contradict other laws, and are frequently still evolving. Laws and regulations may be interpreted and enforced in different ways in
various locations around the world, posing a significant challenge to our global business.

We are also subject to federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy and protection of consumer information. Our
privacy policies describe our practices concerning the use, storage, transmission and disclosure of personal information, including buyer and
seller data. Any failure by us to comply with our policies or privacy related laws and regulations could result in proceedings against us by
governmental authorities or others, which could harm our business.

Many jurisdictions in which we operate have enacted laws and regulations requiring notification to users when there is a security breach of
personal data, or requiring the adoption of minimum information security standards that are often vaguely defined and difficult to practically
implement. This growing focus on data privacy and regulation of e-commerce worldwide could impose additional compliance burdens and costs
on us and could subject us to significant operational costs for internal compliance and risk to our business. Further, any failure by us to
adequately protect the privacy and data of our sellers and buyers could result in a loss of confidence in our marketplaces, which could
adversely affect our business.

Apparel, shoes and accessories sold by us are also subject to regulation in the United States by governmental agencies, including the
Federal Trade Commission and the Consumer Products Safety Commission. These regulations relate principally to product labeling, licensing
requirements, flammability testing and product safety. We are also subject to environmental laws, rules and regulations. Similarly, apparel,
shoes and accessories sold by us are also subject to import regulations in the United States
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concerning the use of wildlife products for commercial and non-commercial trade, including the United States Fish and Wildlife Service. We do
not estimate any significant capital expenditures for environmental control matters either in the current fiscal year or in the near future.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in 2009 under the name ThredUp Inc. as a Delaware corporation. Our principal executive offices are located at 969
Broadway, Suite 200, Oakland, CA 94607, and our telephone number is (415) 402-5202. Our website address is www.thredup.com. Information
contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

The following filings are available through our investor relations website after we file them with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the "SEC"): Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
These filings are also available for download free of charge on our investor relations website. Our investor relations website is located at
ir.thredup.com. The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about issuers, like us,
that file electronically with the SEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gov.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain events we participate in or host with members of the investment community on our investor
relations website. Additionally, we provide notifications of news or announcements regarding our financial performance, including SEC filings,
investor events, press and earnings releases, and blogs as part of our investor relations website. We have used, and intend to continue to use,
our investor relations website, our Twitter account (@thredup), our LinkedIn account (https://www.linkedin.com/company/thredup) and our Chief
Executive Officer's Linkedin account (https://www.linkedin.com/in/jamesgreinhart/), as means of disclosing material non-public information and
for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Further corporate governance information, including our corporate
governance guidelines, composition of our board and its committees, and Code of Conduct, is also available on our investor relations website
under the heading “Corporate Governance.” The contents of our websites are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be inactive
textual references only.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business is set forth below. You should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and
related notes. Our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects could also be harmed by risks and uncertainties not
currently known to us or that we currently do not believe to be material. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects could be harmed. In that event, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could
lose part or all of your investment.

Risk Factor Summary

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in this section titled “Risk Factors” and summarized
below. We have various categories of risks, including risks relating to our business and industry, risks relating to information technology,
intellectual property, data security and privacy, risks relating to legal, regulatory, accounting and tax matters, risks relating to our indebtedness
and liquidity and risks relating to ownership of our Class A common stock, which are discussed more fully below. As a result, this risk factor
summary does not contain all of the information that may be important to you, and you should read this risk factor summary together with the
more detailed discussion of risks and uncertainties set forth following this section under the heading “Risk Factors,” as well as elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Additional risks, beyond those summarized below or discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
may apply to our business, activities or operations as currently conducted or as we may conduct them in the future or in the markets in which
we operate or may in the future operate. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

• Our continued growth depends on attracting new, and retaining existing, buyers.

• If we fail to generate a sufficient amount of new and recurring high-quality secondhand items by attracting new sellers and retaining
existing sellers, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

• Our business, including our costs and supply of secondhand items, is subject to risks associated with sourcing, itemizing, warehousing
and shipping.

• We have experienced rapid growth in many of our recent periods and those growth rates may not be indicative of our future growth. If
we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan and our business, results of operations and
financial condition could be harmed.

• We have a limited operating history in an evolving industry, which makes it difficult to forecast our revenue, plan our expenses and
evaluate our business and future prospects.

• We have a history of losses, we anticipate increasing operating expenses in the future and we may not be able to achieve and, if
achieved, maintain profitability.

• We may experience quarterly fluctuations in our results of operations due to a number of factors that make our future results difficult to
predict and could cause our results of operations to fall below analyst or investor expectations.

• We may not be able to expand our distribution center operations, attract and retain personnel to efficiently and effectively manage the
operations required to process, itemize, list, sell, pack and ship secondhand and resale items or identify and lease distribution centers
in geographic regions that enable us to effectively scale our operations.
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• Material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting may cause us to fail to timely and accurately report our financial
results or result in a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements.

• The global COVID-19 pandemic has had and may continue to have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

• Integrating Remix with our business may be more difficult, costly or time-consuming than expected, and we may not realize the
expected benefits of the Remix Acquisition, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

• Compromises of our data security could cause us to incur unexpected expenses and may materially harm our reputation and results of
operations.

• We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available or may be available only by
diluting existing stockholders.

• The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance. You may lose
all or part of your investment.

• The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our capital
stock prior to our Initial Public Offering (“IPO”), including our directors, executive officers and their respective affiliates. This ownership
will limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational
documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transactions requiring
stockholder approval, and that may depress the trading price of our Class A common stock.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

Our continued growth depends on attracting new, and retaining existing, buyers.

To expand our buyer base, we must appeal to and attract buyers who have historically purchased only new retail items or who used other
means to purchase secondhand items, such as traditional brick-and-mortar thrift stores or the websites of other secondary marketplaces. We
reach new buyers through paid search, social media, influencers, television and digital advertising, other paid marketing, press coverage, retail
locations, our RaaS offerings, referral programs, organic word of mouth and other methods of discovery, such as converting sellers to buyers.
We expect to continue investing heavily in these and other marketing channels in the future and cannot be certain that these efforts will enable
us to attract and retain more buyers, result in increased purchase frequency or order sizes from our buyers or be cost-effective. Our ability to
attract and retain buyers also depends on our ability to offer a broad selection of desirable and high-quality secondhand and resale items on our
marketplace, the reliability of our shipping and delivery estimates, our ability to consistently provide high-quality customer experiences, our
ability to promote and position our brand and marketplace and the success of our marketing efforts. Our investments in marketing may not
effectively reach potential buyers and existing buyers, potential buyers or existing buyers may decide not to buy through us or the spend of
buyers that purchase from us may not yield the intended return on investment, any of which could negatively affect our results of operations.
Moreover, consumer preferences may change, and buyers may not purchase through our marketplace as frequently or spend as much with us
as historically has been the case. As a result, the revenue generated from buyer transactions in the future may not be as high as the revenue
generated from transactions historically. Incidentally, an inability to attract and retain buyers could harm our ability to attract and retain sellers,
who may decide to resell their items through alternative platforms or marketplaces. Consequently, failure to attract new buyers and to retain
existing buyers could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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If we fail to generate a sufficient amount of new and recurring high-quality secondhand items by attracting new sellers and retaining
existing sellers, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

Our success depends on our ability to cost-effectively attract high-quality secondhand items by attracting new sellers and retaining existing
sellers, such that they choose thredUP to list their items. Numerous factors, however, may impede our ability to attract new sellers and retain
existing sellers with high-quality secondhand items. To expand our base of secondhand items for resale, as well as our base of sellers, we must
appeal to and engage individuals new to selling secondhand items or who have sold secondhand items through traditional brick-and-mortar
shops but are unfamiliar with our business. We find new sellers by converting buyers using our marketplace, our RaaS offerings, referral
programs, organic word-of-mouth and other methods of discovery, such as mentions in the press. We cannot be certain that these efforts will
result in more supply of high-quality secondhand items or sellers or that these efforts will be cost-effective. Our ability to attract new and
recurring high-quality secondhand items from new sellers and existing sellers depends on other factors, such as our ability to enhance and
improve our marketplace, our ability to process the items sent to us by sellers in a timely manner, sellers’ perceptions of whether payouts they
are receiving are adequate and timely compensation for their items and the perceived quality of the items sold and purchased on our
marketplace. If we are unable to meet seller standards and drive repeat supply, our existing sellers may not choose to send us secondhand
items for resale to the same extent, in terms of quality, value or volume, in the future. Further, failure to generate sufficient high-quality
secondhand items and attract new sellers and retain existing sellers could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. For
instance, if our sellers send lower quality secondhand items that we are unable to resell in our marketplace, then we will incur expense to sort
and process such lower quality secondhand items and detract resources from processing re-sellable secondhand items. Additionally, if sellers
substantially increase the initial price of their items that we list on our marketplace and subsequently reclaim these items if they do not sell
within the listing window, our business could be harmed because these activities may negatively affect sell-through rates and gross margin.

Our business, including our costs and supply of secondhand items, is subject to risks associated with sourcing, itemizing,
warehousing and shipping.

Nearly all of the secondhand items we offer through our marketplace are initially sourced from sellers who are individuals. As a result, we
may be subject to periodic fluctuations in the number, brands and quality of secondhand items sold through our marketplace. Our results of
operations could be negatively impacted by these fluctuations. In addition, as we expand into new categories of secondhand items, our
payments to our sellers may rise relative to our existing categories, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We can make no assurance that secondhand items we receive from sellers will be of sufficient quality or free from damage, or that such
secondhand items will not be damaged during shipping, while in one of our distribution centers or when shipped to buyers. While we conduct
inspections of secondhand items sent by sellers for resale and inspect secondhand items returned by buyers, we cannot control items while
they are out of our possession or prevent all damage while in our distribution centers. For example, we have in the past and may in the future
experience contamination, such as mold, bacteria, insects and other pests, in the secondhand items shipped to us by our sellers, which may
cause contamination of the secondhand items in our distribution centers or while shipping to buyers. If we are unable to detect and quarantine
such contaminants at the time such secondhand items are initially received in our distribution centers, some or all of the secondhand items in
such facilities could be contaminated. We may incur additional expenses and our reputation could be harmed if the secondhand items we offer
are damaged or contain contaminants.

We have experienced rapid growth in many of our recent periods and those growth rates may not be indicative of our future growth. If
we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to

10



Table of Contents

execute our business plan and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

We have experienced, and may continue to experience, rapid growth in certain recent periods, which has placed, and may continue to
place, significant demands on our management and our operational and financial resources. Additionally, our organizational structure is
becoming more complex as we scale our operational, financial and management controls as well as our reporting systems and procedures. For
example, our headcount has grown from 1,862 employees and professional contractors as of December 31, 2020 to 2,894 as of December 31,
2021, as we have scaled our business.

To manage growth in our operations and the growth in the number of buyers and sellers on our platform, we will need to continue to grow
and improve our operational, financial and management controls and our reporting systems and procedures. We will need to maintain or
increase the automation of our distribution centers and continue to improve how we apply data science to our operations. Our expansion has
placed, and our expected future growth will continue to place, a significant strain on our management, marketing, operations, administrative,
financial, customer support, engineering and other resources. If we fail to manage our anticipated growth and change in a manner that
preserves the key aspects of our corporate culture, our employee morale, productivity and retention could suffer, which could negatively affect
our brand and reputation and harm our ability to attract new buyers and sellers and to grow our business. In addition, future growth, such as the
potential expansion of our operations internationally or expansion into new categories of offerings, either organically or through acquisitions,
would require significant capital expenditures, which could adversely affect our results of operations, and the allocation of valuable management
resources to grow and change in these areas.

Our revenue was $251.8 million, $186.0 million and $163.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 respectively,
representing annual growth of 35% and 14%, respectively. In future periods, we may not be able to sustain or increase revenue growth rates
consistent with recent history, or at all. Our revenue growth has been and may continue to be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. We believe
our success and revenue growth depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our ability to:

• attract and retain new and existing buyers and sellers and grow our supply of high-quality secondhand items for resale through our
marketplaces;

• scale our revenue and achieve the operating efficiencies necessary to achieve and maintain profitability;

• increase buyer and seller awareness of our brand;

• anticipate and respond to changing buyer and seller preferences;

• manage and improve our business processes in response to changing business needs;

• process Clean Out Kits from sellers on a timely basis;

• improve, expand and further automate our distribution center operations and information systems;

• anticipate and respond to macroeconomic changes generally, including changes in the markets for both new and secondhand retail
items;

• successfully compete against established companies and new market entrants, including national retailers and brands and traditional
brick-and-mortar thrift stores;

• effectively scale our operations while maintaining high-quality service and buyer and seller satisfaction;

• hire and retain talented employees and professional contractors at all levels of our business;
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• avoid or manage interruptions in our business from information technology downtime, cybersecurity breaches and other factors that
could affect our physical and digital infrastructure;

• fulfill and deliver Orders in a timely manner and in accordance with customer expectations, which may change over time;

• maintain a high level of customer service and satisfaction;

• adapt to changing conditions in our industry and related to the COVID-19 pandemic and measures implemented to manage its spread;
and

• comply with regulations applicable to our business.

If we are unable to accomplish any of these tasks, our revenue growth will be harmed. We also expect our operating expenses to increase
in future periods, and if our revenue growth does not increase to offset these anticipated increases in our operating expenses, our business,
results of operations and financial condition will be harmed, and we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability.

We have a history of losses, we anticipate increasing operating expenses in the future and we may not be able to achieve and, if
achieved, maintain profitability.

We experienced net losses of $63.2 million, $47.9 million and $38.2 million in the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. We expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
We believe there is a significant market opportunity for our business, and we intend to invest aggressively to capitalize on this opportunity.
Because the market for secondhand items is evolving, particularly the online resale of secondhand items, it is difficult for us to predict our future
results of operations or the limits of our market opportunity. We expect our operating expenses to significantly increase as we expand our
operations and infrastructure, make significant investments in our marketing initiatives, develop and introduce new technologies and automation
and hire additional personnel. Additionally, during periods of increased investment in growth, we expect our operating expenses related to
inbound processing, operations and technology could increase as a percentage of revenue. These efforts may be more costly than we expect
and may not result in revenue growth or increased efficiency. In addition, as we grow and comply with rules and regulations of being a public
company, we will incur additional significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. If our revenue
does not increase to offset these expected increases in our operating expenses, we will not be profitable in future periods. Any failure to
increase our revenue sufficiently to keep pace with our investments and other expenses could prevent us from achieving or maintaining
profitability or positive cash flow on a consistent basis. If we are unable to successfully address these risks and challenges as we encounter
them, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected. We cannot assure you that we will ever achieve or
sustain profitability and may continue to incur significant losses going forward. Any failure by us to achieve or sustain profitability on a consistent
basis could cause the value of our Class A common stock to decline.

We have a limited operating history in an evolving industry, which makes it difficult to forecast our revenue, plan our expenses and
evaluate our business and future prospects.

We have a limited operating history in a rapidly evolving industry that may not develop in a manner favorable to our business. Our
marketplace represents a substantial departure from the traditional thrift store market for secondhand items. While our business has grown
rapidly, and much of that growth has occurred in recent periods, the resale market for secondhand items may not continue to develop in a
manner that we expect or that otherwise would be favorable to our business. As a result of our limited operating history, ongoing changes in our
new and evolving industry, our ability to forecast our future results of operations and plan for and model future growth is limited and subject to a
number of uncertainties. We have encountered and expect to continue to encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing
companies in rapidly evolving industries, such as the risks and
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uncertainties described herein. Accordingly, we may be unable to prepare accurate internal financial forecasts or replace anticipated revenue
that we do not receive as a result of delays arising from these factors, and our results of operations in future reporting periods may be below the
expectations of investors or analysts. If we do not address these risks successfully, our results of operations could differ materially from our
estimates and forecasts or the expectations of investors or analysts, causing our business to suffer and our Class A common stock price to
decline.

We may experience quarterly fluctuations in our results of operations due to a number of factors that make our future results difficult
to predict and could cause our results of operations to fall below analyst or investor expectations.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside of our
control and may be difficult to predict, including, but not limited to:

• the level of supply and demand for secondhand items;

• fluctuations in the levels or quality of secondhand items on our marketplace;

• fluctuations in capacity as we expand our operations;

• our success in engaging existing buyers and sellers and attracting new buyers and sellers;

• our ability to meet the expectations of sellers that we will process their Clean Out Kits in a timely manner;

• the amount and timing of our operating expenses;

• the timing of expenses and recognition of revenue;

• the timing and success of new partnerships, retail offerings and referral programs;

• the impact of competitive developments and our response to those developments;

• our ability to manage our existing business and future growth;

• actual or reported disruptions or defects in our online marketplace, such as actual or perceived privacy or data security breaches;

• economic and market conditions, particularly those affecting our industry;

• our ability to effectively manage our international operations;

• the impact of market volatility and economic downturn, including those caused by outbreaks of disease, such as the COVID-19
pandemic, on our business;

• adverse litigation judgments, other dispute-related settlement payments or other litigation-related costs;

• regulatory fines;

• changes in, and continuing uncertainty in relation to, the legislative or regulatory environment;

• legal and regulatory compliance costs;

• the number of new employees and professional contractors added;

• the timing of the grant or vesting of equity awards to employees, directors, contractors or consultants;
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• pricing pressure as a result of competition, economic conditions, shipment delays or otherwise, including as a result of the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic;

• costs and timing of expenses related to the acquisition of talent, technologies, intellectual property or businesses, including potentially
significant amortization costs and possible write-downs;

• public health crises, including the COVID-19 pandemic; and

• general economic conditions throughout the world, including inflation, military conflicts and geopolitical uncertainty and instability.

Any one or more of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations. You should not rely on our
past results as an indicator of our future performance.

The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations or other operating metrics could result in our failure to meet our
expectations or those of analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other key metrics for a particular period. If we fail to meet
or exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our Class A common stock could fall, and we could face costly
lawsuits, including securities class action suits.

We may not be able to expand our distribution center operations, attract and retain personnel to efficiently and effectively manage the
operations required to process, itemize, list, sell, pack and ship secondhand and resale items or identify and lease distribution
centers in geographic regions that enable us to effectively scale our operations.

We lease facilities to store and accommodate the logistics infrastructure required to process, itemize, list, sell, pack and ship the
secondhand and resale items we sell through our marketplace and related channels of distribution, including our RaaS offerings. To grow our
business, we must continue to improve and expand our distribution center operations, proprietary software and systems, and personnel in the
geographic regions that have the resources necessary to effectively operate our business. The operation of our business is complex and
requires the coordination of multiple functions that are highly dependent on numerous employees and personnel. Each item that we offer
through our marketplace is unique and requires multiple touch points, including inspection, evaluation, photography, pricing, application of a
unique SKU, and fulfillment. This process is complex and, from time to time, we may have more Clean Out Kits coming in from sellers than we
can timely process. We have also rapidly increased our United States operations departmental employee headcount in recent years to support
the growth of our business. The number of employees in our United States based distribution centers increased to 2,052 as of December 31,
2021 from 1,570 as of December 31, 2020. The market for these employees is increasingly competitive and is highly dependent on geographic
location. We could be required to raise wages or introduce other compensation incentives to remain competitive, which could increase our costs
and harm our results of operations. If we fail to effectively locate, hire and retain such personnel, our operations could be negatively impacted,
which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Further, the success of our business depends on our ability to maintain our current distribution centers and secure additional distribution
centers that meet our business needs and are also in geographic locations with access to a large, qualified talent pool. We have distribution
centers across three strategic locations: Arizona, Georgia and Pennsylvania and we are building a new distribution center in Texas. We also
have process centers in Tennessee and Texas. Space in well-positioned geographic locations is becoming increasingly scarce, and where it is
available, the lease terms offered by landlords are increasingly competitive, particularly in geographic locations with access to the large,
qualified talent pools required for us to run our logistics infrastructure. Incentives currently offered by local, state and federal entities to offset
operating expenses may be reduced or become unavailable. Companies who have more financial resources and negotiating leverage than us
may be more attractive tenants and, as a result, may outbid us for the facilities we seek. Due to the competitive nature of the real
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estate market in the locations where we currently operate, we may be unable to renew our existing leases or renew them on satisfactory terms.
Failure to identify and secure adequate new distribution centers in optimal geographic locations, successfully and efficiently build out our
newest distribution center in Texas or maintain our current distribution centers could harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

If we are unable to successfully leverage technology to automate and drive efficiencies in our operations, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be harmed.

We are continuing to build automation, machine learning and other capabilities to drive efficiencies in our distribution center operations. As
we continue to enhance automation and add capabilities, our operations may become increasingly complex. While we expect these
technologies to improve productivity in many of our merchandising operations, including processing, itemizing, listing and selling, any flaws,
bugs or failures of such technologies could cause interruptions in and delays to our operations, which may harm our business. We are
increasing our investment in technology, software and systems to support these efforts, but such investments may not increase productivity,
maintain or improve the experience for buyers and sellers or result in more efficient operations. While we have created our own proprietary
technology to operate our business, we also rely on technology from third parties. For example, to run our inbound operations, we leverage
third-party machine learning software that analyzes data that we use in our proprietary algorithms for determining the optimal list price. We have
also integrated third-party software to help operate our automated carousels and conveyors in our distribution centers. If these technologies do
not increase our operational efficiency in accordance with our expectations, third parties change the terms and conditions that govern their
relationships with us, or if competition increases for the technology and services provided by third parties, our business may be harmed. If we
are no longer able to rely on such third parties, we would be required to either seek licenses to technologies or services from other third parties
and redesign aspects of business and operations to function with such technologies or services or develop such technologies ourselves, either
of which would result in increased costs and could result in operational delays until equivalent technologies can be licensed or developed and
integrated into our business and operations. In addition, if we are unable to enhance automation to our operations, we may be unable to reduce
the costs of processing supply and fulfilling orders, which could cause delays in buyers receiving their purchases and sellers receiving their
payouts. As a result, our reputation and our relationships with our buyers and sellers could be harmed, which could harm our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

We rely on consumer discretionary spending and have been and may continue to be adversely affected by economic downturns and
other macroeconomic conditions or trends.

Our business and results of operations are subject to global economic conditions and their impact on consumer discretionary spending,
particularly in the retail market. Some of the factors that may negatively influence consumer spending on retail items include high levels of
unemployment, high consumer debt levels, fluctuating interest rates and credit availability, inflation, fluctuating fuel and other energy costs,
fluctuating commodity prices and general uncertainty regarding the overall future political and economic environment. Economic conditions in
particular regions may also be affected by natural disasters, such as earthquakes, hurricanes and wildfires; unforeseen public health crises,
such as pandemics and epidemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, political crises, such as terrorist attacks, war and other incidents of
political instability or other catastrophic events, whether occurring in the United States or internationally.

Traditionally, consumer purchases of new retail items have declined during periods of economic uncertainty, when disposable income is
reduced or when there is a reduction in consumer confidence. Such economic uncertainty and decrease in the rate of retail purchases in the
primary market may slow the rate at which individuals choose to supply their secondhand items to us, which could result in a decrease of items
available in our marketplace, and may also slow the rate at which individuals choose to buy secondhand items on our marketplace. For
instance, from the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic and throughout 2021, we experienced an increase in the supply of Clean Out Kits with
secondhand items
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from sellers. Additionally, at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced a reduction in operations productivity at our distribution
centers as we were unable to process Clean Out Kits at our normal rate. The presence or absence of government stimulus funding programs
has had and may continue to have an impact on consumer discretionary spending and, consequently, purchases through our marketplace site.
Further, we cannot guarantee that buyers will continue to buy at current rates if the economy worsens. Adverse economic changes could
reduce consumer confidence, and thereby negatively affect our results of operations.

The market in which we participate is competitive and rapidly changing, and if we do not compete effectively with established
companies as well as new market entrants or maintain and develop strategic relationships with third parties, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be harmed.

The markets for secondhand and resale items are highly competitive. We compete with vendors of new and secondhand items, including
branded goods stores, local, national and global department stores, traditional brick-and-mortar consignment and thrift stores, specialty
retailers, direct-to-consumer, retailers, discount chains, independent retail stores, the online offerings of traditional retail competitors, resale
players focused on niche or single categories, as well as technology-enabled marketplaces that may offer the same or similar goods and
services that we offer. We believe our ability to compete depends on many factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

• attracting and retaining buyers and sellers and increasing the volume of secondhand items they buy and sell;

• further developing our data science and automation capabilities;

• maintaining favorable brand recognition;

• effectively delivering our marketplace to buyers and sellers;

• identifying and delivering authentic, high-quality secondhand items;

• maintaining and increasing the amount, diversity and quality of brands and secondhand items that we offer;

• our ability to expand the means through which we acquire and offer secondhand items for resale;

• the price at which secondhand items accepted onto our marketplace are offered;

• the speed and cost at which we can process and make available secondhand items and deliver purchased secondhand items to our
buyers; and

• the ease with which our buyers and sellers can supply, purchase and return secondhand items.

As our market evolves and we begin to compete with new market entrants, we expect competition to intensify in the future. Established
companies may not only develop their own platforms and competing lines of business, but also acquire or establish cooperative relationships
with our current competitors or provide meaningful incentives to third parties to favor their offerings over our marketplace.

Many of our existing competitors have, and some of our potential competitors or potential alliances among competitors could have,
substantial competitive advantages such as greater brand name recognition and longer operating histories, larger fulfillment infrastructures,
greater technical capabilities, faster shipping times, lower-cost shipping, broader supply, established relationships with a larger existing buyer
and/or seller base, superior or more desirable secondhand items for sale or resale, greater customer service resources, greater financial,
marketing, institutional and other resources than we do, greater resources to make acquisitions, lower labor and development costs, larger and
more mature intellectual property portfolios, and substantially greater financial, technical and other resources than we do. Such competitors with
greater financial and operating resources may be able to respond more quickly

16



Table of Contents

and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements and derive greater revenue
and profits from their existing buyer bases, adopt more aggressive pricing policies to build larger buyer or seller bases, or respond more quickly
than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in consumer shopping behavior.

Potential buyers may also prefer to purchase retail items from larger online or brick-and-mortar competitors that they currently shop from,
rather than a newer marketplace, regardless of offerings. These larger competitors often have broader supply and market focus and will
therefore not be as susceptible to downturns in a particular market.

If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with third parties, or if they partner with our competitors and devote
greater resources to implement and support the platforms or retail items of our competitors, our ability to compete in the marketplace, or to grow
our revenue, could be impaired, and our results of operations may suffer. Even if these partnerships and any future partnerships we undertake
are successful, we cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased buying and selling through our marketplace or increased
revenue.

Conditions in our market could also change rapidly and significantly as a result of technological advancements, partnering by our
competitors or continuing market consolidation or strategic changes we or our competitors make in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and it
is uncertain how our market will evolve. These competitive pressures in our market or our failure to compete effectively may result in price
reductions, fewer buyers and sellers, reduced revenue, gross profit, and gross margins, increased net losses and loss of market share. Any
failure to meet and address these factors could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

National retailers and brands set their own retail prices and promotional discounts on new items, which could adversely affect our
value proposition to buyers and harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

National retailers and brands set pricing for their own new retail items, which can include promotional discounts. Promotional pricing by
these parties may adversely affect the relative value of secondhand items offered for resale with us, and, in turn, our revenue, results of
operations and financial condition. In order to attract buyers to our marketplace, the prices for the secondhand and resale items sold through
our marketplace may need to be lowered in order to compete with pricing strategies employed by national retailers and brands for their own
new retail items, which could negatively affect revenue growth, results of operations and financial condition. We have experienced a reduction in
our revenue in the past due to reductions and fluctuations in the price of new retail items sold by national retailers and brands, and we
anticipate similar reductions and fluctuations could occur in the future, such as due to a decrease in the price of new retail items in light of the
economic downturn caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. These pricing changes and promotional discounts could, as a result, adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The global COVID-19 pandemic has had and may continue to have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic and this contagious disease outbreak has continued
to spread. The related public health measures, including orders to shelter-in-place, travel restrictions, mandated business closures and
vaccination mandates, have adversely affected work forces, organizations, customers, economies and financial markets globally, leading to an
economic downturn and increased market volatility. The fear associated with pandemics such as COVID-19 or the reactions of governments
around the world in response to such pandemics, to regulate the flow of labor and products and impede the travel of individuals, have and may
continue to impact our ability to conduct normal business operations, which could adversely affect our results of operations and liquidity. For
example, due to shelter-in-place orders and mandatory business closures, in Georgia in particular, for a period of time, we were required to limit
operations at our distribution centers,
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resulting in a delay in our ability to process our Clean Out Kits. Additionally, we have implemented enhanced safety and cleaning measures,
resulting in increased costs. In compliance with local ordinances and to protect our workforce, we have also limited attendance in our corporate
offices.

Further, on November 4, 2021, the United States Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) issued an
interim final rule requiring all employers with 100 or more employees to ensure that their employees are fully vaccinated or tested for COVID-19
on at least a weekly basis. While the United States Supreme Court stayed the federal vaccine mandate in January 2022, it is possible that the
stay could be lifted or additional, more protective vaccine mandates may be announced by state or local jurisdictions that could impact our
workforce and operations. We cannot predict what policies we may determine to, or be required to, implement in the future, or the effect thereof
on our business, including whether the imposition of certain policies could cause us to result in attrition and impede our ability to recruit and
retain our workforce.

Disruptions to our business operations have included and could include personnel absences, temporary closures of our distribution centers,
further or ongoing reduced capacity at our distribution centers, delays in processing Clean Out Kits shipped by sellers to us, delays in our
shipment of items purchased by our buyers, a slow-down in our ability to hire if we are unable to interview candidates in person, decreased foot
traffic at and/or closure of our and our partners’ physical retail locations, disruptions in internet connections and a decrease or volatile patterns
in spending on retail in general. For instance, decreased processing capacity at our distribution centers during the onset of the COVID-19
pandemic resulted in fewer items being listed as available for sale, which adversely impacted our revenue growth. Our third-party vendors and
partners have also experienced and may continue to experience disruptions to their business operations, which in turn affects us. Our ability to
receive supply and for our buyers to receive items on a timely basis may be negatively affected by many events outside of our control including,
inclement weather, public health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic, governmental regulations, labor disputes, macro supply chain issues
and other factors.

Developing various responses to the challenges caused by COVID-19 and its effects has and may continue to divert the attention of our
management team. In the future, we may need to temporarily close some or all of our distribution centers. If a critical number of our employees
become too ill to work or are unable to work due to personal reasons related to the effects of COVID-19, our ability to process merchandise
through our distribution centers could be significantly slowed or halted.

The continued scope and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic (including the Delta and Omicron variants and any new strains or variants of
the virus), whether additional actions may be taken to contain the virus, the impact on our buyers, sellers and RaaS clients, the speed and
extent to which markets fully recover from the disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, and the impact of these factors on our business,
will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with precision. In addition, to the extent COVID-19
adversely affects our operations and global economic conditions more generally, it may heighten other risks disclosed in this report.

Public health concerns, such as COVID-19, have resulted and could continue to result in social, economic and labor instability in the
localities in which we or our vendors, buyers and sellers reside. Any of these uncertainties and actions we take to mitigate the effects of COVID-
19 and uncertainties related to COVID-19 could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. See the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—COVID-19 Impact” for additional information about
the impact of COVID-19 on our business.

Integrating Remix with our business may be more difficult, costly or time-consuming than expected, and we may not realize the
expected benefits of the Remix Acquisition, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In October 2021, we completed the acquisition of Remix, a marketplace business based in Sophia, Bulgaria. If we experience greater than
anticipated costs to integrate, or are not able to successfully
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integrate, Remix into our existing operations or retain key Remix employees, we may not be able to achieve the anticipated benefits of the
acquisition of Remix (the “Remix Acquisition”), including sustained growth opportunities. Even if the integration of Remix’s business is
successful, we may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of the Remix Acquisition in the time frame anticipated, or at all. For example,
events outside our control, such as changes in laws and regulations, as well as economic trends, including as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic or other political instabilities and conflicts in the Central and Eastern European region, could adversely affect our ability to realize the
expected benefits from the Remix Acquisition. Further, upon the closing of the Remix Acquisition, we became subject to additional laws and
regulations, including those in the EEA, such as GDPR. Compliance with such laws and regulations will require resources and could be more
costly and take more time than we anticipate, which could adversely affect our business.

An inability to realize the full extent of the anticipated benefits of the Remix Acquisition, as well as any delays encountered in the integration
process, could have a materially adverse effect upon our business, revenue, operating expenses, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, it is possible that the integration process could result in the disruption of our ongoing business or inconsistencies in standards,
controls, procedures and policies that may adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with our buyers and RaaS clients or to achieve
the anticipated benefits of the Remix Acquisition. Integration efforts also may divert management attention and resources. For all of these
reasons, we may not be able to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Remix Acquisition, which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition and could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.

In addition, Remix may have liabilities that we failed, or were unable, to discover in the course of performing our due diligence investigations
in connection with the Remix Acquisition. Any such liabilities, individually or in the aggregate, could have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

We use data science to predict buyer and seller preferences, and if we do not accurately predict evolving preferences of our buyers
and sellers it could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our success is in large part dependent upon our ability to anticipate and identify trends in the market for secondhand items in a timely
manner and to obtain a supply of secondhand items that addresses those trends by attracting and retaining sellers who send in high-quality
secondhand items. We use data science to predict buyer and seller preferences, which we in turn use to ensure our buyers are looking at
secondhand items that they are interested in purchasing on our marketplace. There can be no assurance that our data science will accurately
anticipate buyer or seller preferences and, if our predictions are inaccurate, we will not be able to optimize our buyers’ and sellers’ experience
on our marketplace. Lead times relating to these changing preferences may make it difficult for us to respond rapidly to new or changing trends.
We have begun to expand our offerings beyond our core marketplace and to expand our RaaS offerings and the impact on our business from
these new offerings and RaaS offerings is not clear as it is difficult to accurately predict buyer and seller preferences. To the extent we do not
accurately predict the evolving preferences of our buyers and sellers, it could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may experience damage or destruction to our distribution centers in which we store all of the secondhand and resale items we
offer through our marketplace, which may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We store the majority of the secondhand items we offer through our marketplace in our current distribution centers in Arizona, Georgia and
Pennsylvania. Our distribution centers, as well as our headquarters, are located in areas that have a history of natural disasters, including
severe weather events, rendering our distribution centers vulnerable to damage. Any large-scale damage to or catastrophic loss of secondhand
and resale items stored in one of our distribution centers, due to natural
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disasters or man-made disasters such as arson, theft or otherwise would result in liability to our sellers for the expected payout commission
liability for the lost items, reduction in the value of our inventory and a significant disruption to our business.

Additionally, given the nature of the unique selection of secondhand and resale items we offer on our marketplace, our ability to restore
such secondhand items on our marketplace would take time and would result in a limitation and delay of available supply for buyers, which
would negatively impact our revenue and results of operations. Further, natural disasters, such as earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, fires,
floods and other adverse weather and climate conditions; unforeseen public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics; political crises,
such as terrorist attacks, war and other political instability; or other catastrophic events, whether occurring in the United States or internationally,
could disrupt our operations in any of our offices and distribution centers or the operations of one or more of our third-party providers or
vendors.

Further, while we carry insurance for the secondhand and resale items in our distribution centers, the number of carriers which provide for
such insurance has declined, which has resulted in increased premiums and deductibles. The insurance we do carry may not continue to be
available on commercially reasonable terms and, in any event, may not be adequate to cover all possible losses that our business could suffer.
In the event that we suffer a catastrophic loss of any or all of our distribution centers and the secondhand items in such facilities, our liabilities
may exceed the maximum insurance coverage amount, which would harm our business and results of operations.

Shipping is a critical part of our business and any changes in our shipping arrangements or any interruptions in shipping could harm
our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We currently rely on major vendors for our shipping of purchases to buyers and the shipping of supplied secondhand items by sellers. If we
are not able to negotiate acceptable pricing and other terms with these vendors or they experience performance problems or other difficulties,
such as the increased volume of deliveries due to shelter-in-place orders associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, it could negatively impact
our business and results of operations and negatively affect the experiences of our buyers and sellers, which could affect the degree to which
they continue to buy and supply secondhand items on our marketplace. In addition, our ability to receive inbound secondhand items efficiently
and ship secondhand items to buyers may be negatively affected by inclement weather, fire, flood, power loss, earthquakes, labor disputes,
acts of war or terrorism, disruptions and/or delays due to business closures and shelter-in-place orders like those associated with the COVID-19
pandemic and similar factors. Disruption to delivery services due to inclement weather could result in delays that could adversely affect our
reputation, business and results of operations. If our secondhand items are not delivered in a timely fashion or are damaged or lost during the
supply or the delivery process, our buyers or sellers could become dissatisfied and cease using our marketplace, which could adversely affect
our business and results of operations.

Our advertising activity and strategic RaaS offerings may fail to efficiently drive growth in buyers and sellers, which could harm our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our future growth and potential profitability will depend in large part upon the effectiveness and efficiency of our advertising, promotion,
public relations and marketing programs as well as our strategic RaaS offerings, and we are investing heavily in these activities. Our advertising
activities may not yield increased revenue and the efficacy of these activities will depend on a number of factors, including our ability to:

• determine the effective creative message and media mix for advertising, marketing and promotional expenditures;

• select the right markets, media and specific media vehicles in which to advertise;
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• identify the most effective and efficient level of spending in each market, media and specific media vehicle; and

• effectively manage marketing costs, including creative and media expenses, to maintain acceptable buyer and seller acquisition costs.

We closely monitor the effectiveness of our advertising campaigns and changes in the advertising market, and adjust or re-allocate our
advertising spend across channels, customer segments and geographic markets in real-time to optimize the effectiveness of these activities.
We expect to increase advertising spend in future periods to continue driving our growth. We have previously experienced, and may experience
in the future, increases in the pricing of one or more of our marketing and advertising channels. These pricing increases could increase our
marketing and advertising expenses or cause us to choose less expensive but possibly less effective marketing and advertising channels. If we
implement new marketing and advertising strategies, we may incur significantly higher costs than our current channels, which, in turn, could
adversely affect our results of operations.

Implementing new marketing and advertising strategies also could increase the risk of devoting significant capital and other resources to
endeavors that do not prove to be cost effective. We also may incur marketing and advertising expenses significantly in advance of the time we
anticipate recognizing revenue associated with such expenses and our marketing and advertising expenditures may not generate sufficient
levels of brand awareness or result in increased revenue. Even if our marketing and advertising expenses result in increased sales, the
increase might not offset our related expenditures. If we are unable to maintain our marketing and advertising channels on cost-effective terms
or replace or supplement existing marketing and advertising channels with similarly or more effective channels, our marketing and advertising
expenses could increase substantially, our buyer and seller base could be adversely affected, our brand could suffer and our business, results
of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

We have invested and expect to continue to invest significant time and resources into our RaaS offerings and our RaaS clients include
national retail stores, premium women’s fashion brands, fashion-focused e-commerce sites and marketplaces for the buying and selling of
secondhand items. We maintain a robust and varied set of RaaS offerings including provision of our Clean Out Kits at our RaaS clients’ retail
stores, our cash out marketplace offering, white-label resale shops, the resale of worn retail items provided to us by our RaaS clients and cross-
listing our products on our RaaS clients’ websites. To grow our business and build out our marketplace, we anticipate that we will continue to
depend on relationships with third parties. Identifying RaaS clients, and negotiating, documenting and maintaining relationships with them,
requires significant time and resources. Further, our competitors may be effective in providing incentives to third parties to favor their offerings
over our marketplace, mobile application or in-store offerings.

There is significant uncertainty around the future profitability of our RaaS offerings and whether they will result in an increased number of
new and repeat buyers, an increased number of new and repeat sellers selling high-quality secondhand items, increased awareness of our
brand and an additional source of revenue. The effectiveness of some of these RaaS offerings was also disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic
and associated shelter-in-place orders. Further, if the retail industry suffers in general, there may be fewer customers visiting our RaaS clients’
retail stores and buying secondhand items in our pop-up shops, our RaaS clients may discontinue our pop-ups and white-label resale shops in
an effort to cut back newer partnerships and our kit distribution offering for gift cards to our clients’ stores could be less desirable. Additionally,
our RaaS clients could go out of business or declare bankruptcy. If our RaaS offerings are not profitable and do not result in us acquiring a high-
quality supply of secondhand items from our RaaS clients and/or their customers, who become our sellers, and reaching additional buyers, our
business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.
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We rely on third parties to drive traffic to our website and mobile application, and these providers may change their algorithms or
pricing in ways that could negatively impact our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

We rely in part on digital advertising, including search engine marketing and social media advertising, to promote awareness of our
marketplace, grow our business, attract new buyers and sellers and retain existing buyers and sellers. In particular, we rely on search engines,
such as Google, the major mobile application stores and social media platforms such as Facebook and Instagram as important marketing
channels. In addition to purchasing traditional advertising space on search engines and social media platforms, we also partner with influencers
on Instagram who promote their buying and selling of secondhand and resale items through our marketplace to their followers. Search engine
companies, social media platforms or mobile application stores that we advertise our marketplace through may determine that we are not in
compliance with their guidelines and penalize us as a result. If search engines or social media platforms change their algorithms, terms of
service, display or the featuring of search results, determine we are out of compliance with their terms of service or if competition increases for
advertisements, we may be unable to cost-effectively add buyers and sellers to our website and mobile application. Further, changes to third-
party policies that limit our ability to deliver, target or measure the effectiveness of advertising, including changes by mobile operating system
and browser providers such as Apple and Google, could reduce the effectiveness of our marketing. We also cannot accurately predict if the
followers of our Instagram influencer partners will be interested in buying and selling through our marketplace, or if our influencer partners will
maintain their follower numbers throughout the time our partnerships. Our relationships with our marketing vendors are not long term in nature
and do not require any specific performance commitments. In addition, many of our online advertising vendors provide advertising services to
other companies, including companies with whom we may compete. As competition for online advertising has increased, the cost for some of
these services has also increased. Our marketing initiatives may become increasingly expensive and generating a return on those initiatives
may be difficult. Even if we successfully increase revenue as a result of our paid marketing efforts, such increase may not offset the additional
marketing expenses we incur.

We may not succeed in promoting and maintaining our brand and reputation, which could harm our business and future growth.

We believe that maintaining our brand and reputation is critical to driving buyer and seller engagement. An important goal of our brand
promotion strategy is establishing trust with our buyers and sellers.

For buyers, maintaining our brand and reputation requires that we foster trust through timely and reliable fulfillment of orders, responsive
and effective customer service, a broad supply of desirable brands and secondhand items and an exciting and user-friendly interface on our
marketplace, in our stores and through our partnerships. For sellers, maintaining our brand and reputation requires that we foster convenience
with service that is convenient, consistent and timely. It also requires that we foster trust through consistent and transparent acceptance, payout
and return processes and policies for secondhand items supplied to us, payouts that our sellers perceive to be adequate compensation for their
items and responsive and effective customer service. If we fail to provide buyers or sellers with the service and experience they expect, or we
experience buyer or seller complaints or negative publicity about our marketplace services, merchandise, delivery times or customer support,
whether justified or not, the value of our brand could be harmed, which could harm our business and future growth. For example, disruption to
processing of Clean Out Kits and distribution caused by COVID-19 has led and could potentially lead to additional delays in our ability to
process secondhand items sellers send in for resale, resulting in delays in sellers receiving payouts and less refreshing of our supply on our
marketplace, and could harm our brand and reputation.

Future acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships or alliances could be difficult to identify and integrate, divert the attention of
key management personnel, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and harm our results of operations and financial
condition.
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We have in the past and may in the future seek to acquire businesses, products or technologies that we believe could complement our
business, enhance our technical capabilities or otherwise offer growth opportunities. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the
attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not
they are consummated. Any acquisition, investment or business relationship may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. In
addition, we have limited experience in acquiring other businesses. If we acquire additional businesses, we may not be able to integrate
successfully the acquired personnel, operations, systems and technologies, or effectively manage the combined business following the
acquisition. Specifically, we may not successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired business, operations, systems, technology or personnel, or
accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction, including accounting charges. Moreover, the anticipated benefits of any
acquisition, investment or business relationship may not be realized or we may be exposed to unknown risks or liabilities.

We may not be able to find and identify desirable acquisition targets or we may not be successful in entering into an agreement with any
one target. Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, which could harm our results of
operations. In addition, if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our business, results of operations and financial condition may
suffer.

We have previously sought, and may in the future seek, to make strategic investments in companies developing products or technologies
that we believe could complement our business, enhance our technical capabilities, or otherwise offer growth opportunities. These investments
may be in early stage private companies for restricted stock. Such investments are generally illiquid and may never generate value. Further, the
companies in which we invest may not succeed, and our investments would lose their value.

Certain estimates of our buyer metrics included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may prove to be inaccurate, and any real or
perceived inaccuracies may harm our reputation and negatively affect our business.

Certain metrics presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the numbers of Active Buyers, are based on internal company
data, assumptions and estimates and we use these numbers in managing our business. We believe that these figures are reasonable
estimates, and we take measures to improve their accuracy, such as eliminating known fictitious or duplicate accounts. There are, however,
inherent challenges in gathering accurate data across large online and mobile populations. For example, there may be individuals who have
multiple email accounts in violation of our terms of service, despite our efforts to detect and enforce our terms of service. If individuals have
multiple unique email addresses that are undetected, then we could be overestimating the number of Active Buyers. We regularly review and
may adjust our processes for calculating these metrics to improve their accuracy. If investors or analysts do not perceive our metrics to be
accurate representations of our business, or if we discover material inaccuracies in our metrics, our reputation, business, results of operations
and financial condition would be harmed.

Greater than expected returns could have a negative impact on our revenue.

We allow buyers to return certain purchases from our website and mobile application under our return policy. We record a reserve for
returns against proceeds to us from the resale of items on our marketplace in calculating revenue. We estimate this reserve based on historical
return trends. The introduction of new products in the retail market, changes in consumer confidence or other competitive and general economic
conditions may cause actual returns to exceed our reserve for returns. From time to time, the secondhand items sold through our marketplace
are damaged in transit which can increase return rates, increase our costs and harm our brand. Returned items may also be damaged in transit
as part of the return process, which can significantly impact the price we are able to charge for such items on
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our marketplace. Any significant increase in returns that exceeds our reserves could adversely affect our revenue and results of operations.

As an online secondhand marketplace, our success depends on the accuracy of our item acceptance process. Failure by us to
identify counterfeit or stolen retail items could adversely affect our reputation and expose us to liability for the resale of counterfeit or
stolen items.

Our success may depend on our ability to accurately and cost-effectively determine whether a secondhand item offered for resale is an
authentic product. From time to time we receive secondhand items through our sellers which may be counterfeit or which we are otherwise
unable to authenticate. While we have invested in our authentication processes and we reject any retail items we cannot authenticate, we
cannot be certain that we will identify every counterfeit item that is supplied to us. As the sophistication of counterfeiters increases, it may be
increasingly difficult to authenticate products and/or identify counterfeit products. We refund the cost of an item to a buyer if the buyer questions
its authenticity and returns the item. The resale of any counterfeit items may damage our reputation as a trusted marketplace for secondhand
items, which may impact our ability to attract and maintain repeat buyers and sellers. We may also be subject to allegations that an item we sold
is not authentic despite our efforts to inspect such item and/or our general authentication practices. Such controversy could negatively impact
our reputation and brand and harm our business and results of operations.

Additionally, we may fail to prevent sellers from supplying stolen items. Government regulators and law enforcement officials may allege
that our services violate, or aid and abet violations of certain laws, including laws restricting or prohibiting the transferability and, by extension,
the resale, of stolen items. Our form of seller terms includes a representation that the seller has the necessary right and title to the secondhand
items they may resell. Our terms of use prohibit the listing of stolen or otherwise illegal products. If these terms prove inadequate, we may be
required to spend substantial resources to take additional protective measures which could negatively impact our operations. Any costs incurred
as a result of potential liability relating to the alleged or actual resale of stolen items could harm our business. In addition, negative publicity
relating to the actual or perceived listing or resale of stolen items using our services could damage our reputation and make our buyers and
sellers reluctant to use our services. To the extent any of this occurs, it could harm our business or damage our reputation and we could face
liability for such unlawful activities. Despite measures taken by us to detect stolen items, to cooperate fully with law enforcement, and to
respond to inquiries regarding potentially stolen items, any resulting claims or liabilities could harm our business.

Risks Relating to Information Technology, Intellectual Property, Data Security and Privacy

Compromises of our data security could cause us to incur unexpected expenses and may materially harm our reputation and results
of operations.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, process and store certain personal information and other data relating to individuals, such
as our buyers, sellers and employees. We also maintain other information, such as our trade secrets and confidential business information and
certain confidential information of third parties, that is sensitive and that we seek to protect. We rely substantially on commercially available
systems, software, tools and monitoring to provide security for our processing, transmission and storage of personal information and other
confidential information. We or our vendors have been in the past and could be in the future the subject of hacking, social engineering, phishing,
ransomware or other attacks. Due to these or other causes, we or our vendors have in the past and may in the future suffer a data breach or
other security incident. These incidents have allowed, and may in the future continue to allow, hackers or other unauthorized parties to gain
access to personal information or other data, source code, payment card data or confidential business information, and we might not discover
such issues for an extended period. The techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and
generally are not identified until they are launched against a target. As a result, we and our vendors may be unable to anticipate these
techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. In addition, our employees, contractors, vendors or other third parties
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with whom we do business may attempt to circumvent security measures in order to misappropriate such personal information, confidential
information or other data, or may inadvertently release or compromise such data. We expect to incur ongoing and increasing costs associated
with the detection and prevention of security breaches and other security-related incidents. We may incur additional costs in the event of a
security breach or other security-related incident. Any actual or perceived compromise of our systems or data security measures or those of
third parties with whom we do business, or any failure to prevent or mitigate the loss of personal or other confidential information and delays in
detecting or providing notice of any such compromise or loss could disrupt our operations, harm the perception of our security measures,
damage our reputation, cause some participants to decrease or stop their use of our marketplace and subject us to litigation, government
action, increased transaction fees, regulatory fines or penalties or other additional costs and liabilities that could adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

We cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data handling or data security liabilities, that insurance will continue
to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The
successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage or the occurrence of changes in our
insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could harm our business,
results of operations, financial condition and reputation.

In addition, the changes in our work environment as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic could impact the security of our systems, as well as
our ability to protect against attacks and detect and respond to them quickly. Any rapid adoption by us of third-party services designed to enable
the transition to a remote workforce also may introduce security risk that is not fully mitigated prior to the use of these services. We may also be
subject to increased cyber-attacks, such as phishing attacks by threat actors using the attention placed on the COVID-19 pandemic as a
method for targeting our personnel.

Our use and other processing of personal information and other data is subject to laws and regulations relating to privacy, data
protection and information security. Changes in such laws or regulations, or any actual or perceived failure by us to comply with
such laws and regulations, our privacy policies and/or contractual obligations, could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

We collect, maintain and otherwise process significant amounts of personal information and other data relating to our buyers, sellers, clients
and employees. Numerous state, federal and international laws, rules and regulations govern the collection, use and protection of personal
information and other types of data we collect, use, disclose and otherwise process. Such requirements are constantly evolving, and we expect
that there will continue to be new proposed requirements relating to privacy, data protection and information security in the United States and
other jurisdictions, or changes in the interpretation of existing privacy requirements. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act (the
“CCPA”) took effect on January 1, 2020 and broadly defines personal information, imposes stringent consumer data protection requirements,
gives California residents expanded privacy rights, provides for civil penalties for violations and introduces a private right of action for data
breaches. Additionally, on November 3, 2020, Proposition 24 was approved in California which creates a new privacy law, the California Privacy
Rights Act (the “CPRA”). The CPRA creates additional obligations relating to personal information that will take effect on January 1, 2023 (with
certain provisions having retroactive effect to January 1, 2022). The CPRA’s implementing regulations are expected on or before July 1, 2022,
and enforcement is scheduled to begin July 1, 2023. We will continue to monitor developments related to the CPRA and anticipate additional
costs and expenses associated with CPRA compliance. Additionally, the CCPA has prompted other states to propose and enact similar laws
and regulations relating to privacy. For example, in March 2021, Virginia enacted the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act (the “CDPA”),
which becomes effective on January 1, 2023, and on June 8, 2021, Colorado enacted the Colorado Privacy Act (the “CPA”), which takes effect
on July 1, 2023. The CDPA and CPA share similarities with the CCPA, the CPRA, and legislation proposed in other states. Aspects of the
CCPA, CPRA, CDPA, and
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CPA, and their interpretation, remain unclear, and we cannot yet fully predict the impact of these laws or regulations on our business or
operations.

Further, as our operations expand internationally, including in connection with the Remix Acquisition, we may become subject to additional
laws and regulations relating to privacy and data protection. Foreign laws and regulations relating to privacy and data protection often are more
restrictive than those in the United States. Regulatory authorities in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”), for example, traditionally have
imposed stricter obligations under laws and regulations relating to privacy and data protection than the United States. In May 2018, the
European Union’s regulation governing data practices and privacy called the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), became effective.
The GDPR requires companies to meet stringent requirements regarding the handling of personal data of individuals in the EEA. The GDPR
provides for substantial penalties for non-compliance, which may result in monetary penalties of up to 20 million Euros or 4% of a company’s
worldwide turnover, whichever is greater. Aspects of data protection laws and regulations in the EEA, including those relating to cross-border
data transfer and the use of cookies, are evolving rapidly and remain subject to substantial uncertainty. Additionally, outside of the EEA, many
countries and territories have laws, regulations, or other requirements relating to privacy, data protection, information security, and localized
storage of data, and new countries and territories are adopting such legislation or other obligations with increasing frequency. There is no
harmonized approach to these laws and regulations globally. Consequently, international expansion, including in connection with the Remix
Acquisition, increases our risk of non-compliance with applicable foreign data protection laws and regulations.

Future requirements, or changes in the interpretation of existing requirements, relating to privacy, data protection and information security
may require us to implement, enhance or modify privacy and security policies, provide certain types of notices, grant certain rights to
individuals, inform individuals of security breaches, and, in some cases, obtain individuals’ consent to use personal data for certain purposes.
These requirements may be inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another, subject to differing interpretations and may be interpreted to conflict
with our practices. We cannot yet fully determine the impact that such future requirements may have on our business or operations. Additionally,
we are subject to the terms of our privacy policies and notices and may be bound by contractual requirements applicable to our collection, use,
processing, security and disclosure of personal information, and may be bound by or alleged to be subject to, or voluntarily comply with, self-
regulatory or other industry standards relating to these matters.

Any failure or perceived failure by us or any third parties with which we do business to comply with these privacy requirements, with our
posted privacy policies or with other obligations to which we or such third parties are or may become subject relating to privacy, data protection
or information security, may result in investigations or enforcement actions against us by governmental entities, private claims, public
statements against us by consumer advocacy groups or others, and fines, penalties or other liabilities. For example, California consumers
whose information has been subject to a security incident may bring civil suits under the CCPA, for statutory damages between $100 and $750
per consumer. Any such action would be expensive to defend, likely would damage our reputation and market position, could result in
substantial liability and could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Further, in view of new or modified requirements relating to privacy, data protection or information security, contractual obligations and other
legal obligations, or any changes in their interpretation, we may find it necessary or desirable to fundamentally change our business activities
and practices, and to expend significant resources to adapt to these changes. We may be unable to make such changes and modifications in a
commercially reasonable manner or at all, and our ability to develop new features could be limited. Privacy, data protection and information
security concerns, whether valid or not valid, may inhibit the use and growth of our RaaS product offerings and marketplace, particularly in
certain foreign countries. Additionally, public scrutiny of or complaints about technology companies or their data practices, even if unrelated to
our business, industry, or operations, may lead to increased scrutiny of
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technology companies, including us, and may cause government agencies to enact additional regulatory requirements, or to modify their
enforcement or investigation activities, which may increase our costs and risks.

Interruptions or delays in the services provided by third-party data centers, Internet service providers or our payment processors
could prevent existing and potential buyers and sellers from accessing our marketplace, and our business could suffer.

Our reputation and ability to attract and retain buyers and sellers depends in part on the reliable performance of our network infrastructure
and content delivery process. We have experienced, and expect that in the future we may experience, interruptions, delays and outages in
service and availability from time to time due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or software errors, website hosting
disruptions and capacity constraints which could affect the availability of services on our marketplace and prevent or inhibit the ability of buyers
to access our marketplace or complete purchases on our marketplace through our website or mobile application.

We currently host our marketplace and support our operations using Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) data centers, a provider of cloud
infrastructure services. Our operations depend on protecting the virtual cloud infrastructure hosted in AWS by maintaining its configuration,
architecture and interconnection specifications, as well as the information stored in these virtual data centers and which third-party Internet
service providers transmit. Furthermore, we have no physical access or control over the services provided by AWS. Although we have disaster
recovery plans that utilize multiple AWS locations, the data centers that we use are vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error,
intentional bad acts, earthquakes, floods, fires, severe storms, war, terrorist attacks, power losses, hardware failures, systems failures,
telecommunications failures, and similar events, many of which are beyond our control, any of which could disrupt our service, destroy user
content, or prevent us from being able to continuously back up or record changes in our users’ content. In the event of significant physical
damage to one of these data centers, it may take a significant period of time to achieve full resumption of our marketplace, and our disaster
recovery planning may not account for all eventualities. Further, a prolonged AWS service disruption affecting our marketplace could damage
our reputation with current buyers and sellers, expose us to liability, make it difficult to attract and retain new and existing buyers and sellers, or
otherwise harm our business. In particular, volume of traffic and activity on our marketplace spikes on certain days and during certain periods of
the year, such as during a holiday promotion. Any interruption to the availability of our marketplace would be particularly problematic if it were to
occur at such a high-volume time. In addition, we use multiple third-party payment processors to process payments made by buyers or to
sellers on our marketplace. Any disruption or failure in the services we receive from our third-party payment processors could prevent us from
being able to effectively operate our marketplace and likewise could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If AWS or our third-party payment processors terminate their relationships with us or refuse to renew their agreements with us on
commercially reasonable terms, we would need to find alternative data centers, Internet service providers and third-party payment processors
and may not be able to secure similar terms or replace such payment processors in an acceptable timeframe. Further, the services provided by
such alternate providers may not meet our expectations, contain errors or vulnerabilities, be compromised or experience outages. In particular,
should we or AWS decide to terminate our contract for cloud infrastructure services for any reason, transitioning our cloud infrastructure to an
alternative provider could potentially be disruptive, and we may incur significant costs for a short period of time. Any of these risks could cause
us to lose our ability to accept online payments, make payments to sellers or conduct other payment transactions, any of which could make our
marketplace less convenient and attractive and adversely affect our ability to attract and retain buyers and sellers, which could harm our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Activity on mobile devices by buyers and sellers depends upon effective use of mobile operating systems, networks and standards
that we do not control.

Purchases using mobile devices by buyers and sellers generally, and by our buyers and sellers specifically, have increased significantly,
and we expect this trend to continue. To optimize the mobile shopping experience, we are dependent on our buyers and sellers downloading
our specific mobile applications for their particular device or accessing our sites from an Internet browser on their mobile device. As new mobile
devices and platforms are released, it is difficult to predict the problems we may encounter in developing applications for these alternative
devices and platforms, and we may need to devote significant resources to the creation, support and maintenance of such applications. In
addition, our future growth and our results of operations could suffer if we experience difficulties in the future in integrating our mobile
applications into mobile devices, if problems arise with our relationships with providers of mobile operating systems or mobile application
download stores, such as those of Apple or Google, if our applications receive unfavorable treatment compared to competing applications, such
as the order of our mobile application in the Apple App Store or Google Play, if we face increased costs to distribute or have buyers and sellers
use our mobile applications or if our mobile application is no longer available with certain providers of mobile operating systems or mobile
application download stores. We are further dependent on the interoperability of our sites with popular mobile operating systems that we do not
control, such as iOS and Android, and any changes in such systems that degrade the functionality of our sites or give preferential treatment to
competitors could adversely affect the usage of our sites on mobile devices. In the event that it is more difficult for our buyers and sellers to
access and use our sites on mobile devices, or if our buyers and sellers choose not to access or to use our sites on their mobile devices or to
use mobile products that do not offer access to our sites, this could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may be accused of infringing intellectual property or other proprietary rights of third parties.

We have been in the past and may be accused in the future of infringing intellectual property or other proprietary rights of third parties. We
are also at risk of claims by others that we have infringed their copyrights, trademarks or patents, or improperly used or disclosed their trade
secrets, or otherwise infringed or violated their proprietary rights, such as the right of publicity. For example, although we require our employees
to not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may become subject to claims that these employees have
divulged, or we have used, proprietary information of these employees’ former employers. The costs of supporting any litigation or disputes
related to these claims can be considerable, and we cannot assure you that we will achieve a favorable outcome of any such claim. If any such
claim is valid, we may be compelled to cease our use of such intellectual property or other proprietary rights and pay damages, which could
adversely affect our business. In addition, if such claims are valid, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel, which could
harm our business. Even if such claims were not valid, defending them could be expensive and distracting, adversely affecting our results of
operations.

If we cannot successfully protect our intellectual property, our business could suffer.

We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, contractual protections and other practices to protect our brand, proprietary
information, technologies and processes. We primarily rely on patent, copyright and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary technologies
and processes, including the automated operations systems and machine learning technology we use throughout our business. Others may
independently develop the same or similar technologies and processes or may improperly acquire and use information about our technologies
and processes, which may allow them to provide a service similar to ours, which could harm our competitive position. Our principal trademark
assets include the registered trademarks “THREDUP” and “Think Secondhand First” and our logos and taglines. Our trademarks are valuable
assets that support our brand and buyers’ perception of our services and merchandise. We have registered trademarks in Australia, Canada,
the European Union, Japan, South Korea, Mexico, the United Kingdom and the United States. We also hold the rights to the “thredup.com”
Internet domain name and various related domain names, which are subject to Internet regulatory bodies
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and trademark and other related laws of each applicable jurisdiction. If we are unable to protect our trademarks or domain names, our brand
recognition and reputation would suffer, we would incur significant expense establishing new brands and our results of operations would be
adversely impacted. Further, to the extent we pursue additional patent protection for our innovations, patents we may apply for may not issue,
and patents that do issue or that we acquire may not provide us with any competitive advantages or may be challenged by third parties. There
can be no assurance that any patents we obtain will adequately protect our inventions or survive a legal challenge, as the legal standards
relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of patent and other intellectual property rights are uncertain. We may be required to
spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights, and the efforts we take to protect our proprietary rights may
not be sufficient.

We rely in part on trade secrets, proprietary know-how and other confidential information to maintain our competitive position. Although we
enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and enter into confidentiality agreements
with the parties with whom we have strategic relationships, partnerships and business alliances, no assurance can be given that these
agreements will be effective in controlling access to and distribution of our proprietary information. Further, these agreements do not prevent our
competitors from independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our automation technologies or
technologies related to our marketplace.

To protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights, and we
may or may not be able to detect infringement by third parties. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property
rights and to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation could be costly, time consuming and distracting to management and could result in the
impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with
defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our
proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’s attention and
resources, could delay further sales or the implementation of our platform, impair the functionality of our platform, delay introductions of new
capabilities, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our business, or injure our reputation. In addition, we may be
required to license additional technology from third parties to develop and market new capabilities, and we cannot assure you that we could
license that technology on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and our inability to license this technology could harm our ability to compete.

We use open source software in our marketplace, which could negatively affect our ability to operate our business and subject us to
litigation or other actions.

We use open source software to facilitate the development and operation of our marketplace, including our website and mobile application,
and may use more open source software in the future. From time to time, there have been claims challenging both the ownership of open
source software against companies that incorporate open source software into their products and whether such incorporation is permissible
under various open source licenses. The terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by United States courts, and there is a
risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to operate our
marketplace. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software, or
breach of open source licenses. Litigation could be costly for us to defend, have a negative effect on our results of operations and financial
condition, or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our marketplace. In addition, if we were to combine
our proprietary source code or software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain of the open source licenses, be
required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar offerings with
less development effort and time. If we inappropriately use open source software, or if the license terms for open source software that we use
change, we may be required to re-engineer our marketplace, or certain aspects of our marketplace, incur additional costs, or take other
remedial actions.

29



Table of Contents

In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party
commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or assurance of title or controls on origin of the software. In
addition, many of the risks associated with usage of open source software, such as the lack of warranties or assurances of title, cannot be
eliminated, and could, if not properly addressed, negatively affect our business. We have established processes to help alleviate these risks, but
we cannot be sure that all of our use of open source software is in a manner that is consistent with our current policies and procedures or will
not subject us to liability.

We rely on software and services from other parties. Defects in or the loss of access to software or services from third parties could
increase our costs and adversely affect the quality of our products.

We rely on technologies from third parties to operate critical functions of our business, including cloud infrastructure services, payment
processing services, certain aspects of distribution center automation and customer relationship management services. We also use Google
services for our business emails, file storage and communications. Our business would be disrupted if any of the third-party software or
services we utilize, or functional equivalents thereof, were unavailable due to extended outages or interruptions or because they are no longer
available on commercially reasonable terms or prices. In each case, we would be required to either seek licenses to software or services from
other parties and redesign our business and marketplace to function with such software or services or develop these components ourselves,
which would result in increased costs and could result in delays in the launch of new offerings on our marketplace until equivalent technology
can be identified, licensed or developed, and integrated into our business and marketplace. Furthermore, we might be forced to limit the
features available in our current or future products. These delays and feature limitations, if they occur, could harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Our success depends, in part, on the integrity and scalability of our systems and infrastructures as well as our ability to integrate
with our partners. System interruption and the lack of integration, redundancy and scalability in these systems and infrastructures
may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to maintain the integrity of our systems and infrastructure, including our website and mobile
app, information and related systems. Further, to maintain our strategic relationships with our partners, our systems and infrastructure must be
seamlessly integrated and interoperable with our partners’ systems, including those of our RaaS clients, which may cause us to incur significant
upfront and maintenance costs as some of our RaaS offerings may involve development of a variety of technologies, data formats, applications,
systems and infrastructure. System interruption and a lack of integration and redundancy in our information systems and infrastructure may
adversely affect our ability to operate our website or mobile app, process and fulfill transactions, maintain coordination between our website and
those of certain of our RaaS clients, respond to customer inquiries and generally maintain cost-efficient operations. As our business has grown
in size and complexity, the growth has placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our information systems and infrastructure. To
effectively manage this growth, we expect to commit significant financial resources and personnel to maintain and enhance existing systems
and develop or acquire new systems to keep pace with continuing changes in our business and information processing technology as well as
evolving industry, regulatory and accounting standards. If the information we rely upon to run our businesses is determined to be inaccurate or
unreliable, or if we fail to properly maintain or enhance our internal information systems and infrastructure, we could experience operational
disruptions, customer disputes, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal controls, incur increased operating and
administrative expenses, lose our ability to produce timely and accurate financial reports or suffer other adverse consequences which could
harm our results of operations. We also rely on third-party computer systems, broadband and other communications systems and service
providers in connection with providing access to our marketplace generally. Any interruptions, outages or delays in our systems and
infrastructure, our business and/or third parties or deterioration in the performance of these systems and infrastructure,
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could impair our ability to provide access to our marketplace. Fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, hurricanes, tornadoes,
earthquakes, other natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism, including ransomware attacks and similar events or disruptions may damage or
interrupt computer, broadband or other communications systems and infrastructure at any time. Any of these events could cause system
interruption, delays and loss of critical data, and could prevent us from providing access to our marketplace. While we have backup systems for
certain aspects of our operations, disaster recovery planning by its nature cannot be sufficient for all eventualities. In addition, we may not have
adequate insurance coverage to compensate for losses from a major interruption. If any of these events were to occur, it could harm our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Relating to Legal, Regulatory, Accounting and Tax Matters

Material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting may cause us to fail to timely and accurately report our financial
results or result in a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements.

In connection with the audits of our 2021, 2020, 2019 and 2018 consolidated financial statements, we and our independent registered
public accounting firm identified control deficiencies in the design and operation of our internal control over financial reporting that constituted a
material weakness, as further described in “Item 9A. Controls and Procedures” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Our material weakness related to the
following control deficiencies:

• We did not design and maintain effective control over our accounting and proprietary data systems used in our financial reporting
process. These systems lacked controls over user access, program change management, computer operation and data validation to
ensure that IT program and data changes affecting financial accounting applications and underlying accounting records are identified,
tested, authorized and implemented appropriately.

• We did not design and maintain adequate controls over the preparation and review of certain account reconciliations and journal
entries. Specifically, we did not design and maintain controls and we did not maintain a sufficient complement of accounting personnel
to ensure (i) the appropriate segregation of duties in the preparation and review of account reconciliations and journal entries and (ii)
account reconciliations were prepared and reviewed at the appropriate level of precision on a consistent and timely basis.

The deficiencies described above, if not remediated, could result in a misstatement of one or more account balances or disclosures in our
annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected, and, accordingly, we determined that these control
deficiencies constitute a material weakness.

To address our material weakness, we have added accounting, finance and information technology personnel and implemented new
financial accounting processes. We intend to continue to take steps to remediate the material weakness described above through implementing
enhancements and controls within our accounting and proprietary systems, hiring additional qualified accounting, finance and information
technology resources and further evolving our accounting and quarterly and annual close processes. We will not be able to fully remediate these
control deficiencies until these steps have been completed and have been operating effectively for a sufficient period of time. The redesign and
implementation of improvements to our accounting and proprietary systems and controls may be costly and time consuming and the cost to
remediate may impair our results of operations in the future.

If we fail to remediate our material weakness, identify future material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or fail to
meet the demands that have been placed upon us as a public company, including the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the
“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), we
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may be unable to accurately report our financial results or report them within the timeframes required by law or stock exchange regulations.
Failure to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could also potentially subject us to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or
other regulatory authorities. If additional material weaknesses exist or are discovered in the future, and we are unable to remediate any such
material weakness, our reputation, results of operations and financial condition could suffer.

Failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations, including those relating to the resale of secondhand items, or changes to such
laws, rules or regulations may subject us to fines, penalties, registration and approval or other governmental enforcement action.

Our business and financial condition could be adversely affected by unfavorable changes in or interpretations of existing laws, rules and
regulations or the promulgation of new laws, rules and regulations applicable to us and our business, including those relating to the internet and
e-commerce, such as geo-blocking and other geographically based restrictions, internet advertising and price display, consumer protection,
anti-corruption, antitrust and competition, economic and trade sanctions, tax, banking, data security, network and information systems security,
data protection, privacy and escheatment. As a result, regulatory authorities could prevent or temporarily suspend us from conducting some or
all of our activities or otherwise penalize us if our practices were found not to comply with applicable regulatory or licensing requirements or any
binding interpretation of such requirements. Unfavorable changes or interpretations could decrease demand for our marketplace, limit marketing
methods and capabilities, affect our growth, increase costs or subject us to additional liabilities. In addition, if we were to expand internationally,
we would be subject to additional regulation.

For example, there are, and will likely continue to be, an increasing number of laws and regulations pertaining to the internet and e-
commerce. Regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and e-commerce may involve taxes, privacy, data protection and data
security, consumer protection, the ability to collect and/or share necessary information that allows us to conduct business on the internet,
marketing communications and advertising, content protection, electronic contracts or gift cards. Such regulations and laws may relate to
liability for information retrieved from or transmitted over the internet, display of certain taxes and fees, online editorial and consumer-generated
content, user privacy, data security, network and information systems security, behavioral targeting and online advertising, taxation, liability for
third-party activities and the quality of services. California’s Automatic Renewal Law, for example, requires companies to adhere to enhanced
disclosure requirements when entering into automatically renewing contracts with buyers and sellers. As a result, a wave of consumer class
action lawsuits was brought against companies that offer online products and services on a subscription or recurring basis. Furthermore, the
growth and development of e-commerce may prompt calls for more stringent consumer protection laws and more aggressive enforcement
efforts, which may impose additional burdens on online businesses generally.

The resale of secondhand items through our marketplace is subject to regulation, including by regulatory bodies such as the United States
Consumer Product Safety Commission, the Federal Trade Commission, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service and other international,
federal, state and local governments and regulatory authorities. These laws and regulations are complex, vary from state to state and change
often. We monitor these laws and regulations and adjust our business practices as warranted to comply. We receive our supply of secondhand
items from numerous sellers located in all 50 states of the United States, and the items we receive from our sellers may contain materials such
as fur, snakeskin and other exotic animal product components, that are subject to regulation. Our standard seller terms and conditions require
sellers to comply with applicable laws when sending us their secondhand items. Failure of our sellers to comply with applicable laws,
regulations and contractual requirements could lead to litigation or other claims against us, resulting in increased legal expenses and costs. In
addition, while all of our vendor agreements contain a standard indemnification provision, certain vendors may not have sufficient resources or
insurance to satisfy their indemnity and defense obligations which may harm our business. Moreover, failure by us to effectively monitor the
application of these laws and regulations to our business, and to comply with such laws and regulations, may negatively affect our brand and
subject us to penalties and fines.
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Numerous states within the United States and municipalities, including the States of California and New York, have regulations regarding
the handling of secondhand items and licensing requirements of secondhand dealers. Such government regulations could require us to change
the way we conduct business, such as prohibiting or otherwise restricting the sale or shipment of certain items in some locations. These
regulations could result in increased costs or reduced revenue. We could also be subject to fines or other penalties that could harm our
business.

Additionally, supplied secondhand items could be subject to recalls and other remedial actions and product safety, labeling and licensing
concerns may require us to voluntarily remove selected secondhand items from our marketplace. Such recalls or voluntary removal of items can
result in, among other things, lost sales, diverted resources, potential harm to our reputation and increased customer service costs and legal
expenses, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Some of the secondhand items sold through our marketplace may
expose us to product liability claims and litigation or regulatory action relating to personal injury, environmental or property damage. We cannot
be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to us on
economically reasonable terms or at all.

Our failure to address risks associated with payment methods, credit card fraud and other consumer fraud, or our failure to control
any such fraud, could damage our reputation and brand and could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We have in the past incurred and may in the future incur losses from various types of fraudulent transactions, including the use of stolen
credit card numbers, and claims that a buyer did not authorize a purchase. In addition, as part of the payment processing process, our buyers’
and sellers’ credit and debit card information is transmitted to our third-party payment processors, and we may in the future become subject to
lawsuits or other proceedings for purportedly fraudulent transactions arising out of the actual or alleged theft of our buyers’ and sellers’ credit or
debit card information if the security of our third-party credit card payment processors are breached.

Under current credit card practices, we are liable for fraudulent credit card transactions because we do not obtain a cardholder’s signature.
We do not currently carry insurance against this risk. To date, we have experienced minimal losses from credit card fraud, but we face the risk
of significant losses from this type of fraud as our net sales increase.

We and our third-party credit card payment processors are also subject to payment card association operating rules, certification
requirements and rules governing electronic funds transfers, which could change or be reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to
comply. If we or our third-party credit card payment processors fail to comply with these rules or requirements, we may be subject to fines and
higher transaction fees and lose our ability to accept credit and debit card payments from our buyers and sellers in addition to the
consequences that could arise from such action or inaction violating or being alleged to violate applicable laws, regulations, contractual
obligations or other obligations, including those regulating to privacy, data protection and data security as outlined above, including harm to our
reputation and market position. Any of these could have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects. Our failure to adequately prevent fraudulent transactions could damage our reputation and market position, result in claims, litigation
or regulatory investigations and proceedings or lead to expenses that could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We and our directors and executive officers may be subject to litigation for a variety of claims, which could harm our reputation and
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In the ordinary course of business, we have in the past and may in the future be involved in and subject to litigation for a variety of claims or
disputes and receive regulatory inquiries. These claims, lawsuits and proceedings could include labor and employment, wage and hour,
commercial, antitrust, alleged securities law violations or other investor claims, claims that our employees have wrongfully
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disclosed or we have wrongfully used proprietary information of our employees’ former employers and other matters. The number and
significance of these potential claims and disputes may increase as our business expands. Further, our general liability insurance may not cover
all potential claims made against us or be sufficient to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed. Any claim against us, regardless of its
merit, could be costly, divert management’s attention and operational resources, and harm our reputation.

Our directors and executive officers may also be subject to litigation. The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions that are
included in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our amended and restated bylaws and indemnification agreements that we
entered into with our directors and executive officers provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by
Delaware law and may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors and executive officers for breach of their fiduciary
duties. Such provisions may also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against our directors and executive officers, even though an action,
if successful, might benefit us and other stockholders. Further, a stockholder’s investment may be harmed to the extent that we pay the costs of
settlement and damage awards against our directors and executive officers as required by these indemnification provisions. We have obtained
insurance policies under which, subject to the limitations of the policies, coverage is provided to our directors and executive officers against loss
arising from claims made by reason of breach of fiduciary duty or other wrongful acts as a director or executive officer, including claims relating
to public securities matters, and to us with respect to payments that may be made by us to these directors and executive officers pursuant to
our indemnification obligations or otherwise as a matter of law. These insurance policies may not cover all potential claims made against our
directors and executive officers, may not be available to us in the future at a reasonable rate and may not be adequate to indemnify us for all
liability that may be imposed.

As litigation is inherently unpredictable, we cannot assure you that any potential claims or disputes will not harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to criminal
penalties or significant fines and harm our business and reputation.

We are subject to anti-corruption and anti-bribery and similar laws, such as the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as
amended (the “FCPA”), the United States domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the United States. Travel Act, the USA
PATRIOT Act, and are subject to similar anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws to the extent of the international expansion of our operations. Anti-
corruption and anti-bribery laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies, their
employees and third-party business partners, representatives and agents from promising, authorizing, making or offering improper payments or
other benefits, directly or indirectly, to government officials and others in the private sector in order to influence official action, direct business to
any person, gain any improper advantage, or obtain or retain business. If we further expand our business internationally beyond our minimal
sales into Canada and our expansion into Europe in connection with the Remix Acquisition, our risks under these laws would increase.

In addition, in the future we may use third parties to operate our marketplace or otherwise conduct business on our behalf, abroad. We or
such future third parties may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated
entities, and we can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of such future third parties, and our employees, business partners,
representatives, and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. We cannot assure you that all our employees, business
partners, representatives, and agents, as well as those companies to which we outsource certain of our business operations, will not take
actions in violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible.

Any violation of the FCPA or other applicable anti-corruption laws and anti-bribery laws could result in whistleblower complaints, adverse
media coverage, investigations, loss of export privileges, severe criminal or civil sanctions, suspension or disbarment from United States
government contracts,
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substantial diversion of management’s attention, significant legal fees and fines, severe criminal or civil sanctions against us, our officers or our
employees, disgorgement of profits, and other sanctions and remedial measures, and prohibitions on the conduct of our business, any of which
could harm our reputation, business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects and the price of our Class A common stock.

Labor-related matters, including labor disputes, may adversely affect our operations.

None of our employees are currently represented by a union. If our employees decide to form or affiliate with a union, we cannot predict the
negative effects such future organizational activities will have on our business and operations. If we were to become subject to work stoppages,
we could experience disruption in our operations, including delays in merchandising operations and shipping, and increases in our labor costs,
which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, we have in the past and could face in the future a variety of employee claims against us, including but not limited to general
discrimination, privacy, wage and hour, labor and employment, Employee Retirement Income Security Act, and disability claims. Any claims
could also result in litigation against us or regulatory proceedings being brought against us by various federal and state agencies that regulate
our business, including the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. Often these cases raise complex factual and legal
issues and create risks and uncertainties.

In January 2021, we filed an Illinois Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act notice related to our plan to close our Illinois
distribution center (DC03) and reduce our workforce. The closure of DC03 could give rise to additional employment law-related claims and
litigation, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce
timely and accurate consolidated financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control
over financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the SEC, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within
the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over
financial reporting and remediate a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. For example, we have worked to improve
the controls around our key accounting processes and our quarterly and annual close processes and we have hired additional accounting and
finance personnel to help us implement these processes and controls. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures and remediate a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate
that we will continue to expend, significant resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight. If any of these
new or improved controls and systems do not perform as expected, we may experience material weaknesses in our controls or we may be
unable to remediate the existing material weakness in our controls as discussed in “—Material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting may cause us to fail to timely and accurately report our financial results or result in a material misstatement of our consolidated
financial statements.”

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business.
Further, additional weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any
failure to develop or maintain effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our results of
operations or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our consolidated financial statements for prior
periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic
management
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evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting that we will eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and
other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to
meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on Nasdaq. We are not currently required to comply with the SEC rules that
implement Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and are therefore not required to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting for that purpose. As a public company, we are required to provide an annual management report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting commencing with our second annual report on Form 10-K.

Changes in existing financial accounting standards or practices may harm our results of operations.

General accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) is subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC and
various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have
a significant effect on our reported financial results and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of a
change. Adoption of such new standards and any difficulties in implementation of changes in accounting principles, including the ability to
modify our accounting systems, could cause us to fail to meet our financial reporting obligations, which could result in regulatory discipline and
harm investors’ confidence in us.

We could be required to pay or collect sales taxes in jurisdictions in which we do not currently do so, with respect to past or future
sales. This could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

In 2018, the Supreme Court of the United States ruled in South Dakota v. Wayfair, Inc. et al. (“Wayfair”), that online sellers can be required
to collect sales tax despite not having a physical presence in the state of the customer. In response to Wayfair, many state and local
government taxing authorities have adopted, or begun to enforce, laws requiring us to calculate, collect and remit taxes on sales in their
jurisdictions. While we collect and remit sales taxes in every state that requires sales taxes to be collected, including states where we do not
have a physical presence, the adoption of new laws by, or a successful assertion by the taxing authorities of, one or more state or local
governments requiring us to collect taxes where we presently do not do so, or to collect more taxes in a jurisdiction in which we currently do
collect some taxes, could result in substantial tax liabilities, including taxes on past sales, as well as penalties and interest. The imposition by
state and local taxing authorities of sales tax collection obligations on out-of-state e-commerce businesses could also create additional
administrative burdens for us, put us at a competitive disadvantage if they do not impose similar obligations on our competitors and decrease
our future sales, which could have an adverse impact on our business and results of operations.

Changes in tax laws or regulations in the various tax jurisdictions we are subject to or adverse application of existing tax laws could
increase our costs and harm our business.

New income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time. Those enactments could
harm our business operations, and our business, results of operations and financial condition. Further, application of income and tax laws is
subject to interpretation and existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied
adversely to us. Although we believe our tax methodologies are compliant, a taxing authority’s final determination in the event of a tax audit
could materially differ from our past or current methods for determining and complying with our tax obligations, including the calculation of our
tax provisions and accruals. These events could require us to pay additional tax amounts on a prospective or retroactive basis, as well as
require us to pay fines and/or penalties and interest for past amounts deemed to be due.
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If we raise our prices to offset the costs of these changes, existing and potential buyers and sellers may elect not to use our marketplace in the
future. Additionally, new, changed, modified or newly interpreted or applied tax laws could increase our compliance, operating and other costs.
Further, these events could decrease the capital we have available to operate our business. Any or all of these events could harm our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

The amount of taxes we pay could increase substantially as a result of changes in the applicable tax principles, including increased tax
rates, new tax laws or revised interpretations of existing tax laws and precedents, which could harm our liquidity and results of operations. In
addition, tax authorities could review our tax returns and impose additional tax, interest and penalties and could claim that various withholding
requirements apply to us or our subsidiaries or assert that benefits of tax treaties are not available to us or our subsidiaries. Taxing authorities
have become more aggressive in their interpretation and enforcement of such laws, rules and regulations over time, as governments are
increasingly focused on ways to increase revenue, which has contributed to an increase in audit activity and stricter enforcement by taxing
authorities. As such, additional taxes or other assessments may be in excess of our current tax reserves or may require us to modify our
business practices to reduce our exposure to additional taxes going forward, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

We have incurred substantial net operating losses (“NOLs”) and generated certain tax credits since inception, which may be used in the
future to offset future tax liabilities. The utilization of NOLs and tax credits may be subject to limitations or expire if not utilized before their
expiration period. Under the rules of Section 382 and Section 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, if a corporation undergoes an
“ownership change,” generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period, the
corporation’s ability to use its NOLs to offset its post-change taxable income or taxes may be limited. The applicable rules generally operate by
focusing on changes in ownership among stockholders considered by the rules as owning, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of the stock of a
company, as well as changes in ownership arising from new issuances of stock by a company. While the Company has experienced an
ownership change since its inception, an immaterial amount of NOL has been limited as of December 31, 2021. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act, as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, the amount of post 2017 NOLs that we are permitted to utilize in
any future taxable year is limited to 80% of our taxable income in such year for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020 and such
NOLs may be carried forward indefinitely. Our NOLs may also be subject to limitations under state law. For example, California recently enacted
legislation suspending the use of NOLs for taxable years 2020, 2021 and 2022 for many taxpayers.

We are an emerging growth company, and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced reporting and disclosure
requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, and, for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may choose to take
advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,”
including:

• not being required to have our independent registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

• reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and annual report on Form 10-K; and

• exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any
golden parachute payments not previously approved.
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We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years following the completion of the IPO. Our status as an emerging growth
company will end as soon as any of the following takes place:

• the last day of the fiscal year in which we have more than $1.07 billion in annual revenue;

• the date we qualify as a “large accelerated filer,” with at least $700 million of equity securities held by non-affiliates;

• the date on which we have issued, in any three-year period, more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities; or

• the last day of the fiscal year ending after the fifth anniversary of the completion of the IPO.

We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on the exemptions afforded emerging
growth companies. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive because we rely on any of these exemptions, there may be
a less active trading market for our Class A common stock and the market price of our Class A common stock may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We have elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting
standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date we (i) are no longer an emerging
growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, our
consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of
public company effective dates.

Risks Relating to Our Indebtedness and Liquidity

We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available or may be available only by
diluting existing stockholders.

Historically, we have funded our operations and capital expenditures primarily through equity issuances, debt and cash generated from our
operations. Although we currently anticipate that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations, and amounts available
under our loan and security agreement with Western Alliance Bank will be sufficient to meet our cash needs for the foreseeable future, we may
require additional financing, and we may not be able to obtain debt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at all. If we raise equity financing to
fund operations or on an opportunistic basis, our stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests. Our loan and
security agreement restricts our ability to incur additional indebtedness, requires us to maintain certain financial covenants and restricts our
ability to pay dividends. If we conduct additional debt financing, the terms of such debt financing may be similar or more restrictive. If we need
additional capital and cannot raise it on acceptable terms, or at all, we may not be able to, among other things:

• develop our marketplace services;

• expand our categories of secondhand and resale goods;

• enhance our operating infrastructure; and

• expand the markets in which we operate and potentially acquire complementary businesses and technologies.
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Our loan and security agreement provides our lender with a first-priority lien against substantially all of our assets and contains
financial covenants and other restrictions on our actions that may limit our operational flexibility or otherwise adversely affect our
results of operations.

We are party to an amended and restated loan and security agreement with Western Alliance Bank, which contains a number of covenants
that restrict our and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, materially change our business, convey, sell,
lease, transfer or dispose of the business or our property, except under certain circumstances, merge or consolidate with other companies or
acquire other companies, create or incur liens, pay any dividends on our Class A common stock, make certain investments and engage in
certain other activities. We are also required to maintain financial covenants, including minimum cash and liquidity requirements, a debt service
requirement and quarterly and annual minimum net revenue and revenue growth thresholds. The terms of our loan and security agreement may
restrict our current and future operations and could adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or to execute
business strategies in the means or manner desired. In addition, complying with these covenants may make it more difficult for us to
successfully execute our business strategy, invest in our growth strategy and compete against companies who are not subject to such
restrictions.

While we were in compliance with debt covenants as of December 31, 2021, we may not be able to maintain compliance with the covenants
in the future. A failure by us to comply with the covenants or payment requirements specified in the loan and security agreement could result in
an event of default under the agreement, which would give the lender the right to terminate its commitments to provide loans under our loan and
security agreement and to declare any and all borrowings outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be immediately
due and payable. In addition, the lender would have the right to proceed against the collateral in which we granted a security interest to them,
which consists of substantially all our assets. If the debt under our loan and security agreement were to be accelerated, we may not have
sufficient cash or be able to borrow sufficient funds to refinance the debt or sell sufficient assets to repay the debt, which could adversely affect
our cash flows, business, results of operations and financial condition. Further, the terms of any new or additional financing may be on terms
that are more restrictive or on terms that are less desirable to us.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance. You may
lose all or part of your investment.

Prior to our IPO, there was no public market for shares of our Class A common stock. The market prices of the securities of other newly
public companies have historically been highly volatile. The market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to
numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

• overall performance of the equity markets and/or publicly-listed technology and retail companies;

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our revenue or other operating metrics;

• our actual or anticipated operating performance and the operating performance of our competitors;

• changes in the financial projections we provide to the public or our failure to meet those projections;

• failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow
our company or our failure to meet the estimates or the expectations of investors;

• the international economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry;
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• rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant innovations, new services, features or capabilities, acquisitions, strategic
partnerships or investments, joint ventures or capital commitments;

• new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business, including those related to data
privacy and cyber security;

• actual or perceived data privacy and cybersecurity incidents impacting us or others in our industry;

• lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

• any major change in our board of directors, management or key personnel;

• costs and timing of expenses related to the acquisition of businesses, talent, technologies or intellectual property, including potentially
significant amortization costs and possible write-downs;

• other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, pandemics (including the COVID-19 pandemic),
elections or responses to these events;

• whether investors or securities analysts view our stock structure unfavorably, particularly our dual-class structure and the significant
voting control of our executive officers, directors and their affiliates; and

• sales of additional shares of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders.

In addition, stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of
equity securities of many companies. Often, stock prices of many companies have fluctuated in ways unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have filed securities class action litigation following periods of market
volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of
management from our business and harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Moreover, because of these fluctuations, comparing our results of operations on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You
should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance. This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing
to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or investors for any period. If our revenue or results of operations fall below the
expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may provide to the market, or if the forecasts we provide to the market are
below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our Class A common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline
could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated revenue or earnings forecasts that we may provide.

The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our
capital stock prior to our IPO, including our directors, executive officers and their respective affiliates. This ownership will limit or
preclude your ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational
documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transactions
requiring stockholder approval, and that may depress the trading price of our Class A common stock.

Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. As of December 31, 2021, the
holders of shares of our Class B common stock collectively owned shares representing approximately 87.6% of the voting power of our
outstanding capital stock, and our directors, executive officers and their affiliates beneficially owned in the aggregate 76.7% of the voting
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power of our capital stock. Because of the ten-to-one voting ratio between our Class B and Class A common stock, the holders of our Class B
common stock collectively could continue to control a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock and therefore be able to
control all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval until March 30, 2028, when all outstanding shares of Class A common stock and
Class B common stock will convert automatically into shares of a single class of common stock. This concentrated control may limit or preclude
your ability to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational
documents and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions requiring
stockholder approval. In addition, this concentrated control may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our capital
stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.

Future transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to
limited exceptions, such as certain transfers effected for estate planning purposes. In addition, if our co-founder and Chief Executive Officer
James Reinhart is terminated or resigns from his position as our Chief Executive Officer, then his shares of Class B common stock will
automatically convert into shares of Class A common stock. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the
effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term. As a
result, it is possible that one or more of the persons or entities holding our Class B common stock could gain significant voting control as other
holders of Class B common stock sell or otherwise convert their shares into Class A common stock.

We cannot predict the effect our dual-class structure may have on the market price of our Class A common stock.

We cannot determine whether our dual-class structure has resulted in or will result in a lower or more volatile market price of our Class A
common stock, adverse publicity or other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have announced and implemented
restrictions on including companies with multiple-class share structures in certain of their indices. In July 2017, FTSE Russell announced that it
would require new constituents of its indices to have greater than 5% of the Company’s voting rights in the hands of public stockholders, and
S&P Dow Jones announced that it would no longer admit companies with multiple-class share structures to certain of its indices. Affected
indices include the Russell 2000 and the S&P 500, S&P MidCap 400 and S&P SmallCap 600, which together make up the S&P Composite
1500. Also in 2017, MSCI, a leading stock index provider, opened public consultations on their treatment of no-vote and multi-class structures
and temporarily barred new multi-class listings from certain of its indices; however, in October 2018, MSCI announced its decision to include
equity securities “with unequal voting structures” in its indices and to launch a new index that specifically includes voting rights in its eligibility
criteria. Under such announced and implemented policies, the dual-class structure of our common stock would make us ineligible for inclusion
in certain indices and, as a result, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds and other investment vehicles that attempt to passively track those
indices would not invest in our Class A common stock. These policies are relatively new and it is unclear what effect, if any, they will have on
the valuations of publicly-traded companies excluded from such indices, but it is possible that they may depress valuations, as compared to
similar companies that are included. Due to the dual-class structure of our common stock, we will likely be excluded from certain indices and we
cannot assure you that other stock indices will not take similar actions. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into passive strategies that
seek to track certain indices, exclusion from certain stock indices would likely preclude investment by many of these funds and could make our
Class A common stock less attractive to other investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about
our business, the price of our Class A common stock and trading volume could be adversely affected.

The trading market for our Class A common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish
about us or our business. If few securities analysts provide coverage of us, or if industry analysts cease coverage of us, the trading price for our
Class A common stock would be negatively affected. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Class A common stock or
publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business or our market, our Class A common stock price would likely decline. If one or
more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us on a regular basis, demand for our Class A common stock could
decrease, which might cause our Class A common stock price and trading volume to decline.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public markets, or the perception that sales might occur, could
cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock into the public market, particularly sales by our directors, executive
officers and principal stockholders, or the perception that these sales might occur, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to
decline. As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding a total of 57,779,180 shares of Class A common stock and 40,655,558 shares of
Class B common stock.

Sales of a substantial number of shares or the perception that such sales may occur could cause our market price to fall or make it more
difficult for you to sell your Class A common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate. Shares held by directors, executive officers
and other affiliates will also be subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act and various vesting agreements.

As of December 31, 2021, we had 19,439,622 options outstanding that, if fully exercised, would result in the issuance of shares of Class B
common stock, as well as 1,270,965 shares of Class A common stock subject to RSU awards. All of the shares of common stock issuable upon
the exercise of stock options and the shares reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans have been registered for public resale
under the Securities Act. Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to existing lock-up
or market standoff agreements, volume limitations under Rule 144 for our executive officers and directors and applicable vesting requirements.

In addition, certain holders of our common stock have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements for the
public resale of the Class A common stock issuable upon conversion of such shares or to include such shares in registration statements that we
may file for us or other stockholders. Any registration statement we file to register additional shares, whether as a result of registration rights or
otherwise, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline or be volatile.

Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our stock incentive plans or
otherwise will dilute all other stockholders.

We expect to issue additional capital stock in the future that will result in dilution to all other stockholders. We expect to grant equity awards
to employees, directors, contractors and consultants under our stock incentive plans. We may also raise capital through equity financings in the
future. As part of our business strategy, we may acquire or make investments in complementary companies, products or technologies and issue
equity securities to pay for any such acquisition or investment. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to
experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of our Class A common stock to decline.

42



Table of Contents

We do not intend to pay dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future and, consequently, the ability of Class A
common stockholders to achieve a return on investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our Class A common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain any earnings to finance the operation and
expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Further, our ability to pay dividends on
our capital stock is subject to restrictions under the terms of our loan and security agreement with Western Alliance Bank. Any determination to
pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their Class A common
stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, limit attempts
by our stockholders to replace or remove our current board of directors and limit the market price of our Class A common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could depress the trading price of our
Class A common stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change of control or changes in our management that the stockholders of
our company may deem advantageous. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include
provisions that:

• provide that our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms;

• permit our board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly-created directorships;

• require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws;

• authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;

• provide that only the Chairperson of our board of directors, our Chief Executive Officer, President or a majority of our board of directors
is authorized to call a special meeting of stockholders;

• provide for a dual-class common stock structure in which holders of our Class B common stock have the ability to control the outcome
of matters requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the outstanding shares of our Class A
and Class B common stock, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of
our company or its assets;

• prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

• provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to approve, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

• advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

Moreover, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company.
Section 203 imposes certain restrictions on mergers, business combinations and other transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of
our common stock.
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Our amended and restated bylaws designate specific state or federal courts located as the exclusive forum for certain litigation that
may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any state law claims for:

• any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;

• any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our
stockholders;

• any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; or

• any action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine (the “Delaware Forum Provision”).

The Delaware Forum Provision does not apply to any causes of action arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. Further, our
amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the
United States will be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act (the
“Federal Forum Provision”). In addition, our amended and restated bylaws provide that any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring
any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the Delaware Forum Provision and the Federal Forum
Provision; provided, however, that stockholders cannot and will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the United States federal
securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

The Delaware Forum Provision and the Federal Forum Provision in our amended and restated bylaws may impose additional litigation costs
on stockholders in pursuing any such claims. Additionally, these forum selection clauses may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in a
judicial forum that they find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees, which may discourage the filing of lawsuits
against us and our directors, officers and employees, even though an action, if successful, might benefit our stockholders. In addition, while the
Delaware Supreme Court ruled in March 2020 that federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities Act be
brought in federal court are “facially valid” under Delaware law, there is uncertainty as to whether other courts will enforce our Federal Forum
Provision. If the Federal Forum Provision is found to be unenforceable, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters.
The Federal Forum Provision may also impose additional litigation costs on stockholders who assert that the provision is not enforceable or
invalid. The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States may also reach different judgments
or results than would other courts, including courts where a stockholder considering an action may be located or would otherwise choose to
bring the action, and such judgments may be more or less favorable to us than our stockholders.

General Risks

We depend on our executive officers and other key technical, operational and sales employees and contractors, and the loss of one
or more of these employees or contractors or an inability to attract and retain other highly skilled employees or contractors could
harm our business.

Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key technical, operational and sales
employees and contractors. From time to time, there may be changes in our executive management team resulting from the hiring or departure
of executives, which could disrupt our business. We do not have employment agreements with our executive officers or other key personnel that
require them to continue to work for us for any specified period and, therefore, they could terminate
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their employment with us at any time. The loss of one or more of our executive officers, especially our founder and Chief Executive Officer, or
other executive officers or key technical, operational and sales employees and contractors could harm our business. In addition, our future
success will depend upon our ability to hire for key functions, such as engineering, data science and marketing, as well as distribution center
employees. Such efforts will require significant time, expense and attention. Furthermore, oftentimes newly hired employees require significant
training and time before they achieve full productivity.

Volatility or lack of appreciation in the stock price of our Class A common stock may also affect our ability to attract and retain our executive
officers and key technical, operational and sales employees and contractors. Many of our senior personnel and other key technical, operational
and sales employees and contractors have become, or will soon become, vested in a substantial amount of stock or stock options. Employees
and contractors may be more likely to leave us if the shares they own or the shares underlying their vested options have significantly
appreciated in value relative to the original purchase price of the shares or the exercise price of the options, or conversely, if the exercise price
of the options that they hold are significantly above the market price of our Class A common stock. If we do not maintain and continue to
develop our corporate culture as we grow and evolve, it could harm our ability to foster the innovation, craftsmanship, teamwork, curiosity and
diversity that we believe we need to support our continued growth.

In addition, due to the financial risks presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented a variety of cost cutting initiatives and may
need to implement additional cost cutting initiatives that may adversely affect our executive team, employees, contractors and business. For
example, in April 2020, we reduced salaries by 20% for the vast majority of corporate employees, whose full salaries were restored in January
2021, and in June 2020, we laid off the staff at our three retail stores and permanently closed our retail stores during 2020. These measures
may cause or result in disruption of our business, challenges in hiring critical employees and contractors and retaining key technical, operational
and sales employees and contractors. Further, as some of our contractors are information technology specialists in Ukraine, political turmoil,
warfare, or terrorist attacks in Ukraine could negatively affect our contractors and our business.

Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the global economy, could limit our ability to grow our business and negatively affect our
results of operations.

Our results of operations may vary based on the impact of changes in our industry or the global economy on us or our customers. The
revenue growth and potential profitability of our business depend on demand for our platform and our ability to hire and retain personnel,
including employees and international contractors. Current or future economic uncertainties or downturns could adversely affect our business
and results of operations. Negative conditions in the global economy or individual markets, including changes in gross domestic product growth,
financial and credit market fluctuations, inflation, political turmoil, natural catastrophes, warfare and terrorist attacks on the United States and in
the European region or elsewhere, could cause a decrease in business investments, an increase in IT spending and may negatively affect our
business.

In particular, given our investment in our software development capabilities in Ukraine, political turmoil, warfare, or terrorist attacks in
Ukraine could negatively affect our business. Political and military events in Ukraine, including the 2022 Russian invasion of Ukraine, as well as
ongoing tensions and intermittent warfare between Ukraine and Russia since the 2014 Russian annexation of Crimea, challenging relations
between the United States. and its allies, and Russia, and sanctions by the United States and the EU against Russia may also have an adverse
impact on our ability to grow our business and negatively affect our results of operations. We cannot predict the timing, strength, or duration of
any economic slowdown, instability or recovery, generally or within any particular industry. If the conflict in the
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Ukraine persists and our Ukrainian personnel are unable to work as a result, our results of our operations and our financial condition could be
adversely affected.

Use of social media, emails and text messages may adversely impact our reputation or subject us to fines or other penalties.

We use social media, emails, push notifications and, in the future, will use text messages as part of our omni-channel approach to
marketing. As laws and regulations evolve to govern the use of these channels, the failure by us, our employees or third parties acting at our
direction to comply with applicable laws and regulations in the use of these channels could adversely affect our reputation or subject us to fines
or other penalties. In addition, our employees or third parties acting at our direction may knowingly or inadvertently make use of social media in
ways that could lead to the loss or infringement of intellectual property, as well as the public disclosure of proprietary, confidential or sensitive
personal information of our business, employees, buyers or others. Information concerning us, our buyers, our sellers and the brands available
on our marketplace, whether accurate or not, may be posted on social media platforms at any time and may have an adverse impact on our
brand, reputation or business. Any such harm may be immediate without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction and could have an
adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Most members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly-traded company, interacting with public company
investors and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or
efficiently manage our transition to being a public company that is subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the
federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents require
significant attention from our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which
could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our ability to attract
and retain executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing standards of Nasdaq and other
applicable securities rules and regulations. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal,
accounting and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming and costly, and place significant strain on our
personnel, systems and resources. For example, the Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly and current
reports with respect to our business and results of operations. As a result of the complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations
applicable to public companies, our management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business,
results of operations and financial condition. Although we have already hired additional employees to assist us in complying with these
requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside consultants, which will increase our operating expenses.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for
public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations
and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice
may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies, which could result in continuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest substantial
resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from business operations to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with
new laws, regulations and standards differ
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from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities
may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.

We also expect that being a public company and being subject to these new rules and regulations will make it more expensive for us to
obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain
coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to
serve on our audit committee and compensation committee, and qualified executive officers.

As a result of disclosure of information required of a public company in filings, our business and financial condition are more visible, which
may result in an increased risk of threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful,
our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in
our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and harm our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Item 1B.   Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not Applicable.

Item 2.   Properties.

Our corporate headquarters is located in Oakland, California, where we currently lease approximately 24,000 square feet pursuant to a
lease agreement that expires in September 2024. We also lease additional corporate facilities in Scottsdale, Arizona and Sofia, Bulgaria.

We lease and operate four distribution centers, in Arizona, Georgia, Pennsylvania and Bulgaria, at which we receive and process primarily
secondhand and resale items from sellers, ship purchases to buyers and receive and process any returns from buyers. We are currently
building out another distribution center in Texas and, in 2022, have opened two cleanout kit processing centers located in Texas and
Tennessee. Our distribution center operations in Bulgaria will be gradually transferred to a new larger distribution center commencing in 2022 to
support growth potential in existing and new markets within Europe.

We believe that our facilities are suitable to meet our current needs. We intend to expand our facilities or add new facilities as we grow, and
we believe that suitable additional or alternative space will be available as needed to accommodate any such growth.

Item 3.   Legal Proceedings.

We are not a party to any material pending legal proceedings. From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims arising
in the ordinary course of business.

Item 4.   Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.   Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our Class A common stock, is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “TDUP” and began trading on March 26, 2021.
Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our Class A common stock. There is no public trading market for our Class B common
stock.

Holders of Record

As of the close of business on March 14, 2022, there were 75 holders of record of our Class A common stock and 33 holders of record of
our Class B common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are
beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers or other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not
include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if
any, to fund the development and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any
future determination regarding the declaration and payment of cash dividends, if any, will be made at the discretion of our board of directors,
subject to applicable laws, and will depend on then-existing conditions, including our financial condition, results of operations, contractual
restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay
cash dividends on our capital stock is limited by the terms of our existing term loans and may be limited by any future debt instruments or
preferred securities.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

See Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” for information
regarding securities authorized for issuance.

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings
under the Securities Act.

We have presented below the cumulative total return to our stockholders in comparison to the Standard and Poor’s Retail Select Index
(S&P Retail Select Industry) and Nasdaq Composite Index (Nasdaq Composite). All values assume a $100 initial investment on March 26,
2021, the date our Class A common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, through December 31, 2021 and data for the
S&P Retail Select Industry and Nasdaq Composite over the same period assume reinvestment of dividends. The graph uses the closing market
price on March 26, 2021 of $20.00 per share as the initial value of our Class A common stock. The comparisons are based on historical data
and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, the future performance of our Class A common stock.
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

None.

Use of Proceeds from our Public Offerings

On March 30, 2021, we closed our IPO, in which we sold 13,800,000 shares of our Class A common stock at an offering price of $14.00 per
share, including 1,800,000 shares pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares of our Class A common
stock, resulting in net proceeds to us of $175.5 million after deducting offering costs, underwriting discounts and commissions of $17.7 million.
All of the shares offered, issued and sold in our IPO were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-253834), which was declared effective by the SEC on March 25, 2021. There has been no material change in the planned use of
proceeds from the IPO as disclosed in the Prospectus.

On August 2, 2021, the Company issued and sold 2,000,000 shares of Class A common stock at a price of $24.25 per share in a registered
public offering. The aggregate net proceeds were $45.5 million, after deducting $3.3 million of underwriting discounts and commissions and
offering costs. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from the registered public offering completed in August 2021.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.     

None.
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Item 6.

Not Applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion contains
forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the
forward-looking statements. You should review the section titled “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for a discussion of
forward-looking statements and the section titled “Risk Factors” for a discussion of factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis. Our historical
results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the future, and our interim results are not necessarily
indicative of the results we expect for the full calendar year or any other period.

A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020 is presented below. A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December
31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019 is included under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” in our final prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) on March 26, 2021 (“Prospectus”).
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Overview

thredUP is one of the world’s largest online resale platforms for women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories. Our mission is to inspire
a new generation of consumers to think secondhand first. We believe in a sustainable fashion future and we are proud that our business model
creates a positive impact to the benefit of our buyers, sellers, clients, employees, investors and the environment. Our custom-built operating
platform consists of distributed processing infrastructure, proprietary software and systems and data science expertise. This platform is
powering the rapidly emerging resale economy, one of the fastest growing sectors in retail, according to a GlobalData market survey conducted
in April 2021.

thredUP’s proprietary operating platform is the foundation for our managed marketplace, where we have bridged online and offline
technology to make the buying and selling of tens of millions of unique items easy and fun. The marketplace we have built enables buyers to
browse and purchase resale items for women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories across a wide range of price points. Buyers love
shopping value, premium and luxury brands all in one place, at up to 90% off estimated retail price. Sellers love thredUP because we make it
easy to clean out their closets and unlock value for themselves or for the charity of their choice while doing good for the planet. Sellers order a
Clean Out Kit, fill it and return it to us using our prepaid label. We take it from there and do the work to make those items available for resale. In
2018, based on our success with consumers directly, we extended our platform to enable brands and retailers to participate in the resale
economy. A number of the world’s leading brands and retailers are already taking advantage of our RaaS offering. In October 2021, we closed
the acquisition of Remix, a fashion resale company headquartered in Sofia, Bulgaria, which further expands our reach to the European
customer. With this acquisition, we added a complementary operational infrastructure and an experienced management team to enable our
expansion into Europe.

Recent Business Developments

Initial and Follow-on Public Offering

Historically, we have financed our operations primarily through private sales of equity securities and debt. Our registration statement related
to the initial public offering (the “IPO”) was declared effective on March 25, 2021 by the SEC, and our Class A common stock began trading on
the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) on March 26, 2021. Upon the completion of our IPO, we sold 13.8 million shares of Class A
common stock at a price to the public of $14.00 per share. We received aggregate net proceeds of $175.5 million after deducting offering costs,
underwriting discounts and commissions of $17.7 million.

On August 2, 2021, we issued and sold an aggregate of two million shares of Class A common stock at a price of $24.25 per share in a
registered public offering. The aggregate net proceeds were approximately $45.5 million, after deducting offering costs of $1.1 million and
underwriting discounts and commissions of $2.2 million.

Acquisition of Remix Global AD

On July 24, 2021, we entered into Share Purchase Agreements (collectively, the “Share Purchase Agreement”), with the shareholders of
Remix to purchase 100% of the outstanding equity interests of Remix and its subsidiary (the “Remix Acquisition”). On October 7, 2021, we
completed our acquisition of Remix and paid approximately $7.2 million in cash to shareholders of Remix and its subsidiary, and $12.1 million in
cash to pay off Remix’s outstanding term loan. Shortly after the completion of Remix Acquisition, we paid on behalf of Remix approximately
$6.2 million in cash for its outstanding tax and other liabilities. Subject to customary purchase price adjustments, we will issue 130,597 shares
of our Class A common stock 18 months following the completion of the Remix Acquisition to four shareholders of Remix.
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COVID-19 Impact

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus was first identified, and in March 2020, the World Health Organization categorized COVID-
19 as a pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted businesses worldwide and has impacted aspects of our business and
operations.

In March 2020, we shifted all of our corporate employees and contract engineers to a remote work model and implemented additional
measures to better enable remote work. As of December 31, 2021, our remote work model remains largely in place.

Financial Impact

In the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we saw increased demand, which we believe was partly related to COVID-19 recovery
and re-opening efforts such as the vaccine roll out, easing of social distancing restrictions and federal stimulus legislation. We also saw
increased operating expenses due to the additional labor costs associated with increased processing to support the demand experienced to
date and in anticipation of accelerating demand.

Impact on Processing at our Distribution Centers

We still face challenges in hiring and retaining employees and have implemented compensation and benefits programs to enhance hiring
and retention, which has contributed to higher Cost of Revenue and higher Operations, Product and Technology expenses. These programs are
primarily aimed at mitigating the macro trend of increased competition for labor, including seasonal employment opportunities.

We have been monitoring and continue to monitor the varied impact of COVID-19 on our business and operations. In the twelve months
ended December 31, 2021, we saw increased demand from the prior year, which we believe was partly related to COVID-19 recovery and re-
opening efforts such as the vaccine roll out, easing of social distancing restrictions and federal stimulus legislation. More broadly however, we
expect the evolving COVID-19 pandemic to continue to have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition,
including our revenue and cash flows, for at least the first part of 2022. For instance, a slowdown or further uncertainty in the United States
economy may result in additional changes in buyer and seller behavior, which could cause either a potential reduction in discretionary spending
on our marketplace or increased activity on our marketplace as customers look for high-value, lower-priced alternatives. In particular, following
the stimulus package in March 2021, we experienced a brief increase in Orders followed by a return to expected Orders activity. Additionally,
future developments, such as new information which may emerge concerning COVID-19, the new COVID-19 strains (e.g., delta and omicron
variants), and the actions to contain the coronavirus or treat its impact, could have an adverse impact to our business. Due to the unknown
duration and unprecedented impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the range of national, state and local responses thereto, the related
financial impact on our business could change and cannot be accurately predicted at this time. See the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to our Business and Industry—The global COVID-19 pandemic has had and may continue to have an adverse impact on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.”
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Overview of 2021 Results

Revenue: Total revenue was a record at $251.8 million, an increase of 35% year-over-year.

Gross Profit and Margin: Gross profit totaled $178.1 million representing growth of 39% year-over-year. Gross margin expanded by 185
basis points to 71% from 69% last year.

Net Loss: GAAP net loss was $63.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing a 32% increase from the GAAP net loss
of $47.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Adjusted EBITDA: Adjusted EBITDA loss was $36.5 million, a negative 14% of revenue, compared to Adjusted EBITDA loss of
$33.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, a negative 18% of 2020 revenue.

Active Buyers and Orders: Total 2021 Active Buyers of 1.69 million and Orders of 5.3 million grew 36% and 34%, respectively, compared
to 2020.

Key Financial and Operating Metrics

We review a number of operating and financial metrics, including the following key business and non-GAAP metrics to evaluate our
business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, formulate business plans and make strategic decisions. These key
financial and operating metrics are set forth below for the periods presented.

Year Ended December 31, % Change
2021 2020 2019 2021 vs 2020 2020 vs 2019

(in thousands)
Active Buyers (as of period end) 1,691 1,240 997 36 % 24 %
Orders 5,328 3,965 3,134 34 % 27 %
Net loss $ (63,176) $ (47,877) $ (38,197) 32 % 25 %
Net loss margin (25)% (26)% (23)% 1 % (3)%
Adjusted EBITDA loss $ (36,506) $ (33,398) $ (24,343) 9 % 37 %
Adjusted EBITDA margin (14)% (18)% (15)% 4 % (3)%

(1) See below for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss.

Active Buyers

An Active Buyer is a thredUP buyer who has made at least one purchase in the last twelve months. A thredUP buyer is a customer who has
created an account in our marketplace. A thredUP buyer is identified by a unique email address and a single person could have multiple
thredUP accounts and count as multiple Active Buyers. The number of Active Buyers is a key driver of revenue for our marketplace and we
expect the number of Active Buyers to increase over time.

Orders

Orders means the total number of orders placed by buyers across our marketplace, including through our RaaS clients, in a given period,
net of cancellations. We expect Orders to increase over time.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA means net loss adjusted to exclude, where applicable in a given period, depreciation and amortization, stock-based
compensation expense, acquisition and offering related expenses, interest expense, change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant
liability, loss on extinguishment of debt, and provision for income taxes. We use Adjusted EBITDA, a Non-GAAP metric,

(1)
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to evaluate and assess our operating performance and the operating leverage in our business, and for internal planning and forecasting
purposes. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA, when taken collectively with our GAAP results, may be helpful to investors because it provides
consistency and comparability with past financial performance and assists in comparisons with other companies, some of which use similar
non-GAAP financial information to supplement their GAAP results.

The following table provides a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation:
GAAP Net loss $ (63,176) $ (47,877) $ (38,197)

Depreciation and amortization 9,155 5,581 4,274 
Stock-based compensation expense 12,959 7,336 7,678 
Acquisition and offering related expenses 1,271 — — 
Interest expense 2,275 1,305 1,428 
Change in fair value of convertible preferred
stock warrant liability 930 201 6 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — 432 
Provision for income taxes 80 56 36 

Non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA $ (36,506) $ (33,398) $ (24,343)

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

Our revenue is comprised of consignment revenue and product revenue.

Consignment revenue

We generate consignment revenue from the sale of secondhand women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories on behalf of sellers.
We recognize consignment revenue, net of seller payouts, discounts, incentives and returns. We expect consignment revenue to continue to
increase as we increase our Active Buyers and Orders and grow our business.

Product revenue

We also generate product revenue from the sale of items that we own, which we refer to as our inventory. While we shifted our business to
primarily consignment sales in mid-2019, historically, we purchased most of our inventory from our sellers prior to inclusion on our online
marketplace. The sales from our newly acquired European operations are primarily from sale of owned items. We recognize product revenue,
net of discounts, incentives and returns. We expect product revenue to increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of total revenue in the
near term as we continue to grow our international business. We expect the percentage share of product revenue to decrease in the long term
as we introduce the consignment model to our European operations.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of consignment revenue

Cost of consignment revenue consists of outbound shipping, outbound labor and packaging costs. We expect cost of consignment revenue
to decrease and gross margin to increase as a percentage of total consignment revenue as we continue to scale our business due to our ability
to drive leverage in shipping, labor and packaging.

Cost of product revenue

Cost of product revenue mainly consists of inventory cost, inbound shipping related to the sold merchandise, outbound shipping, outbound
labor, packaging costs and inventory write-downs. We expect cost of product revenue to increase in absolute dollars and decrease as a
percentage of total revenue, leading to an increase in gross margin. We expect further gross margin to increase as we continue to scale our
business due to our ability to drive leverage in shipping, labor and packaging.

Operating Expenses

Operations, Product and Technology

Operations, product and technology expenses consist primarily of distribution center operating costs and product and technology expenses.
Distribution center operating costs mainly include inbound shipping costs, other than those capitalized in inventory, as well as personnel costs,
distribution center rent, maintenance and depreciation of equipment and leasehold improvements. Product and technology costs include
personnel costs for the design and development of product and the related technology that is used to operate our distribution centers,
merchandise science, website development and related expenses for these departments. Operations, product and technology expenses also
include an allocation of corporate facilities and information technology costs such as equipment, depreciation and rent. We expect operations,
product and technology expenses to increase in absolute dollars in future periods to support our growth, especially as costs to increase our
supply (inbound costs) are generally incurred prior to the expected revenue growth. Additionally, we expect to bring on additional distribution
centers and continue investing in automation and other technology improvements to support and drive efficiency in our operations. These
expenses may vary from period to period as a percentage of revenue, depending primarily upon when we choose to make more significant
investments, including business acquisitions. We expect these expenses to increase in absolute dollars and decrease as a percentage of
revenue over the longer term due to better leverage in our operations.

Marketing

Marketing expense consists primarily of advertising, public relations expenditures and personnel costs for employees engaged in marketing.
Marketing costs also include an allocation of corporate facilities and information technology costs such as equipment, depreciation and rent. We
expect our marketing expenses to fluctuate as a percentage of revenue as we intend to increase marketing spend to drive the growth of our
business.

Sales, General and Administrative

Sales, general and administrative expense consists of personnel costs for employees involved in general corporate functions, including
accounting, finance, tax, legal and people services, customer service, and retail stores. Sales, general and administrative also includes
payment processing fees, professional fees and allocation of corporate facilities and information technology costs such as equipment,
depreciation and rent. We expect to increase sales, general and administrative expense as we grow our infrastructure to support operating as a
public company and the overall growth in our business. While these expenses may vary from period to period as a percentage of revenue, we
expect them to increase in absolute dollars and decrease as a percentage of revenue over the longer term.
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Interest expense

In 2019, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Western Alliance Bank. As of December 31, 2021, we had borrowed $40.0
million under our loan and security agreement, with $36.0 million principal outstanding. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, we recorded $2.3 million, $1.3 million and $1.4 million of interest expense, respectively.

Other income, net

Other income, net for the year ended December 31, 2021 is primarily comprised of claim proceeds for lost shipments, offset by change in
preferred stock warrants. Other income, net for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was immaterial.

Results of Operations

The results of operations presented below should be reviewed in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Revenue: (in thousands, except per share data)
Consignment $ 186,114 $ 138,096 $ 97,763 
Product 65,678 47,919 66,049 
Total revenue 251,792 186,015 163,812 

Cost of revenue:
Consignment 41,856 34,184 22,764 
Product 31,804 23,683 28,544 
Total cost of revenue 73,660 57,867 51,308 
Gross profit 178,132 128,148 112,504 

Operating expenses:
Operations, product and technology 128,079 101,408 82,078 
Marketing 63,625 44,765 44,980 
Sales, general and administrative 48,814 28,564 22,253 
Total operating expenses 240,518 174,737 149,311 
Operating loss (62,386) (46,589) (36,807)

Interest expense (2,275) (1,305) (1,428)
Other income, net 1,565 73 74 

Loss before provision for income taxes (63,096) (47,821) (38,161)
Provision for income taxes 80 56 36 

Net loss $ (63,176) $ (47,877) $ (38,197)
Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted $ (0.82) $ (4.14) $ (3.72)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss
per share attributable to common stockholders, basic
and diluted 77,092 11,565 10,265
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Revenue

Year Ended December 31, Change

2021 2020 Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)

Consignment revenue $ 186,114 $ 138,096 $ 48,018 35 %
Product revenue 65,678 47,919 17,759 37 %

Total revenue $ 251,792 $ 186,015 $ 65,777 35 %

Consignment revenue as a % of total revenue 74 % 74 %
Product revenue as a % of total revenue 26 % 26 %

The $65.8 million increase in total revenue represents a 35% increase in total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily attributable to a 34% increase in Orders and a 1% increase in
revenue per Order over the same period. The 34% increase in Orders was primarily driven by growth in Active Buyers of 36% over the same
period mainly due to our increased marketing and advertising efforts and our expansion into Europe through the acquisition of Remix.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of consignment revenue $ 41,856 $ 34,184 $ 7,672 22 %
Cost of product revenue 31,804 23,683 8,121 34 %

Total cost of revenue $ 73,660 $ 57,867 $ 15,793 27 %

Gross profit $ 178,132 $ 128,148 
Gross profit margin 71 % 69 %
Cost of revenue as a % of total revenue 29 % 31 %
Cost of consignment revenue as a % of total cost of revenue 57 % 59 %
Cost of product revenue as a % of total cost of revenue 43 % 41 %

Total cost of revenue as a percentage of total revenue was 29% for the year ended December 31, 2021, a decrease of 200 basis points
from 31% for the year ended December 31, 2020. This increase in gross profit margin was primarily attributable to an increase in revenue and
efficiencies in our shipping process. However, we do expect cost of revenue to increase in absolute dollars and the resulting gross margin to
decrease due to growth in the sales of our European operations, which are primarily product sales.

Consignment sales result in higher gross profit margin than product sales because revenue for consignment sales is recognized net of
seller payouts, whereas, for product sales, seller payouts are recognized as a component of cost of revenue, leading to different gross margin
profiles between consignment sales and product sales.
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Cost of Consignment Revenue

Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of consignment revenue $ 41,856 $ 34,184 $ 7,672 22 %
As a percent of consignment revenue 22 % 25 %
Consignment gross margin 78 % 75 %

The $7.7 million increase in cost of consignment revenue represents a 22% increase in the cost of consignment revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

The increase in cost of consignment revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by higher consignment revenue
and related costs outlined in the below table. Consignment gross margin increased 300 basis points to 78% for the year ended December 31,
2021. Consignment revenue growth outpaced the increase in outbound shipping and packaging costs due to increased revenue per order and
efficiencies in our shipping process.

Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Outbound shipping $ 30,255 $ 24,593 $ 5,662 23 %
Direct labor 8,473 6,962 1,511 22 %
Packaging 2,514 2,259 255 11 %
Other 614 370 244 66 %
Total cost of consignment revenue $ 41,856 $ 34,184 $ 7,672 22 %

Cost of Product Revenue

Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of product revenue $ 31,804 $ 23,683 $ 8,121 34 %
As a percent of product revenue 48 % 49 %
Product gross margin 52 % 51 %

The $8.1 million increase in cost of product revenue represents a 34% increase in the cost of product revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

The increase in cost of product revenue in the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by higher product revenue and related
costs outlined in the below table. Product gross margin increased 100 basis points to 52% for the year ended December 31, 2021. We expect
cost of product revenue to increase in absolute dollar value and the resulting gross margin to decrease due to growth in the sales of our
European operations, which are primarily product sales.
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Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Inventory costs $ 20,707 $ 13,036 $ 7,671 59 %
Outbound shipping 8,317 7,730 587 8 %
Direct labor 2,113 2,169 (56) (3)%
Packaging 667 748 (81) (11)%
Total cost of product revenue $ 31,804 $ 23,683 $ 8,121 34 %

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Operations, product and technology $ 128,079 $ 101,408 $ 26,671 26 
Marketing 63,625 44,765 18,860 42 
Sales, general and administrative 48,814 28,564 20,250 71 

Total Total operating expenses $ 240,518 $ 174,737 $ 65,781 38 
Operations, product and technology as a % of

total revenue 51 % 55 %
Marketing as a % of total revenue 25 % 24 %
Sales, general and administrative as a % of

total revenue 19 % 15 %

Operating expenses increased $65.8 million, or 38%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31,
2020. Gross profit increased $50.0 million, or 39%, in the same period.

Operating expenses increased as we continue to invest in the expansion of distribution center processing capacity, marketing efforts, and
infrastructure to support being a public company, and expansion into Europe through the acquisition of Remix.

Results by operating expenses line item are discussed below.
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Operations, Product and Technology

Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Personnel-related costs $ 82,896 $ 60,799 $ 22,097 36 %
Facilities and other allocated costs 26,088 23,335 2,753 12 %
Inbound shipping 18,007 15,782 2,225 14 %
Other 1,088 1,492 (404) (27)%
Total operations, product and technology expenses $ 128,079 $ 101,408 $ 26,671 26 %

Operations, product and technology as % of total revenue 51 % 55 %

Personnel-related costs were $82.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased by 36% from $60.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020 due to a 35% increase in the average headcount for operations, research and development, including growth in
headcount from the acquisition of Remix. There was an increase in compensation cost at distribution centers primarily to attract and retain
processing center staff in order to support our distribution center operations growth.

Facilities and other allocated costs were $26.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased by 12% from $23.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to the addition of our new Georgia distribution center in June 2020.

Inbound shipping costs were $18.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased by 14% from $15.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to growth in items per bag and higher shipping rates. We lifted restrictions on the
ability of sellers to order Clean Out Kits at the end of February 2021, resulting in more Clean Out Kits being received.
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Marketing

Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Marketing and advertising costs $ 54,053 $ 38,398 $ 15,655 41 %
Personnel-related costs 6,628 4,762 1,866 39 %
Facilities and technology allocated costs 1,396 949 447 47 %
Professional Services 824 160 664 415 %
Other 724 496 228 46 %
Total marketing expense $ 63,625 $ 44,765 $ 18,860 42 %
Marketing as % of total revenue 25 % 24 %

Marketing costs increased 42% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 39% gross profit growth. Marketing and advertising
costs were $54.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased by 41% from $38.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2020. This increase was primarily due to higher customer retention and goody box marketing spend as well as higher CPM (cost per thousand
impression).

Personnel-related costs were $6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased by 39% from $4.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. The $0.3 million increase was due to non-cash stock-based compensation. Facilities and technology allocated costs
were $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased from $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. These
increases were primarily due to a 19% average headcount increase and higher software, support, computer equipment depreciation and other
costs.

Professional services costs were $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased by 415% from $0.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was mainly due to higher spend in consulting services to support marketing initiatives, including
our growing RaaS business.

Sales, General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31, Change
2021 2020 Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Personnel-related costs $ 23,505 $ 14,061 $ 9,444 67 %
Professional services 8,322 4,811 3,511 73 %
Payment processing fees 8,107 6,264 1,843 29 %
Other 8,880 3,428 5,452 159 %
Total sales, general and administrative costs $ 48,814 $ 28,564 $ 20,250 71 %

Sales, general and administrative as % of total revenue 19 % 15 %

Sales, general and administrative expense increased 71% for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to 39% gross profit growth.
This increase was mainly the result of investments, primarily in personnel and professional services costs, made towards scaling our business
and improving our processes as we became a public company.
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Personnel-related costs were $23.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased from $14.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to 35% average headcount increase to support growth in our corporate functions and other
costs related to being a public company. In addition, non-cash stock-based compensation increased by $4.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Professional services costs were $8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, increased 73% from $4.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The increase was mainly due to an increase in accounting, consulting and legal fees of $3.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 related to being a public company and the acquisition of Remix.

Payment processing fees were $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which increased 29% from $6.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. The increase was mainly due to an increase in overall sales.

Other expenses were $8.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, an increase from $3.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2020. This increase was primarily due to a $4.1 million increase in insurance expenses, mainly related to higher insurance premiums
associated with our public company status, and a $1.3 million increase in software expenses to support and scale our growing business.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2021, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities of $205.8 million and an accumulated deficit
of $315.3 million. Since our founding, we have generated negative cash flows from operations and have primarily financed our operations
through private and public sales of equity securities and debt. Additionally, we currently have a term loan facility with Western Alliance Bank. In
March 2021, we completed our IPO for aggregate net proceeds of $175.5 million, net of offering costs, underwriter discounts and commissions
of $17.7 million. In August 2021, we completed our follow-on public offering and sold an aggregate of two million shares. The aggregate net
proceeds were $45.5 million after deducting $3.3 million of underwriter discounts and commissions and offering costs.

We expect operating losses and negative cash flows from operations to continue into the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in
growing our business and expanding our infrastructure. Our primary use of cash includes operating costs such as distribution center operating
costs and product and technology expenses, marketing expenses, personnel expenses and other expenditures necessary to support our
operations and our growth. Additionally, our primary capital expenditures are related to the set-up, automation and expansion of our distribution
centers. Based upon our current operating plans, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operations
for at least the next twelve months. Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our
operations is a forward-looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary materially.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to the timing of our increased distribution center
automation and expansion plans to support planned revenue growth, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the potential introduction
of new offerings and new RaaS clients, the continuing growth of our marketplace and overall economic conditions. We may seek additional
equity or debt financing. If we raise equity financing, our stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests. If we
conduct an additional debt financing, the terms of such debt financing may be similar or more restrictive than our current term loan facility and
we would have additional debt service obligations. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to
raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, financial condition and results
of operations could be harmed. See the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—We may require additional
capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available or may be available only by diluting existing stockholders.”

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,
2021 2020

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ (35,019) $ (19,105)
Investing activities (169,576) (19,424)
Financing activities 228,960 18,215 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (64) — 

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 24,301 $ (20,314)
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Changes in Cash Flow from Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was $35.0 million, which consisted of a net loss of
$63.2 million, partially offset by non-cash charges of $28.4 million. Operating cash flows from operating assets and liabilities was immaterial
with increases in receivables, inventory and other assets, offset by increases in payables, seller payables and other liabilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash used in operating activities was $19.1 million, which consisted of a net loss of
$47.9 million, partially offset by non-cash adjustment of $17.5 million and a net change of $11.3 million in our operating assets and liabilities.

Changes in Cash Flow from Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in investing activities was $169.6 million, which was driven by $125.2 million in
purchases of marketable securities, $23.6 million for the acquisition of Remix net of Remix cash acquired, $19.8 million of capital expenditures
primarily for our distribution centers and a $3.8 million equity investment, partially offset by $2.8 million maturities of marketable securities.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash used in investing activities was $19.4 million, which consisted of capital expenditures
primarily for our distribution centers.

Changes in Cash Flow from Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $229.0 million, which consisted of $226.9 million in
net proceeds from equity offerings, $5.2 million in proceeds from exercise of common stock options and withholding taxes for the net share
settlement of restricted stock units, $4.6 million in proceeds from debt issuance, and $1.0 million in proceeds from employee purchases of
common stock under the ESPP. These proceeds were partially offset by $4.7 million in payment of costs for equity offerings, and $4.0 million in
repayment of debt.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash provided by financing activities was $18.2 million, which consisted primarily of debt
financing proceeds of $18.4 million.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our purchase obligations consist of agreements to purchase goods and services entered into in the ordinary course of business. As of
December 31, 2021, the value of our non-cancellable unconditional purchase obligations was $17.0 million. See Note 12 of our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our purchase obligations.

We lease office spaces and distribution centers under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements that expire at various dates through
2032. As of December 31, 2021, the value of our obligations under operating leases was $60.9 million. See Note 8 of our Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information regarding our lease obligations.

We have a loan and security agreement with Western Alliance Bank (“Bank”). As of December 31, 2021, we had borrowed $40.0 million
under our loan and security agreement, with $36.0 million principal outstanding as of such date, which mature at various dates through 2024.
See Note 9 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our debt obligations.

Indemnification Agreements

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into agreements of varying scope and terms pursuant to which we agree to indemnify vendors,
lessors, business partners and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of the breach of such
agreements, services to be
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provided by us or from intellectual property infringement claims made by third parties. In addition, we have entered into indemnification
agreements with our directors and certain officers and employees that will require us, among other things, to indemnify them against certain
liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers or employees. No demands have been made upon us to
provide indemnification under such agreements and there are no claims that we are aware of that could have a material effect on our
consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss or consolidated statements of cash flows.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to
make judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported revenue generated, and expenses incurred during the reporting
periods. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these judgments and estimates under different assumptions or conditions and any
such differences may be material. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are critical to understanding our historical and future
performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving management’s judgments and estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue primarily from the sale of secondhand women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories on behalf of sellers. We
retain a percentage of the proceeds received as payment for our consignment service. We report consignment revenue on a net basis as an
agent and not the gross amount collected from the buyer. We recognize consignment revenue upon purchase of the seller’s secondhand item
by the buyer.

We also generate revenue from the sale of our purchased inventory which we refer to as product revenue. We sell our purchased inventory
mainly through our online marketplace. We recognize product revenue on a gross basis. Online sales and sales to our retail partners are
recognized upon shipment of the purchased secondhand items to the buyer. Sales at retail stores are recognized upon checkout and sales of
accepted items from goody boxes are recognized upon acceptance, which generally occurs at the same time as payment.

Both consignment and product revenue are recognized net of discounts, incentives and returns. Sales tax assessed by governmental
authorities is excluded from revenue.

Stock-Based Compensation

We estimate the fair value of stock options and the ESPP at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (the “Black-
Scholes Model”). The fair values of Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”) are determined based on our stock price on the date of grant. The fair values
of equity awards are recognized as compensation expense over the requisite service period or over the period in which the related services are
received (generally the vesting period), using the straight-line method. The estimated fair value of equity awards that contain performance
conditions is expensed over the term of the award once we have determined that it is probable that performance conditions will be satisfied. We
account for forfeitures as they occur.

The Black-Scholes Model considers several variables and assumptions in estimating the fair value of stock-based awards. These variables
include per share fair value of the underlying common stock,
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expected term, risk-free interest rate, expected annual dividend yield and expected stock price volatility over the expected term. For all stock
options granted to date, we calculated the expected term using the simplified method (based on the mid-point between the vesting date and the
end of the contractual term). We determine volatility using the historical volatility of the stock price of similar publicly traded peer companies.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield available on United States Treasury zero-coupon issues similar in duration to the expected term
of the equity-settled award.

Business Combinations

We account for our business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires, among other things, allocation of the
fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values on the
acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. When determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, we make significant estimates and assumptions,
especially with respect to intangible assets. Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are
inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. Once the purchase accounting is finalized, any
subsequent adjustments are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. Acquisition costs, such as legal and consulting fees, are
expensed as incurred.

Acquired Intangible Assets

When we acquire a business, a portion of the purchase price is typically allocated to identifiable intangible assets, such as trademarks,
acquired technology and customer relationships. Fair value of these assets is determined primarily using the income approach, which requires
us to project future cash flows and apply an appropriate discount rate. We amortize intangible assets with finite lives over their expected useful
lives. Our estimates are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Assumptions
may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Incorrect estimates could result in future impairment
charges, and those charges could be material to our results of operations.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a
business combination. Goodwill is not subject to amortization but will be reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information on recently issued accounting pronouncements, refer to Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements titled “Significant
Accounting Policies.”

JOBS Act Accounting Election

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting
new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to use this extended
transition period until we are no longer an emerging growth company or until we affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition
period. Accordingly, our consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting
pronouncements as of public company effective dates.
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Item 7A.   Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include:

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2021, we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $84.6 million and marketable securities of $121.3 million,
consisting primarily of money market funds, corporate debt securities, commercial paper, U.S. treasury securities and U.S. government agency
bonds, which carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fluctuations in interest rates have not been significant to date. The primary objective of our
investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without significantly increasing risk. We do not enter into investments for
trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest rate risk exposure. Due to the
short-term to intermediate term nature of our investments, we have not been exposed to, nor do we anticipate being exposed to, material risks
due to changes in interest rates. Fluctuations in interest rates have not been significant to date.

Interest rates under our loan and security agreement with Western Alliance Bank are tied to the prime rate with a floor of 5.50% and
therefore carry interest rate risk. As of December 31, 2021, we had borrowed $40.0 million under our loan and security agreement, with $36.0
million principal outstanding as of such date, at an interest rate of 5.50%. Fluctuations in interest rates have not been significant to date.

A hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations
for the periods presented.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We transact business in Europe through Remix in multiple currencies. As a result, our operating results, cash flows, and net investment in
Remix, are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. As of December 31, 2021, our most significant currency
exposure was Bulgarian lev (BGN). We manage our foreign currency exchange rate risks through natural hedge including foreign currency
revenue and costs matching, as well as foreign currency assets offsetting liabilities.

Assets and liabilities of our foreign operations are translated into dollars at period-end rates, while income and expenses are translated
using the average exchange rate during the period in which the transactions occurred. The related translation adjustments are reflected as a
foreign currency translation adjustment of $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss).

A hypothetical 10 percent change in foreign currency exchange rates is estimated to be under $1.0 million and would not have an impact on
our financial condition or results of operations during any of the periods presented.
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Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Our consolidated financial statements and supplementary data required by this item are included in Part IV of this Annual Report on Form
10-K and are presented beginning on page F-1.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Not Applicable.
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Item 9A.   Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (“Exchange Act”) as of the end of the period covered by this report. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined
under the Exchange Act, means controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we
file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objective and management necessarily applies its judgment
in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Because of the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting discussed below, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective. In light of this fact, our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has performed additional reconciliations and other post-closing
procedures and has concluded that, notwithstanding the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, the consolidated
financial statements for the periods covered by and included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly present, in all material respects, our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with GAAP.

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, and as previously
disclosed in the Prospectus, in connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31 2020,
2019 and 2018, we and our independent registered public accounting firm identified certain control deficiencies in the design and
implementation of our internal control over financial reporting that, in the aggregate, constituted a material weakness. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Our material weakness related to the following control deficiencies:

We did not design and maintain effective control over our accounting and proprietary data systems used in our financial reporting process.
These systems lacked controls over user access, program change management, computer operation and data validation to ensure that IT
program and data changes affecting financial accounting applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and
implemented appropriately.

We did not design and maintain adequate controls over the preparation and review of certain account reconciliations and journal entries.
Specifically, we did not design and maintain controls and we did not maintain a sufficient complement of accounting personnel to ensure (i) the
appropriate segregation of duties in the preparation and review of account reconciliations and journal entries and (ii) account reconciliations
were prepared and reviewed at the appropriate level of precision on a consistent and timely basis.

The deficiencies described above, if not remediated, could result in a misstatement of one or more account balances or disclosures in our
annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected, and, accordingly, we determined that these control
deficiencies constitute a material weakness.
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Remediation Plans

To address our material weakness, we have added accounting, finance and information technology personnel and implemented new
financial accounting processes. We are continuing to take steps to remediate the material weakness described above through implementing
enhancements and controls within our accounting and proprietary systems, hiring additional qualified accounting, finance and information
technology resources and further evolving our accounting and annual close processes. We will not be able to fully remediate these control
deficiencies until these steps have been completed and the controls have been operating effectively for a sufficient period of time.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We are taking actions to remediate the material weaknesses relating to our internal control over financial reporting, as described above.
Except as described above, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under
the Exchange Act) during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting. We have not experienced any material impact to our internal controls over financial reporting despite our
employees working remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We are continually monitoring and assessing the COVID-19 situation on our
internal controls to minimize the impact on their design and operating effectiveness.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designated and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons,
by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management's assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting
or an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of the SEC for newly
public companies.

Item 9B.   Other Information.

Not Applicable.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not Applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Our board of directors has adopted a code of conduct that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors. The full text of our code of
conduct is available on our investor relations website at ir.thredup.com under the “Corporate Governance” section. We intend to satisfy the
disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendments to, or waiver from, a provision of our code of conduct by posting
such information on the website address and location specified above.

The remaining information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement for our 2022 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Proxy Statement”).

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 14.   Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.
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Part IV

Item 15.   Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Statements.

• Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” on page F-1 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules.

• All financial statement schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information required by the
schedule is not applicable, not required, or the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements or
the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits.

• The documents listed in the Exhibit Index of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are incorporated by reference or filed
with this Form 10-K, as indicated therein.
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(b) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title Incorporation by Reference

Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the

Registrant.
S-1 333-253834 3.2 3/3/2021

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. S-1 333-253834 3.4 3/3/2021
4.1 Form of Class A common stock certificate of the

Registrant.
S-1 333-253834 4.1 3/3/2021

4.2 Description of Securities Registered Pursuant to Section
12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Filed herewith

4.3 Tenth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights
Agreement, dated February 16, 2021, by and among the
Registrant and certain of its stockholders.

S-1 333-253834 4.2 3/3/2021

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the
Registrant and each of its directors and executive officers.

S-1 333-253834 10.1 3/3/2021

10.2# Second Amended and Restated 2010 Stock Incentive
Plan, as amended, and forms of agreements thereunder.

S-1 333-253834 10.2 3/3/2021

10.3# 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and forms of
agreements thereunder.

S-1/A 333-253834 10.3 3/17/2021

10.4# 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-1/A 333-253834 10.4 3/17/2021
10.5# Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan. S-1 333-253834 10.5 3/3/2021
10.6# Executive Severance Plan. S-1 333-253834 10.6 3/3/2021
10.7# Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy. S-1 333-253834 10.7 3/3/2021
10.8# Terms and Conditions of the Registrant’s Fiscal Year 2021

Incentive Compensation Targets.
S-1 333-253834 10.8 3/3/2021

10.9# Offer Letter between the Registrant and Anthony Marino,
dated August 5, 2013.

S-1 333-253834 10.9 3/3/2021

10.10# Offer Letter between the Registrant and Sean Sobers,
dated September 30, 2019.

S-1 333-253834 10.10 3/3/2021

10.11# Offer Letter between the Registrant and Chris Homer,
dated July 1, 2010.

Filed herewith

10.12# Board Member Agreement between the Registrant and
Mandy Ginsberg, dated December 3, 2020.

S-1 333-253834 10.12 3/3/2021
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10.13# Board Member Agreement between the Registrant and
Marcie Vu, dated February 11, 2021.

S-1 333-253834 10.13 3/3/2021

10.14† Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement,
dated February 3, 2021, by and between the Registrant
and Western Alliance Bank.

S-1/A 333-253834 10.14 3/17/2021

10.15 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and
Security Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2021, by and
among ThredUp Inc., ThredUp CF LLC, ThredUp
Intermediary Holdings LLC, Knitwit GC LLC, and Western
Alliance Bank.

8-K 001-40249 10.1 5/18/2021

10.16 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and
Security Agreement, dated as of December 3, 2021, by
and among ThredUp Inc., ThredUp CF LLC, ThredUp
Intermediary Holdings LLC, Knitwit GC LLC, and Western
Alliance Bank.

Filed herewith

21.1 Subsidiaries of ThredUp Inc. Filed herewith
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, an independent registered public

accounting firm.
Filed herewith

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page). Filed herewith
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Filed herewith

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Filed herewith

32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Furnished
herewith

32.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Furnished
herewith

101.INS XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does
not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Filed herewith

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. Filed herewith
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101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document.

Filed herewith

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document.

Filed herewith

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document.

Filed herewith

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document.

Filed herewith

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline
XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information
contained in Exhibits 101).

Filed herewith

________________

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract or agreement.
† Certain confidential information contained in this exhibit has been omitted because it is both (i) not material and (ii) is the type that the Registrant treats as

private or confidential.
*    The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are not deemed “filed” for

purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference into
any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Item 16.   Form 10-K Summary

Not Applicable.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

THREDUP INC.

Date: March 21, 2022 By: /s/ James Reinhart
James Reinhart
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 21, 2022 By: /s/ Sean Sobers
Sean Sobers
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints James
Reinhart, Sean Sobers and Alon Rotem, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of
substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do
in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their, his or her substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.



Signature Title Date
/s/ James Reinhart Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer) March 21, 2022
James Reinhart

/s/ Sean Sobers Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) March 21, 2022

Sean Sobers

/s/ Greg Bettinelli
Director March 21, 2022

Greg Bettinelli

/s/ Ian Friedman
Director March 21, 2022

Ian Friedman

/s/ Mandy Ginsberg
Director March 21, 2022

Mandy Ginsberg

/s/ Timothy Haley Director March 21, 2022
Timothy Haley

/s/ Jack Lazar
Director March 21, 2022

Jack Lazar

/s/ Norman Matthews
Director March 21, 2022

Norman Matthews

/s/ Patricia Nakache
Director March 21, 2022

Patricia Nakache

/s/ Dan Nova
Director March 21, 2022

Dan Nova
/s/ Coretha Rushing

Director March 21, 2022
Coretha Rushing

/s/ Paula Sutter
Director March 21, 2022

Paula Sutter

/s/ Marcie Vu
Director March 21, 2022

Marcie Vu
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors
ThredUp Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ThredUp Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated
financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases as of January 1,
2020 due to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 842, Leases.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our
audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

San Francisco, California
March 21, 2022
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ThredUp Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except per share data)
December 31, December 31,

2021 2020

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 84,550 $ 64,485 
Marketable securities 121,277 — 
Accounts receivable, net 4,136 1,823 
Inventory, net 9,825 3,519 
Other current assets 8,625 5,332 

Total current assets 228,413 75,159 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 39,340 23,656 
Property and equipment, net 55,466 41,131 
Goodwill 12,238 — 
Intangible assets 13,854 — 
Other assets 11,515 2,965 

Total assets $ 360,826 $ 142,911 
Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 13,336 $ 9,386 
Accrued and other current liabilities 45,253 32,541 
Seller payable 19,125 13,724 
Operating lease liabilities, current 3,931 3,643 
Current portion of long-term debt 7,768 3,270 

Total current liabilities 89,413 62,564 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 36,997 21,574 
Long-term debt 27,559 31,190 
Other non-current liabilities 1,123 2,719 

Total liabilities 155,092 118,047 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Convertible preferred stock: $0.0001 par value; 100,000 and 68,140 shares authorized as of December 31, 2021 and

December 31, 2020, respectively; 0 and 65,971 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively, liquidation preference of $0 and $251,239 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively — 247,041 

Stockholders’ equity:
Class A and B common stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,120,000 and 110,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2021

and December 31, 2020, respectively; 98,435 and 12,890 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021
and December 31, 2020, respectively 10 1 

Additional paid-in capital 522,161 29,989 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,094) — 
Accumulated deficit (315,343) (252,167)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 205,734 (222,177)

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity $ 360,826 $ 142,911 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ThredUp Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Revenue:

Consignment $ 186,114 $ 138,096 $ 97,763 
Product 65,678 47,919 66,049 

Total revenue 251,792 186,015 163,812 
Cost of revenue:

Consignment 41,856 34,184 22,764 
Product 31,804 23,683 28,544 

Total cost of revenue 73,660 57,867 51,308 
Gross profit 178,132 128,148 112,504 

Operating expenses:
Operations, product and technology 128,079 101,408 82,078 
Marketing 63,625 44,765 44,980 

Sales, general and administrative 48,814 28,564 22,253 
Total operating expenses 240,518 174,737 149,311 
Operating loss (62,386) (46,589) (36,807)

Interest expense (2,275) (1,305) (1,428)
Other income, net 1,565 73 74 

Loss before provision for income taxes (63,096) (47,821) (38,161)
Provision for income taxes 80 56 36 

Net loss $ (63,176) $ (47,877) $ (38,197)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted $ (0.82) $ (4.14) $ (3.72)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted 77,092 11,565 10,265 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ThredUp Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Net loss $ (63,176) $ (47,877) $ (38,197)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (729) — — 
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale debt securities (365) — 2 

Total comprehensive loss $ (64,270) $ (47,877) $ (38,195)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ThredUp Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity

(in thousands)

Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional

Paid-in
Capital

    
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Loss
Accumulated

Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity (Deficit)Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2018 53,378 $ 164,394 10,145 $ 1 $ 12,083 $ (2) $ (165,528) $ (153,446)
Exercise of stock options — — 502 — 722 — — 722 
Stock-based compensation — — — — 7,678 — — 7,678 
Series F preferred stock issued,

net of issuance costs of
$3,881 12,550 82,511 — — — — — — 

Unrealized gain on debt
securities — — — — — 2 — 2 

Net loss — — — — — — (38,197) (38,197)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 65,928 246,905 10,647 1 20,483 — (203,725) (183,241)

ASC842 Adoption (eff. January
1, 2020) — — — — — — (565) (565)

Exercise of stock options — — 2,243 — 2,170 — — 2,170 
Stock-based compensation — — — — 7,336 — — 7,336 
Series C preferred stock -

warrant exercise 43 136 — — — — — — 
Net loss — — — — — — (47,877) (47,877)

Balance as of December 31, 2020 65,971 247,041 12,890 1 29,989 — (252,167) (222,177)
Exercise of stock options — — 3,480 — 5,267 — — 5,267 
Stock-based compensation — — — — 13,290 — — 13,290 
Conversion of preferred stock
warrants to Class B common
stock warrants — — — — 1,827 — — 1,827 
Preferred stock conversion to
Class B common stock (65,971) (247,041) 65,971 7 247,034 — — 247,041 
Sale of Class A common stock
upon initial public offering, net of
issuance costs — — 13,800 1 175,533 — — 175,534 
Cashless exercise of common
stock warrant — — 129 — — — — — 
Issuance of common stock to
settle restricted stock units — — 84 — — — — — 
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Issuance of Class A common
stock upon closing of follow-on
offering — — 2,000 1 45,524 — — 45,525 
Withholding taxes for the net
share settlement of restricted
stock units — — (1) — (29) — — (29)
ESPP purchase — — 82 — 982 — — 982 
Acquisition delayed share
issuance — — — — 2,744 — — 2,744 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (1,094) — (1,094)
Net loss — — — — — — (63,176) (63,176)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 — $ — 98,435 $ 10 $ 522,161 $ (1,094) $ (315,343) $ 205,734 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ThredUp Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (63,176) $ (47,877) $ (38,197)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 9,155 5,581 4,274 
Stock-based compensation expense 12,959 7,336 7,678 
Reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets 3,985 4,034 — 
Changes in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrants and others 2,342 561 1,077 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net (1,189) 229 (638)
Inventory, net (2,741) 374 2,290 
Other current and non-current assets (6,326) 32 (239)
Accounts payable 871 3,469 (741)
Accrued and other current liabilities 9,251 5,182 14,205 
Seller payable 5,072 4,407 315 
Operating lease liabilities (3,964) (3,824) — 
Other non-current liabilities (1,258) 1,391 (114)
Net cash used in operating activities (35,019) (19,105) (10,090)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of marketable securities (125,217) — — 
Maturities of marketable securities 2,800 — 8,250 
Purchases of non-marketable equity investment (3,750) — — 
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (23,581) — — 
Purchase of property and equipment (19,828) (19,424) (9,504)

Net cash used in investing activities (169,576) (19,424) (1,254)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from debt issuance 4,625 18,352 19,750 
Repayment of debt (4,000) (1,190) (11,801)

Proceeds from offerings of issuance of Class A common stock, net of underwriting discounts and
commissions 226,905 — — 
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options and withholding taxes for the net share settlement of
restricted stock units 5,177 2,170 722 
Payment of costs for the initial public offering and the follow-on offering (4,729) (1,117) — 
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs — — 82,511 
Proceeds from ESPP purchase 982 — — 

Net cash provided by financing activities 228,960 18,215 91,182 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (64) — — 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 24,301 (20,314) 79,838 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Beginning of period 67,539 87,853 8,015 

End of period $ 91,840 $ 67,539 $ 87,853 
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Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $ 64 $ 45 $ 27 

Cash paid for interest $ 2,076 $ 1,450 $ 1,207 
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 3,739 $ 1,555 $ 587 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities with lease modification $ 19,669 $ 9,142 $ — 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ThredUp Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Description of Business

ThredUp Inc. (“ThredUp” or the “Company”) was formed as a corporation in the State of Delaware in January 2009. ThredUp is a large
resale platform that enables consumers to buy and sell primarily secondhand women’s and kid’s apparel, shoes and accessories. The Company
conducts its marketing and administrative functions from Oakland, California and Scottsdale, Arizona and operates its fulfillment centers in
Pennsylvania, Georgia and Arizona. Another distribution center in Texas is under construction. The Company expanded its operations to
Europe through its acquisition of Remix, which closed in October 2021.

Initial Public Offering

The Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 related to its initial public offering (the “IPO”) was declared effective on March 25, 2021
by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and the Company’s Class A common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select
Market on March 26, 2021. Upon the closing of the IPO, the Company sold 13,800,000 shares of Class A common stock to the public at a price
of $14.00 per share. The aggregate net proceeds were $175.5 million after deducting offering costs, underwriting discounts and commissions of
$17.7 million.

Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company filed its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which authorized
a total of 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, 120,000,000 shares of Class B common stock and 100,000,000 shares of
undesignated preferred stock.

Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, 65,970,938 shares of the convertible preferred stock then outstanding were converted into
an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock. The Company reclassified the convertible preferred stock to Class B common stock
and additional paid-in capital upon the conversion in the three months ended March 31, 2021. 12,889,760 shares of the outstanding historical
common stock were reclassified into an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock. 164,973 shares of the convertible preferred
stock warrants were converted to an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock warrants.

Follow-on Public Offering

On August 2, 2021, the Company issued and sold 2,000,000 shares of Class A common stock at a price of $24.25 per share in a registered
public offering. The aggregate net proceeds were $45.5 million, after deducting $3.3 million of underwriting discounts and commissions and
offering costs. Refer to Note 10, Common Stock and Common Stock Warrants for more details.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany account balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts that are reported in the consolidated financial statements and the related disclosures.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, the
useful lives of property and equipment and intangibles, allowance for sales returns, allowance for bad debts, breakage on loyalty points and
rewards, valuation of inventory, warrants, stock-based compensation, valuation of right-of-use assets, valuation of goodwill and acquired
intangibles and income taxes.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted businesses worldwide and has impacted various aspects of the Company’s business and
operations. The Company’s revenue growth and operating spend has been and may continue to be affected by COVID-19 and related
restrictions on business, labor cost increases and supply chain issues. Estimates and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot
be determined with certainty and therefore require the exercise of significant judgment.

Foreign Currency

The Company’s functional currency is the United States (“U.S.”) dollar for its operations except for Remix whose functional currency is the
Bulgarian lev. In accordance with authoritative guidance, assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are translated from the
respective functional currencies into U.S. dollars at period-end rates, while income and expenses are translated using the average exchange
rate during the period in which the transactions occurred. The related translation adjustments are reflected as a foreign currency translation
adjustment in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized in accordance with Accounting Standards Topic 606 (“ASC 606”). Under ASC 606, revenue is recognized upon
transfer of control of promised goods and services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive for
those goods and services. The Company generates the majority of its revenue from its marketplace, which allows its buyers to browse and
purchase resale items for women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories on behalf of sellers. The Company recognizes revenue through
the following steps: (1) identification of the contract, or contracts, with the customer; (2) identification of the performance obligations in the
contract; (3) determination of the transaction price; (4) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5)
recognition of revenue when, or as, it satisfies a performance obligation.

Both buyers and sellers may be customers in the Company’s revenue arrangements. Sellers are the primary customer in a consignment
arrangement while the buyer is the primary customer in sale of Company-owned inventory, referred to as product sales. A contract with a
customer exists in both cases when the end-customer purchases the goods obligating the Company to deliver the identified performance
obligation(s). Generally, the Company requires authorization from a credit card or other payment method (such as PayPal), or verification of
receipt of payment, before the products are shipped to buyers. The Company generally receives payments from buyers before payments to the
sellers are due.

Consignment Revenue

The Company generates consignment revenue from the sale of secondhand women’s and kids’ apparel, shoes and accessories on behalf
of sellers. The Company retains a percentage of the proceeds received as payment for its consignment service. The Company reports
consignment revenue on a net basis as an agent and not the gross amount collected from the buyer. Title to the consigned goods remain with
the consignor until transferred to the buyer, which occurs subsequent to purchase of the consigned goods and upon expiration of the allotted
return period. The Company does not take title of consigned goods at any time except in certain cases where the consignment window expires
or returned goods become Company-owned inventory.

Consignment revenue is recognized upon purchase of the consigned good by the buyer as its performance obligation of providing
consignment services to the consignor is satisfied at that point. Consignment revenue is recognized net of seller payouts, discounts, incentives
and returns. Sales tax assessed by governmental authorities is excluded from revenue.
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Product Revenue

The Company recognizes product revenue on a gross basis as the Company acts as the principal in the transaction. Online sales and sales
to third-party retail partners are generally recognized upon shipment of the purchased good to the buyer. Product revenue is recognized net of
discounts, incentives and returns. Sales tax assessed by governmental authorities is excluded from revenue.

Shipping Fees

The Company charges shipping fees to buyers, which are included in revenue. All outbound shipping costs are accounted for in cost of
revenue at the time revenue is recognized.

Returns

The Company generally has a 14-day return period which may change from time to time and recognizes a returns reserve, based on
historical experience, which is recorded in accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Incentives

Incentives include website discounts, customer credits and loyalty program rewards issued to sellers and buyers. Incentives are treated as
a reduction of product revenue and consignment revenue. Revenue treatment for our loyalty program is discussed further below under Deferred
Revenue.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists primarily of cash collections for product items purchased, but not shipped, and revenue allocated to unredeemed
loyalty points. Cash collections for items purchased, but not shipped, are generally recognized as revenue upon shipment. As of December 31,
2021 and 2020, the Company had $1.7 million and $0.9 million, respectively, in deferred revenue for such items, which were recognized shortly
after the period end, and are included in accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

In August 2019, the Company launched a customer loyalty program that provides customers with rewards that can be applied to future
purchases or other incentives. Loyalty points and rewards are accounted for as separate performance obligations and accrued as deferred
revenue in the amount of the transaction price allocated to the points and rewards. The allocated transaction price is based on the estimated
fair value per point, net of breakage. Breakage is estimated based on the Company’s historical redemption rates. Revenue is recognized when
the loyalty rewards are redeemed or expire. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had a liability of $4.0 million and $4.1 million,
respectively, related to the loyalty program which is included in accrued and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The
Company recognized $13.8 million, $6.6 million and $0.1 million of revenue related to loyalty points in the 2021, 2020 and 2019 periods,
respectively. Revenue allocated to loyalty points is expected to be recognized within one year as loyalty points expire 12 months after issuance.

Revenue by Geographic Area

Revenue is attributed to a geographic area based on the shipped-from location. The following summarizes the Company’s revenue by
geographic area (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

North America $ 240,677 $ 186,015 $ 163,81
Europe 11,115 — 

Total $ 251,792 $ 186,015 $ 163,81
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Europe net sales in the year ended December 31, 2021 is primarily coming from the Company’s Remix operations acquired in 2021.

Segments

The Company operates under one operating segment and one reportable segment as its chief operating decision maker, who is its Chief
Executive Officer, reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating
resources and evaluating financial performance. The long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and intangible assets, outside of the United States
are immaterial.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires, among other things,
allocation of the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at estimated fair
values on the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the values of these identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. When determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the management makes significant
estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing intangible assets include, but are not
limited to, expected future cash flows, which includes consideration of future growth and margins, future changes in technology, brand
awareness and discount rates. Fair value estimates are based on the assumptions that management believes to be reasonable, but which are
inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. After the purchase accounting is finalized, any
subsequent adjustments are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. Acquisition costs, such as legal and consulting fees, are
expensed as incurred.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The Company follows the two-class method when computing net loss per common share when shares issued meet the definition of
participating securities. The two-class method determines net loss per share for each class of common stock and participating securities
according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires income
available to stockholders for the period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to
receive dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed. The Company’s convertible preferred stock contractually entitles the
holders of such shares to participate in dividends but does not contractually require the holders of such shares to participate in the Company’s
losses.

The rights, including the liquidation and dividend rights and sharing of losses, of the Class A common stock and Class B common stock are
identical, other than voting rights. As the liquidation and dividend rights and sharing of losses are identical, the undistributed earnings are
allocated on a proportionate basis and the resulting net loss per share attributed to common stockholders will, therefore, be the same for both
Class A and Class B common stock on an individual or combined basis.

For periods in which the Company reports net losses, diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic
net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, because potentially dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if
their effect is anti-dilutive.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and other charges or credits to equity that are not the result of transactions with owners. There
was $0.7 million foreign currency translation loss included in the other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2021. There were
$0.4 million other comprehensive losses related to unrealized gains or losses on debt securities classified as available-for-sale for the year
ended December 31, 2021. There were no material unrealized gains or losses for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company classifies all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase as cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of bank deposits and commercial paper, and money market funds.

Restricted cash primarily represents letters of credit with financial institutions held as collateral for its facility leases. Restricted cash is
classified non-current if the Company expects that the cash will remain restricted for a period greater than one-year. Current restricted cash is
included in other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as well as restricted cash reported within the consolidated
balance sheets to the amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ 84,550 $ 64,485 
Restricted cash, current 560 364 
Restricted cash, non-current 6,730 2,690 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows $ 91,840 $ 67,539 

Restricted cash, non-current of $6.7 million and $2.7 million is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Marketable Securities

The Company invests its excess cash in investment grade, short to intermediate-term, fixed income securities and recognizes the
transaction on the trade-date. The Company’s marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale in current assets because they
represent investments of cash available for current operations. Marketable securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses
reported, net of tax, as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) until realized. The marketable securities are
reviewed periodically to identify possible other-than-temporary impairments. Realized gains or losses and other-than-temporary impairments, if
any, on available-for sale securities are reported in other income, net as incurred.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents,
marketable securities and accounts receivable. The Company deposits cash at major financial institutions, and at times, such cash may exceed
federally insured limits. The credit risk is believed to be minimal due to the financial position of the depository institutions in which those
deposits are held. The Company has never experienced any losses on deposits since inception. The Company’s investment policy restricts
cash investments to highly liquid, short to intermediate-term, high grade fixed income securities, and as a result, the Company believes its cash
equivalents and marketable securities represent minimal credit risk.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no customers that represented 10% or more of the Company’s accounts receivable
balance. There were no customers that individually exceeded 10% of the Company’s revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and 2019.
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Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable consists of amounts due from payment processors and trade customers that do not bear interest. The Company
records an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses inherent in its trade accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing the required
allowance, management considers historical losses adjusted for current market conditions, the financial condition of the customer, the amount
of receivables in dispute, and the current receivables aging and payment patterns. The Company does not have any off-balance sheet credit
exposure related to its customers. The allowance for doubtful accounts was immaterial as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Inventory, Net

Inventories, consisting of merchandise that the Company has purchased and holds title, are accounted for using the specific identification
method, and are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory is equal to the cost of the merchandise paid to the
seller and related inbound shipping costs. Inventory valuation requires the Company to make judgments based on currently available
information about the likely method of disposition, such as through sales to individual customers or liquidations, and expected recoverable
values of each disposition category. The Company records an inventory write-down based on the age of the inventory and historical experience
of expected sell-through.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets.

The estimated useful lives of the Company’s property and equipment are as follows:

Machinery and equipment 3-10 years
Internal-use software 1-3 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or
estimated useful life

Computers and software 2-3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 years

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements and betterments are capitalized.

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the balance
sheet and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the consolidated statement of operations in the period realized.

Internal-Use Software

The Company capitalizes qualifying proprietary software development costs that are incurred during the application development stage.
Capitalization of costs begins when two criteria are met: (i) the preliminary project stage is completed, and (ii) it is probable that the software will
be completed and placed in service for its intended use. Capitalization ceases when the software is substantially complete and ready for its
intended use including the completion of all significant testing. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post implementation operating
activities are expensed as incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an
asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to
the future
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undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is equal to the excess of the fair value over the carrying amount of the impaired assets. There were
no impairments of long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a
business combination. Goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable. The Company tests goodwill for impairment
annually as of the first day of its fourth fiscal quarter and in interim periods if events occur that would indicate that the carrying value of goodwill
may be impaired. The Company assesses goodwill for impairment by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount.

Acquired Intangible Assets

When a business is acquired, a portion of the purchase price is typically allocated to identifiable intangible assets, such as trademark,
acquired technology and customer relationships. Fair value of these assets is determined primarily using the income approach, which requires
the management to project future cash flows and apply an appropriate discount rate. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their economic lives ranging from 3 years to 9 years. Estimates are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable
but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipated events and
circumstances may occur. Incorrect estimates could result in future impairment charges, and those charges could be material to the Company’s
results of operations.

Other Investment

The Company made a strategic investment in preferred shares of a privately held online retail company in October 2021. The Company
accounts for its investment in accordance with ASC 321, Investments – Equity Securities (“ASC 321”). Upon acquisition, the investment is
measured at cost, which represents the then fair value. Under ASC 321, the Company can elect to subsequently measure the investments at
initial cost, minus impairment and any changes, plus or minus, resulting from observable price in orderly transactions for the identical or a
similar investment of the same issuer. This election must be made for each investment separately. Changes in the carrying value of other
investment are recognized through net loss. Each reporting period, the Company performs a qualitative assessment to evaluate whether the
investment is impaired. The Company’s assessment includes a review of recent operating results and trends, recent sales/acquisitions of the
investee securities and other factors that raise concerns about the investee’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the investment is
impaired, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the investment exceeds the estimated fair value of
the investment, with the impairment charge recognized through net loss. The Company’s non-marketable equity investment of $3.8 million was
included in the other assets in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021 and there was no impairment recognized on the
investment.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company records asset retirement obligations (“AROs”) for the estimated cost of restoring its automated warehouse facilities to the
specific condition required per the terms of its lease agreement, upon termination of the lease. AROs represent the present value of the
expected costs and timing of the related obligations incurred. The ARO assets and liabilities are recorded in property and equipment within the
machinery and equipment line item and other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company records accretion
expense, which represents the increase in the ARO, over the remaining estimated duration of the lease including renewal periods that are
included in the lease life.
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Accretion expense is recorded in operations, product and technology expense in the consolidated statement of operations using accretion rates
based on credit adjusted risk-free interest rates.

Leases

Effective January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASC 842, Leases (“ASC 842”), using the optional transition method and applied the
standard only to leases that existed at that date.

Under ASC 842, the Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception by assessing whether the arrangement
contains an identified asset and whether it has the right to control the identified asset. Lessees are required to classify leases as either finance
or operating leases and to record a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term greater than 12 months regardless
of the lease classification. The lease classification will determine whether the lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest rate
method or on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The Company determines the initial classification and measurement of its ROU
assets and lease liabilities at the lease commencement date and thereafter if modified. ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an
underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.
Lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of future lease payments over the lease term.
ROU assets are based on the measurement of the lease liability and also include any lease payments made prior to or on lease
commencement and exclude lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred, as applicable.

As the implicit rate in the Company's leases is generally unknown, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the
information available at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of future lease payments. The Company gives
consideration to its existing credit arrangements, term of the lease, total lease payments and adjust for the impacts of collateral, as necessary,
when calculating its incremental borrowing rates. The lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably
certain the Company will exercise any such options. Lease costs for the Company's operating leases are recognized on a straight-line basis
within operating expenses over the lease term.

The Company has elected to not separate lease and non-lease components for real estate leases and, as a result, accounts for lease and
non-lease components as one component. The Company has also elected to not apply the recognition requirement to any leases within its
existing classes of assets with a term of 12 months or less. For these leases, lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term and variable payments in the period in which the obligation is incurred.

Seller Payable

Seller payable includes amounts owed to sellers upon the purchase of sellers’ goods by the Company or by buyers. Amounts are initially
provided as a credit to sellers. These credits may be applied towards purchases from the Company, converted to third-party retailer or thredUP
gift cards or redeemed for cash.

Gift Cards and Site and Seller Credits

The Company sells thredUP gift cards on its e-commerce website. Seller credits and site credits can be converted to thredUP gift cards.
thredUP gift cards do not expire or lose value over periods of inactivity. The Company accounts for gift cards by recognizing a gift card liability at
the time a gift card is delivered to the customer. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, $7.3 million and $6.2 million of gift card liability,
respectively, was included in accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Revenue from gift cards is generally
recognized when the gift cards are redeemed by the customer and amounted to $0.9 million, $0.6 million and $0.1 million in the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 respectively.
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The Company issues both site credits and seller credits. The Company issues site credits for various reasons such as for promotions or for
refunds. The Company issues seller credits to sellers in exchange for consignment items sold. Site credits can be applied towards future
charges but cannot be converted into cash. Site credits and seller credits may also be converted to thredUP gift cards after one year at the
discretion of the Company. These credits are recognized as revenue when used, converted, or expired. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
$5.9 million and $3.2 million, respectively, of such customer site credits were included in accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Breakage on gift cards and site credits is immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income on the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered and settled.

The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment
date. The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized
income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or
measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. The Company records interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of consignment revenue consists of outbound shipping, outbound labor and packaging costs. Cost of product revenue mainly consists
of the inventory cost, inbound shipping related to the sold merchandise, outbound shipping, outbound labor, packaging costs and inventory
write-downs.

Operations, Product and Technology

Operations, product and technology expenses consist primarily of distribution center operating costs and product and technology expenses.
Distribution center operating costs include personnel costs, distribution center rent, maintenance and equipment depreciation as well as
inbound shipping costs, other than those capitalized in inventory. Product and technology costs include personnel costs for the design and
development of product and the related technology that is used to operate the distribution centers, merchandise science, website development
and related expenses for these departments. Operations, product and technology expenses also include an allocation of corporate facilities and
information technology costs including equipment, depreciation and rent. Research and development costs related to our technology were
approximately $28.7 million, $20.7 million and $19.0 million, during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Marketing

Marketing costs consist primarily of advertising, public relations expenditures and personnel costs for employees engaged in marketing.
Marketing costs also include an allocation of corporate facilities and information technology costs including equipment, depreciation and rent.

Advertising and other promotional costs included in the marketing line item on the consolidated statement of operations are expensed as
incurred and were approximately $54.1 million, $38.4 million and $39.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
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Sales, General and Administrative

Sales, general and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs for employees involved in general corporate functions, including
accounting, finance, tax, legal and people services; customer service; and retail stores. Sales, general and administrative also includes
payment processing fees, professional fees and allocation of corporate facilities and information technology costs such as equipment,
depreciation and rent.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation costs are based on the fair values on the date of grant for stock awards and stock options and on the date of
enrollment for the employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”). The fair values of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) are based on ThredUp’s stock
price on the date of grant. The fair values of stock options and ESPP are estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair
values of equity awards are recognized as compensation expense over the requisite service period or over the period in which the related
services are received (generally the vesting period), using the straight-line method. The estimated fair value of equity awards that contain
performance conditions is expensed over the term of the award once the Company has determined that it is probable that performance
conditions will be satisfied. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur. The determination of fair value for share-based awards on the
date of grant using an option pricing model requires management to make certain assumptions regarding subjective variables.

Prior Period Reclassifications

Within the consolidated balance sheets, the Company included restricted cash, non-current within non-current other assets for the prior
period to conform with current period presentation.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value accounting is applied for all financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the carrying amount of accounts receivable,
other current assets, other assets, accounts payable, seller payable and accrued and other current liabilities approximated their estimated fair
value due to their relatively short maturities. Management believes the terms of its long-term debt reflect current market conditions for an
instrument with similar terms and maturity, therefore the carrying value of the Company’s debt approximated its fair value.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis on the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based upon the level of
judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair values. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an
asset or an exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The authoritative guidance on fair value measurements establishes a three-tier
fair value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements as follows:

Level 1—Observable inputs such as unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2—Inputs (other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or
liability. These include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities
in markets that are not active.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.
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New Accounting Pronouncements Recently Issued But Not Yet Adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments and subsequent amendments to the initial guidance: ASU 2018-19, ASU 2019-04, ASU 2019-05, ASU 2019-10, ASU
2019-11, ASU 2020-02 and ASU 2020-03, which replaces the existing incurred loss impairment model with an expected credit loss model and
requires a financial asset measured at amortized cost to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. This standard is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

3.    Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

For all of the marketable securities, the Company utilizes third-party pricing services to obtain fair value. Third-party pricing methodologies
incorporate bond terms and conditions, current performance data, proprietary pricing models, real-time quotes from contributing dealers, trade
prices and other market data.

The following table provides the financial instruments measured at fair value for each of the respective periods (in thousands):
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Fair Value as of December 31, 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
Money market fund $ 41,376 $ — $ — $ 41,376 
U.S. treasury securities 37,190 — — 37,190 
Commercial paper — 12,098 — 12,098 
Corporate debt securities 55,921 — — 55,921 
U.S. government agency bonds 28,166 — — 28,166 
Total $ 162,653 $ 12,098 $ — $ 174,751 

Classified as:
Cash equivalents $ 53,474 
Marketable securities 121,277 

$ 174,751 

December 31, 2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
Cash equivalents:

Money market fund $ 43,460 $ — $ — $ 43,460 

Total cash equivalents $ 43,460 $ — $ — $ 43,460 
Liabilities

Convertible preferred stock warrant liability $ — $ — $ 805 $ 805 

Total liabilities $ — $ — $ 805 $ 805 

The Company’s money market funds and commercial paper were included within cash equivalents. U.S. treasury securities, U.S.
government agency bonds and corporate debt securities were included within the marketable securities.

The Company’s money market funds, U.S. treasury securities, corporate debt securities, U.S. government agency bonds were valued using
Level 1 inputs because they are valued using quoted market prices.

The Company’s commercial papers were valued using Level 2 inputs because they are valued using quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the amortized cost of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate their estimated fair
values.

As of December 31, 2021, out of the $121.3 million carrying amount of marketable securities, $49.0 million had a contractual maturity date
of less than one year and $72.2 million had a contractual maturity date between one and two years.

The convertible preferred stock warrant liability was included in other non-current liabilities and was valued using Level 3 inputs, before the
convertible preferred stock warrants were converted to Class B common stock warrants upon IPO.

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 assets reported at fair
value on a recurring basis.
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4.    Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020

Machinery and equipment $ 48,874 $ 35,254 
Internal-use software 5,517 4,764 
Computers and software 5,336 3,677 
Leasehold improvements 4,705 4,459 
Furniture and fixtures 856 519 
Construction in progress 10,740 6,548 

76,028 55,221 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (20,562) (14,090)
Property and equipment, net $ 55,466 $ 41,131 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company capitalized $2.1 million and $1.4 million of costs associated with internal-
use software, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company capitalized $0.3 million and $0.4 million,
respectively, out of $2.5 million and $1.7 million total interest costs incurred for each respective period. Depreciation and amortization expense
of property and equipment was $8.5 million and $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

5.    Acquisition of Remix

On July 24, 2021, the Company entered into Share Purchase Agreements with the shareholders of Remix, a fashion resale company
headquartered in Sofia, Bulgaria, to purchase 100% of the outstanding equity interests of Remix and its subsidiary. The acquisition of Remix
closed on October 7, 2021. With this acquisition, the Company added a complementary operational infrastructure and an experienced
management team to enable its expansion into Europe.

The Company acquired the business for total cash consideration of $25.6 million and future issuance of 130,597 Class A common shares in
2023 with a fair value of $2.7 million as of the closing date. Revenue of $11.1 million and net loss of $1.2 million from this acquisition have been
included in the consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date through December 31, 2021. The Company incurred $1.1 million
in transaction-related costs during the year ended December 31, 2021, which are included within sales, general and administrative expenses.

The allocation of the purchase price is based on the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed by major class
related to the acquisition of Remix and are reflected, as of the acquisition date, in the accompanying financial statements as follows (in
thousands):
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Purchase Price
Cash consideration $ 25,550 
Delayed share issuance 2,744 

Total purchase consideration $ 28,294 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,860 
Accounts receivable 1,150 
Inventory 3,657 
Intangible assets 14,800 
Other assets 786 
Accounts payable (3,102)
Accrued and other liabilities (3,356)
   Total net assets acquired 15,795 
Goodwill as of October 7, 2021 $ 12,499 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (261)

Goodwill as of December 31, 2021 $ 12,238 

Goodwill was calculated as the excess of the consideration transferred over the net assets acquired and represents the estimated future
economic benefits arising from other assets acquired, the assembled workforce and planned growth in strategic markets that could not be
individually identified and separately recognized. Goodwill recognized as a result of this acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes.

Intangible assets with determinable lives
Customer relationships $ 5,200 
Developed technology 4,900 
Trademarks 4,700 
Total identified intangible assets as of October 7, 2021 $ 14,800 

Foreign currency translation adjustments (308)
Gross carrying amount as of December 31, 2021 $ 14,492 

Customer relationships represent the fair value of future projected revenue that will be derived from sales of products to existing customers
of Remix business. Customer relationships were valued using the multi-period excess earning method of the income approach. Developed
technology primarily consists of a client facing platform (i.e., website and mobile app) and supporting functions, all of which were internally
developed. Trademarks relates to the “Remix” trade name. Developed technology and trademarks were valued using the relief-from-royalty
method under the income approach. This method involves forecasting avoided royalties, reducing them by taxes and discounting the resulting
net cash flows to a present value using an appropriate discount rate that requires judgement by management.

The Company did not present pro forma and other financial information for the acquisition of Remix, as this is not considered to be a
material business combination.

6.    Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The goodwill is primarily attributable to the planned growth in the combined business after the acquisition of Remix. Goodwill is not
amortized to earnings, but instead is reviewed for impairment at least
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annually, absent any interim indicators of impairment. The carrying amount of goodwill was $12.2 million as of December 31, 2021.

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization of the intangible assets with determinable lives are as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2021

Intangible assets with determinable lives
Amortization Period

(years) Gross carrying amount
Accumulated
amortization Carrying amount, net

Customer relationships 8 $ 5,092 $ (150) $ 4,942 
Developed technology 3 4,798 (373) 4,425 
Trademarks 9 4,602 (115) 4,487 
Total $ 14,492 $ (638) $ 13,854 

Developed technology, customer relationships, and trademarks intangibles amortization is recorded within operations, product and
technology, sales general and administrative, and marketing expense lines, respectively, within the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The estimated future amortization of intangible assets with determinable lives as of December 31, 2021 are $2.7 million for 2022, $2.7
million for 2023, $2.4 million for 2024, $1.2 million for 2025, $1.2 million for 2026 and $3.7 million for thereafter.

7.    Balance Sheet Components

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020
Raw materials $ 908 $ — 
Work in progress 670 — 
Finished goods 8,247 3,519 

$ 9,825 $ 3,519 

Accrued and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020
Gift card and site credit liabilities $ 13,223 $ 9,362 
Accrued compensation 6,438 3,443 
Accrued vendor liabilities 6,031 3,407 
Deferred revenue 5,878 5,094 
Accrued taxes 5,728 4,594 
Allowance for returns 6,209 3,389 
Accrued other 1,746 3,252 

$ 45,253 $ 32,541 

8.    Lease Agreements

The Company leases certain office space and distribution centers with lease terms ranging from 20 to 146 months. These leases require
monthly lease payments that may be subject to annual increases throughout the lease term. Certain of these leases also include renewal
options at the election of the Company to renew or extend the lease for an additional 12 to 120 months. For certain leases, these
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optional periods have been considered in the determination of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities associated with these leases as the
Company has determined it is reasonably certain it will exercise the renewal options. The majority of the Company’s existing office space and
distribution center in Europe are short-term leases as of December 31, 2021. In December 2021, the Company entered into an agreement to
lease a new headquarter office and distribution center in Sophia, Bulgaria (the “Bulgaria Lease”). The Bulgaria Lease is expected to commence
in March 2022 with an original term of 10 years from the commencement date. The base rent is approximately €14.1 million or $15.9 million,
estimated at December 31, 2021 Euro to USD spot rate, in aggregate over the original term.

The following table summarizes maturities of the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 $ 7,931 
2023 7,808 
2024 6,930 
2025 6,061 
2026 5,706 
Thereafter 26,437 

Total lease payments 60,873 
Less: imputed interest (13,843)
Less: tenant improvement allowance yet to be received (6,102)

Total lease liabilities 40,928 
Less: current lease liabilities (3,931)

Total non-current lease liabilities $ 36,997 

Security deposits and letters of credits used to secure the leases were $0.8 million and $6.3 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2021
and $0.3 million and $3.1 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2020.

Operating lease cost was $7.0 million and $6.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Rent expense for
operating leases under ASC 840 was $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The following table summarizes the cost components
of the Company’s operating leases (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Operating Lease Cost
Fixed Cost $ 5,591 $ 5,568 
Short-Term Lease Cost 7 58 
Variable Lease Cost 1,381 1,197 

Total Operating Lease Cost $ 6,979 $ 6,823 

________________
(1) Under the terms of the lease agreements, the Company is also responsible for certain variable lease payments that are not included in the measurement of

the lease liability. Variable lease payments include non-lease components such as common area maintenance fees.
(2) The majority of lease costs are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations within Operations, product and technology and Sales, general and

administrative expense.

(1)

(2)
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Other information related to leases was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Supplemental Cash Flows Information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 5,401 $ 5,365 

The following table discloses the weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate for the period:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Operating Leases
Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 8.1 7.8
Weighted average discount rate 5.9 % 6.7 %

9.    Long-term Debt and Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

The Company entered into a loan and security agreement (“Term Loan”) with Western Alliance Bank (“Bank”) for an aggregate amount up
to $40.0 million to refinance its Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) in February 2019. The Term Loan was amended
three times before December 31, 2020.

In February 2021, the Company amended and restated the loan and security agreement with the Bank to reflect all waivers and
amendments to date. Subsequently, the Company borrowed an additional $5.0 million for an aggregate principal amount of $40.0 million. In
connection with the additional $5.0 million draw, the Company issued additional warrant shares for Series E-1 preferred stock in the amount of
15,979.

On May 14, 2021, the Company entered into the first amendment to the amended and restated loan and security Agreement (the “First
Amendment”) with the Bank. The First Amendment amended the agreement dated February 3, 2021, with the most notable change being a
decrease in interest rate. In accordance with the First Amendment, the interest rate on the Term Loan is the prime rate published in The Wall
Street Journal plus 1.5% with a floor of 5.5% per annum.

The Term Loan can be prepaid without penalty or premium at any time. The Term Loan contains certain covenants, which, if not met, allows
the Bank to call all outstanding borrowings plus accrued interest. The covenants include minimum cash and liquidity thresholds, quarterly
minimum net revenue and revenue growth thresholds, and a debt service requirement specified by the Term Loan. The Bank has secured the
loan through its first ranking lien on all corporate assets, with a negative pledge on intellectual property. The Company was in compliance with
all debt covenants as of December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, the nominal interest rate was 5.50% and the effective interest rate was 6.65%.

The maturities of the loan agreement as of December 31, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):
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Amount
2022 $ 8,000 
2023 8,000 
2024 20,000 
Thereafter — 

Total future principal 36,000 
Less: unamortized debt discount (673)
Less: current portion of long-term debt (7,768)

Non-current portion of long-term debt $ 27,559 

Warrants Issued with Loan and Security Agreement

The Company issued various preferred stock warrants under its loan and security agreements with SVB and the Bank. Immediately prior to
the conversion upon IPO and as of December 31, 2020, the following preferred stock warrant liabilities were outstanding.

Description Issuance Date Expiration Date Balance Sheet
Classification

Exercise Price
Per Share

Immediately Prior
to the

Completion of
IPO

December 31,
2020

Series D 1/22/2015 1/22/2025 Liability $ 2.2600 13,382 13,382 
Series D 4/20/2015 1/22/2025 Liability $ 2.2600 13,382 13,382 
Series E-1 2/7/2019 5/29/2030 Liability $ 6.2581 63,917 63,917 
Series F 5/29/2020 5/29/2030 Liability $ 6.8839 10,376 10,376 
Series E-1 8/14/2020 5/29/2030 Liability $ 6.2581 31,958 31,958 
Series E-1 11/25/2020 5/29/2030 Liability $ 6.2581 15,979 15,979 
Series E-1 2/8/2021 5/29/2030 Liability $ 6.2581 15,979 — 

164,973 148,994 

The convertible preferred stock warrant liability of $0.8 million was included in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet
as of December 31, 2020.

Immediately prior to the completion of IPO in March 2021, all 164,973 shares of the convertible preferred stock warrant were remeasured to
fair value and converted to equivalent number of Class B common stock warrants. The Company reclassified the convertible preferred stock
warrant liability to additional paid-in capital upon the conversion. Refer to Note 10, Common Stock and Common Stock Warrants for more
details on common stock warrants.

10.    Common Stock and Common Stock Warrants

Each share of Class A common stock is entitled to one vote per share. Each share of Class B common stock is entitled to ten votes per
share and is convertible at any time into one share of Class A common stock.

Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, 65,970,938 shares of the convertible preferred stock converted to an equivalent number of
shares of Class B common stock and 164,973 shares of the convertible preferred stock warrants were converted to an equivalent number of
Class B common stock warrants.

On August 2, 2021, the Company completed a follow‑on public offering of Class A common stock at a price of $24.25 per share. The
Company issued and sold 2,000,000 shares of Class A common stock. The aggregate net proceeds were $45.5 million after deducting $3.3
million of underwriting discounts and
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commissions and offering costs. The selling stockholders sold 5,388,024 shares of Class A common stock (including 963,655 shares that were
offered and sold pursuant to the full exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares), which were converted from Class B
common stock. The Company did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the Class A common stock by the selling stockholders.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued 128,643 shares of Class B common stock through cashless net exercises
of the entire 164,973 shares underlying Class B common stock warrants. No Class B common stock warrants were outstanding as of
December 31, 2021.

The table below summarizes the Class A common stock and Class B common stock issued and outstanding:

As of December 31, 2021
Authorized Issued and Outstanding

(in thousands)
Common stock Class A 1,000,000 57,779 
Common stock Class B 120,000 40,656 
Total common stock 1,120,000 98,435 

The Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance, on an as-converted basis, as follows:

As of December 31,
2021 2020

(in thousands)
Outstanding stock options 19,440 22,775 
Shares available for future grants 10,668 202 
Employee stock plan purchases 2,917 — 
Restricted stock units outstanding 1,271 — 
Delayed share issuance related to acquisition 131 — 
Convertible preferred stock — 65,971 
Outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants — 149 

Total 34,427 89,097 

11.    Stock-Based Compensation Plans

2010 Stock Incentive Plan

In 2010, the Company adopted the Second Amended and Restated 2010 Stock Plan (“2010 Plan”), and amended the 2010 Plan in 2011.
The 2010 Plan provides for the grant of stock awards to employees, consultants and directors of the Company. Options granted under the 2010
Plan may either be Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) or Nonstatutory Stock Options (“NSOs”). ISOs may be granted to Company employees
only, while stock awards other than ISOs may be granted to employees, directors and consultants. In 2020, the board of directors authorized an
additional 6.5 million shares for the 2010 Plan. In 2021, the board of directors authorized an additional 1.0 million shares for the 2010 Plan.

Stock awards under the 2010 Plan may be granted with terms of up to 10 years and at prices determined by the board of directors,
provided, however, that (i) the exercise price of an ISO or NSO shall not be less than 100% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date
of the grant, and (ii) the exercise price of an ISO granted to a 10% or more stockholder shall not be less than 110% of the
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estimated fair value of the shares on the grant date. The options generally vest over a four-year period. For certain options, vesting accelerates
upon the occurrence of specified events, such as a change of control.

IPO Options Under the 2010 Plan

In August 2020, the Company’s board of directors approved stock options for 3,588,535 common shares to be granted to certain officers
and employees with an exercise price of $2.05 per share. 50% of the options granted vest over a four-year period commencing on the effective
date of the IPO. The remaining 50% of the options granted vest over a four-year period commencing on the one-year anniversary of the IPO. As
these stock options vest upon the satisfaction of both a time-based condition and a performance condition, the fair value of these stock options
of $6.7 million, in aggregate, will be recognized as compensation expense over the requisite service period using the accelerated attribution
method. In the year ended on December 31, 2021, $3.2 million was recognized as compensation expense from stock options subject to these
performance conditions.

2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan

In February 2021, in connection with the IPO, the Company’s board of directors adopted the 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (“2021
Plan”) to replace the 2010 Plan, which was subsequently approved by the Company’s stockholders in March 2021. The 2021 Plan became
effective on March 24, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, no stock options were granted under the 2021 Plan. As of December 31, 2021, 1,436,451 restricted stock units
were granted under the 2021 Plan.

Stock option activity under the 2010 Plan, as amended is as follows:

Options
Available
for Grant

(in thousands)

Number of Options
Outstanding

(in thousands)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per

Share

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (in thousands)

Balances at December 31, 2020 202 22,775 $ 1.81 7.36 $ 107,696 
Options authorized 1,000 — 
Options granted (924) 924 $ 6.54 
Options exercised — (3,480) $ 1.51 
Options forfeited and expired 172 (779) $ 2.57 
Transferred to 2021 Plan (450) — 

Balances at December 31, 2021 — 19,440 $ 2.06 6.29 $ 208,042 
Options outstanding and exercisable – December 31, 2021 11,434 $ 1.81 5.27 $ 125,242 

The aggregated intrinsic value represents the difference between the exercise price and the fair value of common stock. The aggregate
intrinsic value of all options exercised was $53.8 million, $2.9 million and $0.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $6.66, $1.72 and $1.38 during the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Company records stock-based awards at fair value as of the grant date, using the Black Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of
stock options granted were estimated using the following range of assumptions:
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Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Expected term (in years) 5.00 - 10.00 5.00-10.00 5.55 – 6.25
Expected volatility 59.4%-61.8% 46.9%-54.9% 45.5% – 47.8%
Average risk-free rate 0.44%-1.10% 0.28%-1.55% 1.52% – 2.44%
Dividend yield — — —

________________
(1) Assumptions include non-employee options after adoption of ASU 2018-07 as of January 1, 2020.

Each of these inputs is subjective and generally requires significant judgment.

Fair Value of Common Stock —Historically, for all periods prior to the IPO in March 2021, the fair value of the shares of common stock has
historically been determined by the Company’s board of directors as there was no public market for the common stock. The board of
directors determines the fair value of our common stock by considering a number of objective and subjective factors, including: the
valuation of comparable companies, sales of preferred stock to unrelated third parties, our operating and financial performance, the lack of
liquidity of common stock and general and industry specific economic outlook, amongst other factors. After the completion of the IPO in
March 2021, the fair value of each share of underlying common stock is based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock as
reported on the date of grant on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

Expected Term —The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock options are expected to be outstanding and is
determined using the simplified method (based on the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term) as the
Company has concluded that its stock option exercise history does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term.

Volatility — Because the Company does not have sufficient trading history for its common stock, the expected volatility was estimated
based on the average volatility for comparable publicly-traded companies, over a period equal to the expected term of the stock option
grants.

Risk-free Rate —The risk-free rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues in effect at the time of grant for periods
corresponding with the expected term of the option.

Dividends —The Company has never paid dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate paying dividends on common stock.
Therefore, the Company uses an expected dividend yield of zero.

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In February 2021, the Company’s board of directors adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), which was subsequently
approved by the stockholders in March 2021. The ESPP became effective on March 24, 2021. The first offering period began on March 25,
2021, and there was $0.5 million in stock-based compensation related to the ESPP for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The Company used the following assumptions to estimate the fair value of stock offered under the ESPP for the years ended December 31,
2021:

(1) (1)
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Year Ended December 31,
2021

Expected term (in years) 0.50 - 0.68
Expected volatility 60.65% - 71.25%
Average risk-free rate 0.05% - 0.10%
Dividend yield —
Weighted average fair value of purchase rights $5.28

Restricted Stock Units

The Company issues service-based and performance-based RSUs to employees. The RSUs automatically convert to shares of the
Company’s common stock on a one-for-one basis as the awards vest. RSUs granted to newly hired employees typically vest 25% annually over
4 years commencing on the date of grant. The RSUs are measured at grant date fair value, at the market price of the Company’s common stock
on the grant date. The Company records stock-based compensation expense related to the RSUs ratably over the employee respective
requisite service period.

The following table summarizes RSUs excluding RSUs with performance-based vesting conditions (“PSUs”) activity under the 2021 Plan:

Shares
(in thousands)

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair Value

Weighted-
Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 — $ — 
Granted 1,405 $ 18.92 
Vested (84) $ 20.21 
Forfeited and cancelled (81) $ 19.83 

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 1,240 1.77 $ 15,813 

Stock-based Compensation

Total stock-based compensation expense by department is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Operations, product and technology $ 4,241 $ 3,739 $ 3,877 
Marketing 1,405 1,067 1,018 
Sales, general and administrative 7,313 2,530 2,783 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 12,959 $ 7,336 $ 7,678 

Stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of internal-use software was $0.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.
No such costs were capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

As of December 31, 2021, there was $11.9 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to outstanding stock options,
which will be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.85 years.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $21.3 million unrecognized stock-based compensation related to RSUs excluding PSUs,
which will be recognized over the weighted average remaining requisite
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service period of 3.37 years. The total fair value of RSUs excluding PSUs that vested for the years ended 2021 and 2020 was $1.7 million and
zero, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, there was $0.3 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation on ESPP, which will be recognized over
a weighted average period of 0.4 years.

12.    Commitments and Contingencies

Noncancellable Purchase Commitments

As of December 31, 2021, the Company has non-cancelable contractual commitments of $17.0 million for software, construction and other
services in the ordinary course of business with varying expiration terms through 2025. As of December 31, 2021, the future minimum
payments under these arrangements were as follows (in thousands):

Purchase
Commitments

2022 $ 11,902 
2023 3,134 
2024 1,026 
2025 939 
2026 — 
Thereafter — 
Total future minimum payments $ 17,001 

Legal Contingencies

The Company is subject to litigation claims and assessments from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company’s
management does not believe that any such matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and
warranties and provide for general indemnification. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves claims
that may be made against the Company in the future, but that have not yet been made.

13.    Retirement Plan

In 2010, the Company sponsored a defined-contribution savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “401(k)
Plan”). The 401(k) Plan covers all United States employees who meet defined minimum age and service requirements and allows participants
to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pretax basis. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, no employer
contributions were made to the 401(k) Plan.

14.    Income Taxes

The Company had no federal or foreign provision for income taxes as the Company has incurred operating losses since inception. The
Company has U.S. pre-tax book loss of $61.9 million and foreign pre-tax book loss of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The
Company’s state tax
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provision, which was current, was $80,000 and $56,000 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company’s effective tax rate, as a percentage of pretax income, differs from the statutory federal rate primarily due to the valuation
allowance that the Company records on its deferred tax assets as management believes it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets
will not be fully realized.

The reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax provision for the Company’s effective income tax provision (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Tax at federal statutory rate $ (13,250) $ (10,042)
State taxes, net of federal effect 63 42 
Non-deductible expenses 156 67 
Foreign tax rate differential 259 — 
Stock based compensation (3,086) 1,077 
Change in valuation allowance 15,712 8,814 
Other 226 98 

Provision for income taxes $ 80 $ 56 

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of (in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020

Deferred tax assets:
Accruals and reserves $ 2,043 $ 2,472 
Inventory and deferred revenue 770 690 
Stock compensation 2,128 1,151 
Other 1,417 670 
Net operating loss carryforwards 75,804 53,550 

Gross deferred tax assets 82,162 58,533 
Less: valuation allowance (75,348) (56,581)

Total deferred tax assets 6,814 1,952 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Fixed assets (4,876) (1,952)
Intangibles (1,938) — 

Gross deferred tax liabilities (6,814) (1,952)
Net deferred tax assets $ — $ — 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of (a) temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, and (b) operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Net deferred
tax assets consist primarily of net operating losses of approximately $75.8 million as of December 31, 2021 and $53.6 million as of 2020 related
to U.S. federal and state taxes. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The Company has established a valuation allowance to offset deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 due to the uncertainty of
realizing future benefits from its net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance
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increased by approximately $18.8 million and $10.5 million in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Federal and state, and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $297.7 million, $203.2 million and $12.0 million,
respectively, for income tax purposes are available to offset future taxable income as of December 31, 2021. $189.4 million of the U.S. federal
net operating losses can be carried forward indefinitely and are available to offset 80% of future taxable income. If not used, these
carryforwards will begin to expire in varying amounts beginning in 2030.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 and similar California legislation impose substantial restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses and
tax credit carryforwards in the event that there is a change in ownership as provided by Section 382 and Section 383 of the Internal Revenue
Code and similar state provisions. Such a limitation could result in the limitation and/or expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards and tax
credits before utilization, which could result in increased future tax liabilities when the Company becomes taxable for federal or state purposes.
While the Company has experienced an ownership change since its inception, an immaterial amount of net operating losses or tax credits has
been limited as of December 31, 2021.

The Company has no uncertain tax positions, and the Company’s policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income
tax matters as a component of income tax expense. There was no accrued interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The Company’s tax years 2010 through current will remain open for examination by the federal and state authorities for three and
four years, respectively, from the date of utilization of any net operating loss credits. The Company is not currently under examination by income
tax authorities in federal, state or other jurisdictions.

15.    Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following participating securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
for the periods presented, because including them would have been anti-dilutive (on an as-converted basis):

As of December 31,
2021 2020 2019

(in thousands)
Outstanding stock options 19,440 22,775 17,985 
Restricted stock units 1,271 — — 
Delayed share issuance related to acquisition 130 — — 
Employee stock purchase plan 17 — — 
Convertible preferred stock — 65,971 65,928 
Outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants — 149 171 
Total 20,858 88,895 84,084 
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

General

The following description summarizes the most important terms of the common stock of ThredUp Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us”)
and certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws currently in effect. This
summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified by reference to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and
restated bylaws, each of which have been previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and are incorporated by
reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.2 is a part, as well as to the applicable provisions of Delaware
law.

Our authorized capital stock consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 120,000,000 shares
of Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and 100,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share.

Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock

We have two classes of authorized common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Only our Class A common stock is
registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and trades on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”)
under the ticker symbol “TDUP.”

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are entitled
to receive dividends out of funds legally available if our board of directors, in its discretion, determines to issue dividends and then only at the
times and in the amounts that our board of directors may determine.

Voting Rights

Holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share and holders of our Class B common stock are entitled to ten
votes per share, on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. The holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock
generally vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, unless otherwise required by Delaware law or
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Delaware law could require either holders of our Class A common stock or Class B
common stock to vote separately as a single class in the following circumstances:

• if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to increase or decrease the par value of a class of
our capital stock, then that class would be required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment; and

• if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation in a manner that alters or changes the powers,
preferences or special rights of a class of our capital stock in a manner that affected its holders adversely, then that class would be
required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting for the election of directors. Our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
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bylaws established a classified board of directors that is divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. Only the directors in one
class are subject to election by a plurality of the votes cast at each annual meeting of our stockholders, with the directors in the other classes
continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms.

Conversion

Each outstanding share of Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of Class A common
stock. In addition, each share of Class B common stock will convert automatically into one share of Class A common stock upon (i) any transfer,
whether or not for value, except for certain permitted transfers described in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, including
transfers to family members, trusts solely for the benefit of the stockholder or their family members, and partnerships, corporations and other
entities exclusively owned by the stockholder or their family members or (ii), in the case of a stockholder who is a natural person, the death or
incapacity of such stockholder. Once converted into Class A common stock, the Class B common stock will not be reissued.

In the event that our co-founder James Reinhart is terminated or resigns from his position as Chief Executive Officer (the “Founder
Departure”), each share of Class B common stock held of record by Mr. Reinhart, or by his permitted transferees, shall automatically, without
any further action, convert into one share of Class A common stock the day following the Founder Departure.

All outstanding shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock will convert automatically into shares of a single class of
common stock on the earlier of the date that is March 30, 2028 or the date the holders of at least 66-2/3% of our Class B common stock elect to
convert the Class B common stock to Class A common stock. The purpose of this provision is to ensure that following such conversion, each
share of common stock will have one vote per share and the rights of the holders of all outstanding common stock will be identical. Once
converted into a single class of common stock, the Class A common stock and Class B common stock may not be reissued. This ownership will
limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents,
and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transactions requiring stockholder approval,
and that may depress the trading price of our Class A common stock.

No Preemptive or Similar Rights

Our Class A common stock and Class B common stock are not entitled to preemptive rights and are not subject to conversion (except as
noted above), redemption or sinking fund provisions.

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

If we become subject to a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be
distributable ratably among the holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock and any participating preferred stock
outstanding at that time, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of and the payment of
liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock.
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Fully Paid and Non-Assessable

All of the outstanding shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock are fully paid and non-assessable.

Preferred Stock – Limitations on Rights of Holders of Common Stock

Our board of directors is authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issue preferred stock in one or more series, to
establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each series and to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the
shares of each series and any of its qualifications, limitations or restrictions, in each case without further vote or action by our stockholders. Our
board of directors can also increase or decrease the number of shares of any series of preferred stock, but not below the number of shares of
that series then outstanding, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of
preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of our common stock.
The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among
other things, have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company and might adversely affect the market price
of our Class A common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock.

Registration Rights

Certain holders of our common stock are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act. These
registration rights are contained in the investors’ rights agreement. We, along with certain holders of our common stock, are parties to the
investors’ rights agreement. The registration rights set forth in the investors’ rights agreement will expire on March 30, 2026 or, with respect to
any particular stockholder, when such stockholder is able to sell all of its shares pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act. We will pay the
registration expenses (other than underwriting discounts, selling commissions and stock transfer taxes) of the holders of the shares registered
pursuant to the registrations described below, including the reasonable fees of one counsel for the selling holders. In an underwritten offering,
the underwriters have the right, subject to specified conditions, to limit the number of shares such holders may include.

Demand Registration Rights on Form S-1

Certain holders of our common stock are entitled to certain demand registration rights. At any time beginning on September 22, 2021, the
holders of at least 30% of these shares then outstanding may request that we register the offer and sale of their shares on a registration
statement on Form S-1. We are obligated to effect only two such registrations. If we determine that it would be seriously detrimental to our
stockholders to effect such a demand registration, we have the right to defer such registration, not more than twice in any twelve-month period,
for a period of not more than 120 days. Additionally, we will not be required to effect a demand registration during the period beginning 90 days
prior to our good faith estimate of the date of the filing of and ending on a date 180 days after the effectiveness of a registration statement
relating to our common stock.

Demand Registration Rights on Form S-3

Certain holders of our common stock are entitled to certain Form S-3 registration rights. The holders of at least 10% of these shares then
outstanding may request that we register the offer and sale of their
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shares on a registration statement on Form S-3 if we are eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3 so long as the request covers at
least that number of shares with an anticipated aggregate offering price of at least $1.0 million. These stockholders may make an unlimited
number of requests for registration on Form S-3; however, we will not be required to effect a registration on Form S-3 if we have effected two
such registrations within the 12-month period preceding the date of the request. Additionally, if we determine that it would be seriously
detrimental to our stockholders to effect such a registration, we have the right to defer such registration, not more than twice in any twelve-
month period, for a period of not more than 120 days. Additionally, we will not be required to effect a demand registration during the period
beginning 60 days prior to our good faith estimate of the date of the filing of and ending on a date 180 days after the effectiveness of a
registration statement relating to our common stock.

Piggyback Registration Rights

If we propose to register the offer and sale of our common stock under the Securities Act, in connection with the public offering of such
common stock, certain holders of our common stock will be entitled to certain “piggyback” registration rights allowing the holders to include their
shares in such registration, subject to certain marketing and other limitations. As a result, whenever we propose to file a registration statement
under the Securities Act, other than with respect to (1) a registration relating to the sale of securities to our employees or a subsidiary pursuant
to a stock option, stock purchase or similar plan, (2) a registration relating to a transaction under Rule 145 of the Securities Act, (3) a
registration on any form that does not include substantially the same information as would be required to be included in a registration statement
covering the public offering of our common stock or (4) a registration in which the only common stock being registered is common stock
issuable upon the conversion of debt securities that are also being registered, the holders of these shares are entitled to notice of the
registration and have the right, subject to certain limitations, to include their shares in the registration.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

The provisions of Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, which are
summarized below, may have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging another person from acquiring control of our company. They are
also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with our board of directors. We believe that the
benefits of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of
discouraging a proposal to acquire us because negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Delaware Law

We are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a public
Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the
transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. A
“business combination” includes mergers, asset sales or other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the stockholder. An “interested
stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation’s
outstanding voting stock. These provisions may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in our control.
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Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaw Provisions

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws include a number of provisions that could
deter hostile takeovers or delay or prevent changes in control of our board of directors or management team, including the following:

• Dual-Class Stock.  As described above, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for a dual-class common stock
structure, which provides our founders, certain investors, executives and employees with significant influence over all matters requiring
stockholder approval, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our
company or our assets.

• Board of Directors Vacancies.  Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws authorize only
our board of directors to fill vacant directorships, including newly created seats. In addition, the number of directors constituting our
board of directors is permitted to be set only by a resolution adopted by a majority vote of our entire board of directors. These
provisions prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of our board of directors and then gaining control of our board of directors by
filling the resulting vacancies with its own nominees. These provisions make it more difficult to change the composition of our board of
directors and promote continuity of management.

• Classified Board.  Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that our board of
directors is classified into three classes of directors. A third party may be discouraged from making a tender offer or otherwise
attempting to obtain control of us as it is more difficult and time consuming for stockholders to replace a majority of the directors on a
classified board of directors.

• Stockholder Action; Special Meeting of Stockholders.  Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our
stockholders may not take action by written consent, but may only take action at annual or special meetings of our stockholders. As a
result, a holder controlling a majority of our capital stock is not able to amend our amended and restated bylaws or remove directors
without holding a meeting of our stockholders called in accordance with our amended and restated bylaws. Our amended and restated
bylaws further provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by a majority of our board of directors, the
Chairperson of our board of directors, our President or our Chief Executive Officer, thus prohibiting a stockholder from calling a special
meeting. These provisions might delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or for stockholders controlling
a majority of our capital stock to take any action, including the removal of directors.

• Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations.  Our amended and restated bylaws provide
advance notice procedures for stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate
candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. Our amended and restated bylaws also specify certain
requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. These provisions might preclude our stockholders from bringing
matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or from making nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders if the
proper procedures are not followed. We expect that these provisions may also discourage or
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deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting
to obtain control of our company.

• No Cumulative Voting.  The Delaware General Corporation Law provides that stockholders are not entitled to cumulate votes in the
election of directors unless a corporation’s certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

• Directors Removed Only for Cause.  Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that stockholders may remove
directors only for cause.

• Amendment of Charter Provisions.  Any amendment of the above provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
requires approval by holders of at least two-thirds of our then outstanding common stock.

• Issuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock.  Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue
up to 100,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with rights and preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to
time by our board of directors. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock enables our board of directors to
render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or other
means.

• Exclusive Forum.  Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum,
the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any state law claims for (1) any derivative
action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors,
officers and employees to us or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation
Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws or (4) any action asserting a claim that
is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided, however, that the Delaware Forum Provision shall not apply to any causes of
action arising under the Securities Act or Exchange Act. In addition, our amended and restated bylaws will provide that, unless we
consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States shall be the sole and exclusive
forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Any person or entity purchasing or
otherwise acquiring any interest in our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to this provision. These forum
provisions may impose additional costs on stockholders, may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in a forum they find
favorable, and the designated courts may reach different judgments or results than other courts. In addition, there is uncertainty as to
whether the federal forum provision for Securities Act claims will be enforced, which may impose additional costs on us and our
stockholders.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class A common stock and Class B common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A. The
transfer agent’s address is 250 Royal Street, Canton, MA 02021.
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Listing

Our Class A common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “TDUP.”
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July 1, 2010

Mr. Christopher Homer
672 Tremont Street
Boston, MA 02118

Dear Chris,

Thank you for taking the time to work with us as we detailed the specifics of the role of Chief Sales Engineer & CTO at thredUP. We are pleased to extend you an offer for this
position of starting immediately in our Cambridge Office. Your compensation will be $60,000 per year and will be paid monthly on the last day of the month. As part of your
compensation your are entitled to health benefits, which we will determine in advance of your first day.

We look forward to having you work at thredUP as we build the next great consumer brand on the Internet. Should you have any questions or wish to discuss the offer further,
please don't hesitate to contact me. In the meantime, I hope we can continue the dialogue about specific duties and responsibilities of this position.

I look forward to seeing you soon.

Sincerely,

/s/ James Reinhart

James Reinhart
Chief Executive Officer
thredUP Inc.

2 Canal Park
5  Floor
Cambridge, MA 02141

www.thredup.com
(617) 575-9676th



SECOND AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of December 3, 2021, by
and among WESTERN ALLIANCE BANK, an Arizona corporation (“Bank”) and ThredUp Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), ThredUp CF LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“ThredUP CF”), ThredUp Intermediary Holdings LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“Holdings”), and
Knitwit GC LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“Knitwit”, and together with Parent, ThredUP CF and Holdings, each a “Borrower” and collectively,
the “Borrowers”).

RECITALS

Borrowers and Bank are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of February 3, 2021, (as amended from
time to time, including by that certain First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of May 14, 2021, collectively, the
“Agreement”). The parties desire to amend the Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

1. The following defined term and its definition in Section 1.1 of the Agreement hereby is amended and restated as follows:

“RML” means the number of months obtained by dividing (a) the aggregate amount of Borrowers’ unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents (i) held at Bank plus (ii) beginning on September 29, 2021 and at all times thereafter, held in accounts outside of Bank that are
subject to an account control agreement in favor of Bank as the senior secured party, by (b) Borrowers’ monthly trailing three (3) month
average EBDA.

2. No course of dealing on the part of Bank or its officers, nor any failure or delay in the exercise of any right by Bank, shall operate as a
waiver thereof, and any single or partial exercise of any such right shall not preclude any later exercise of any such right. Bank’s failure at any time to require
strict performance by any Borrower of any provision shall not affect any right of Bank thereafter to demand strict compliance and performance. Any
suspension or waiver of a right must be in writing signed by an officer of Bank.

3. Unless otherwise defined, all initially capitalized terms in this Amendment shall be as defined in the Agreement. The Agreement, as
amended hereby, shall be and remain in full force and effect in accordance with its respective terms and hereby is ratified and confirmed in all respects. Except
as expressly set forth herein, the execution, delivery, and performance of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of, or as an amendment of, any right,
power, or remedy of Bank under the Agreement, as in effect prior to the date hereof.

4. Each Borrower represents and warrants that the Representations and Warranties contained in the Agreement are true and correct as of the
date of this Amendment, and that no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

5. As a condition to the effectiveness of this Amendment, Bank shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Bank, the following:

(i) this Amendment, duly executed by each Borrower;

(ii) all reasonable Bank Expenses invoiced through the date of this Amendment, which may be debited from any of
Borrower’s accounts; and

(iii) such other documents, and completion of such other matters, as Bank may reasonably deem necessary or appropriate.

6. This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one instrument

[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment as of the first date above written.

ThredUp Inc., a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Sean Sobers    
Name: Sean Sobers    
Title: Chief Financial Officer    

ThredUp CF LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Sean Sobers    
Name: Sean Sobers    
Title: Manager    

ThredUp Intermediary Holdings LLC, a Virginia limited liability
company

By: /s/ Sean Sobers    
Name: Sean Sobers    
Title: Treasurer    

Knitwit GC LLC, a Virginia limited liability company

By: /s/ Sean Sobers    
Name: Sean Sobers    
Title: Treasurer    

Western Alliance Bank, an Arizona corporation

By: /s/ Shirish Sharma    
Name: Shirish Sharma    
Title: Vice President    

[Signature Page to Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement]
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List of Subsidiaries of ThredUp Inc.

ThredUp Intermediary Holdings LLC (Virginia)

Knitwit GC LLC (Virginia)

ThredUp CF LLC (Delaware)

thredUP Circular Fashion Fund Inc. (Delaware)

Remix Global EAD (Bulgaria)



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-256038 and 333-254783) on Form S-8 of our report dated March 21,
2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of ThredUp Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 21, 2022



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James Reinhart, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ThredUp Inc. ("registrant");

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 21, 2022   
  /s/ James Reinhart

  James Reinhart
  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sean Sobers, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ThredUp Inc. ("registrant");

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 21, 2022   
  /s/ Sean Sobers

  Sean Sobers
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James Reinhart, Chief Executive Officer of ThredUp Inc. (Company), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

• the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (Report) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

• the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 21, 2022   
  /s/ James Reinhart

  James Reinhart
  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sean Sobers, Chief Financial Officer of ThredUp Inc. (Company), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

• the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (Report) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

• the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 21, 2022   
  /s/ Sean Sobers

  Sean Sobers
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)


